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2022 HIGHLIGHTS

Financial highlights

Loss before tax

£(208)m

2021 £(1,036)m

Revenue

£5.8bn

2021 £1.5bn

Headline EBIT

£3m

2021 (£1,036)m

Headline loss before tax

£(178)m

2021 £(1,136)m

Net debt

£670m

2021 £910m

Headline EBITDAR margin

9.9%

2021 (37.8)%

Non-financial highlights

Load factor

85.5%

2021: 72.5%

OTP (On-time
Performance)

72%

2021: 87%

Seats flown

81.5m

2021 28.2m

CO, emissions per
passenger kilometre

70.4g

2021: 811g

NAVIGATINGITHISIRERORT]

Look for the following icons:

Signposts to extra content that can enhance your understanding of
the information provided in this report can be found throughout.

Links to resources on the easyJet corporate website
] "
=¥ https://corporate.easyjet.com

i@r References to pages within the report




COMPETING THROUGH
BUSINESS TRANSFORMATION

MAKING LOW-COST TRAVEL EASY

DELIVERING
GREATER
PROFITABILITY

STRONG
FINANCIAL
POSITION

EXCELLENCE

SUSTAINABLE -
FUTURE FOR

Profitable reallocation

of aircraft ¥

Increased share in constrained
airports with additional slots
at Gatwick, Porto and Lisbon.
More capacity for the

Greek islands.

Cost seasonality addressed
A proportion of captains are
on seasonal contracts.
Seasonal bases: 21 aircraft

operating ‘for enght months of
"the year.

£0.7 billion net debt

Our net debt has remained
at a low level throughout
the current financial year,
We have one of the lowest
net debt positions of any
major European airtine.

Driving customer confidence
easy.Jet remained number
one most preferred brand

in the UK this summer,

Publication of net zero
roadmap to 2050 with an
interim science-based target
of 35% carbon emissions

“intensity reduction by 2035,

an integral part.of :

our net zero roadmap

« Step-changing ancillaries
Airline ancillary revenue
increased 274% in the year,
with a greater focus on the
new cabin bag policy and seat
pricing capability plus a
change to the in-flight
retail proposition.

Insourced line maintenance
Line maintenance insourced
at London Gatwick, Berlin,
Glasgow, Edinburgh and
Bristol ~ lower cost
"and better quality.

£3.5 billian cash

Our cash balance has stayed
stable at £3.5 billion even after
repayment of £0.4 billion of
debt. This underpins our
excellent liquidity position and
the strength of our balance
sheet as we enter FY23.

Customer preference

76% of our seats are booked
by returning customers.

High brand preference in our
European core markets, being
the number two brand in
France Switzerland and ltaly

Driving operational
efficiencies through our fleet
renewal programme with a
further 168 new Airbus NEO
aircraft joining the fleet this
decade, as well as numerous
other initiatives, including
Descent Profile Optimisation,

- SHAREHOLDER
' RETURNS

engine washing.

: We will continue’ ‘to:be relentlessly efficient, focusing on

competlng where it provides the highest returns and only
investing where it matters most to our customers. This wil
also dellver the best sustamable returns for our shareholders.

INVESTMENT CASE

» easyJet holidays

With 1.1 million customers,

the UK's fastest-growing
holiday company. Delivered
incremental revenue of

£368 million to the Group and
£38 million of operating profit.

Fuel and FX hedging
Strong and consistent
hedaging policy on both
FX and fuel.

Cash generation from
operations

We generated £0.9 billion
of cash from our operations
over FY22.

This enabled us to repay
£0.4 billion of debt during
the year.

Employer of choice

Highest rating employer in the
travel and tourism industry

on Glassdoor. We have received
>18,000 applications for our
summer 2023 recruitment drive
for 2,200 roles.

Sustainable Aviation

Fuel (SAF)

We will use SAF in line with
our net zero roadmap, untit
our fleet has transitioned to
zero carbon emission aircraft.

single-enging taxiing-and - - -

easyJet.com




CHAIRMAN'S LETTER

BUILDING EUROPE'S
MOST LOVED AIRLINE

Stephen Hester
Chairman

Demand has been
strong for easyJet’s
primary airport network
following the removal of
travel restrictions. This
summer saw load
factors return to above
90% for the first time
since the pandemic
resulted in the fleet
being grounded in

April 2020.

1

When | joined the Board last year, | was convinced
that easyJet could be a structural winner in the
evolving European airline industry, serving
customers well and delivering attractive shareholder
value. Having met with employees across the
business and our investors, and worked closely with
management and my Board colleagues over the
past year, | remain of that view.”

The year was one of substantial
accomplishment for easyJet in unusually
demanding circumstances. The first half
was burdened by continued Covid-19
impact on the whole sector, followed by
inflationary headwinds from Russia’s
invasion of Ukraine. In common with many
other global industries, the wider air
transport ecosystem also suffered
significant operational ‘growing pain’ from
an unprecedented ramp-up of travel
volumes once travel restrictions had lifted.

Caps at two of our main hubs, London
Gatwick and Amsterdam Schiphol, coupled
with actions easyJet implemented, led to
the fourth quarter returning to more
normal operational stability. Summer
demand was strong for easyJet's primary
airport network and saw load factors return
to above 90% for the first time since the
pandemic began. This period of restriction-
free travel saw easyJet deliver a record
headline EBITDAR performance, as ancillary
revenue and easyJet holidays
supplemented rising ticket revenues and
demonstrated the ability to generate
enhanced returns for our business.

In addition to intense operational focus
during the year, easyJet prioritised
emerging financially and strategically
stronger from the challenges of Covid-19.
The strengthening of our balance sheet
from the rights issue a year ago proved its
worth — both avoiding defensive pressures
as Covid-19 extended its impact in winter,
whilst supporting valuable slot expansion
during the year in Gatwick and Lisbon,
successful route mix enhancement and
then the decision to continue fleet renewal
with the exercise of Airbus options over the
summer.

Results

The year was truly one of two halves — a
first half with defensive focus on minimising
cash burn in the face of pandemic travel
restrictions, followed by a second half
dedicated to supporting a dramatic volume
ramp-up and a gratifying return to
profitability. This showcased the work done
during the pandemic to enhance route
network and revenue sources and to
protect cost-efficiency.

Revenue for the full year increased 296% to
£5,769 million (2021: £1,458 million).
easyJet was able to achieve a £1.1 billion
improvement in EBITDAR from the prior
year despite headwinds. And while the
Group reported a headline loss before

tax of £178 million, this was an
improvement of £958 million versus the
prior year. Pre-tax profit for the fourth
quarter was £477 million.

Dividends

Given a reported loss, the Board will not be
recommending payment of a dividend in
respect of the year to 30 September 2022.
The Board is mindful of the importance of
capital returns to shareholders and will
reassess the potential for, and structure of,
future shareholder cash returns when the
financial performance of the Group allows.

Balance sheet

Financial strength is an important attribute
in this industry, especially in challenging
times. As at 30 September 2022, easyJet
had unrestricted access to £4.7 billion of
liquidity, an increase of £0.3 billion during
the year, despite repaying £377 million of
debt and the purchase of eight aircraft.
easyJet finished the year with a net debt
balance of £0.7 billion.

2  easyJet plc Annual Report and Accounts 2022



STRATEGIC REPORT

This strength, reflected in the investment
grade credit ratings we hold, positions
easyJet to be able to move away from
the pandemic with a continued focus

on shareholder return but also the base
to deal with those challenges and
opportunities that the current macro-
economic environment may present.

Our Board

There have been a number of changes
to our Board during the year. Nick Leeder
stepped down from the Board on 30
September 2022, following his relocation
to Singapore. Andreas Bierwirth and Julie
Southern, having served nine and four
years respectively, will not seek reelection
at the Company’s next AGM. | am very
grateful to all three for their significant
contributions to the Board.

Following a thorough search led by the
Nominations Committee for three new
Non-Executive Directors, Ryanne van der Eik,
Harald Eisendcher and Or Detlef Trefzger
were appointed to the Board with effect
from 1 September 2022. We are delighted to
welcome them and anticipate their mix of
experience will add positively to our work.

? Further details of these changes
are included in the Governance
report on page 91.

Our people

| am grateful to our employees,
management and my Board colleagues
for their continued dedication and
commitment to delivering easyJet's
purpose to all stakeholders. It is not an
exaggeration to note that the last few
years have brought unprecedented stress
and difficulty to managing an airline. Our
management team, led ably by Johan
Lundgren, has coped well and deserves
particular thanks and appreciation.

Stakeholders

There has been a constant dialogue with our
stakeholder groups throughout the year, and
on behalf of the Board, | would like to take
this opportunity to thank them for their
partnership. At the front of our minds remain
our customers and shareholders. Both have
suffered in different ways from the
challenges of Covid-19.

We take very seriously the task of serving
customers well. We were not satisfied with
how well we did in Q3 in this regard, as we
and the wider industry struggled to cope with
the fast ramping-up of travel volumes.

66

During the year, easyJet has set out plans for the next
phase of our journey towards our ultimate ambition of
zero carbon emission flying.”

Happily we made changes that have righted
the situation. | apologise to those customers
affected by flight cancellations in particular.
We will remain intensely focused on providing
good customer experience in all those areas
under our control.

Shareholders across the whole industry
have suffered during the pandemic. It is
gratifying to see results bouncing back but
there remains much more to do to produce
the higher performance levels that easyJet
is capable of as economic recovery
progresses. We are determined to show
that easyJet can be a leading airline for
shareholders, as for customers.

Sustainability

The airline industry as a whole has

a particular responsibility to respond
effectively to the climate-based challenges
facing the world. It was therefore both
gratifying and important that easyJet could
continue to play a positive role as a leader
in mapping out the transition towards our
ultimate ambition of zero carbon emission
flying. This was set out through our net
zero roadmap launch. Alongside this we
have partnered with Rolls-Royce, pioneering

hydrogen combustion engine technology,
and Airbus, to support the development of
carbon removal technology.

{&)
The future

easyJet's unique network, continued focus
on capital allocation and the enhanced
contribution that ancillaries and easyJet
holidays will provide, should put this
business in a position to deliver attractive
shareholder value. | am pleased that proof
points supporting this are now increasingly
evident, with the holidays business '
generating £38 million of profit before tax
and the optimised network proving its
worth in the fourth quarter.

Read more on our approach to
sustainability on pages 30 to 42.

| am convinced that easyJet can be a winner
in the evolving European airline industry and
am committed to working with the Board,
management and wider employees to deliver
on this for all our stakeholders.

o

Stephen Hester
Chairman

easyJet.com 3



OUR PURPOSE
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Always with safety Always Making a positive
at our heart challenging cost difference

s Always warm and Living the
welcoming Orange Spirit
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BUILDING EUROPE'S BEST NETWORK

TRANSFORMING REVENU

STRATEGIC REPORT

DESTINATION
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DELIVERING EASE AND RELIABILITY
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DRIVING OUR LOW-COST

Our destination

Our ambition is to be Europe’s most loved
arline, winning for our customers, shareholders
and people.

These are our key stakeholders who we want
to be most loved by and to win for.

We win for our customers by providing a simple, -

convenient product at a competitive price. We

aspire to be customers’ most loved airline by .*
eeting and. ding their expectations.

MODEL

We win for our shareholders by being the best
airline to invest in, creating long-term value
through sustainable profitable growth and by
conducting ourselves in an ethical and
responsible way.

~employer and a great place to work. Attracting

<great talent will help us to win for our customers

-and shareholders and enable our people to

~_participate in our succe

easyJet.com
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STRATEGY OVERVIEW
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DELIVERING

OUR STRATEGY

We have taken the opportunity to focus our strategy to align with
our purpose of making low-cost travel easy. Our 2022 strategy
framework refines our previous priorities to deliver easyJet’s
destination as Europe’s most loved airline, winning for
customers, shareholders and our people.

Our strategy has four strategic priorities. These define the
areas of focus which will allow us to achieve our ambition.
They build on our structural advantages in the European
aviation market and will enable us to be at the forefront of
the recovery as travel returns after the effects of the
pandemic. We believe that by focusing on these priorities we
will deliver strong shareholder returns. All of this is only made
possible by our people — read more about Our Promise on
page 10.

Building Europe’s best network

easylJet is one of Europe’s largest airlines, with an unrivalled
network of leading positions in some of the most attractive
markets in Europe. Within those markets, we have
established a strong presence in primary airports — which
provide ease and a choice to customers and ultimately
deliver relatively high yields. Our network is built with an
emphasis on maximising returns and as a result, over the
course of the pandemic easyJet has reallocated capacity
from weaker markets into stronger markets to strengthen
underlying profitability.

Our ambition is to build the best network in Europe. To do
this, we will continue to lead in our core markets, building
scale in Europe’s largest and most attractive travel markets.
This will offer customers choice in terms of destination and
schedule and will ensure highly efficient operations. In many
cases, easylet’s core markets are slot-constrained and we
will continue to grow in these markets by building the slot
portfolio as opportunities arise and through up-gauging as
the average seats per aircraft increases in coming years.

In addition, we will continue to build out our destination
bases in top leisure locations. These bases provide easyJet
with the opportunity to better manage seasonality and
support the growth of easyJet holidays. They also provide
flexibility, allowing easyJet to easily move capacity between
source markets depending upon market conditions, and
allowing us to serve new source markets through focus
cities which leverage the breadth of the network.

Transforming revenue

easyJet has delivered exceptional revenue performance,
especially in the ancillary revenue area. Continuing to
develop and build in this area is a key priority in delivering
the strategy, ensuring that we are able to maximise the
revenue potential of the market. To deliver on this priority

easyJet plc Annual Report and Accounts 2022

easyJet will continue to invest in its strong revenue
management capability, ensuring that its market- Icadmg
position is maintained by developing new industry-leading
capabilities which creatively leverage new sources of data .« -
and optimise ticket and ancillary revenue together.

We also intend to transform our ability to develop ancillary
revenue products and merchandise these to our customers
based on their specific needs. Additionally, we will Continue
to invest in diversifying our sources of revenue w1th an
ongoing focus on easy.Jet holidays. =

Delivering ease and reliability

Ease and reliability is at the centre of easyJet’s purpose of
making low-cost travel easy. Giving customers an enjoyable,
hassle-free experience and reliable service that makes them
want to fly with us again will always be one of the
cornerstones of our strategy. '

To deliver ease and reliability, we will continue to build on
our areas of strength, in particular the digital booking and
on-the-day experience and exceptional onboard sérvice.
This will be supported by investrents in other key areas of
the customer journey, in particular the airport experience,
and continuing to improve On:Time Performance and’
reduce cancellation rates.

Sustainability continues to be a priority for easyJet and

its customers. The net zero roadmap recently launched
demonstrates our commitment to leading in an area which
is likely to be a key purchase driver in the future.

Driving our low-cost model

Disciplined execution of the low-cost mode! underpins all of

the elements of the easyJet strategy:

« a highly efficient point-to-point network to deliver
simplicity in operations and scale within airports;
providing disaggregated products and relevant bundles of
products, allowing customers to pay for what they value;
ensuring we have a fleet with exceptional fuel efficiency
and low maintenance costs.

And most importantly, it means always challenging cost.
ensuring that where easyJet spends it delivers tangible value
to our customers. It means ensuring a focus on productivity
and investing in processes and tools which deliver truly
sustainable long-term cost efficiency.
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OUR DESTRATION: EUROPE'S MOST LOVED AIRLINE -
WINNING FOR CUSTOMERS, SHAREHOLDERS AND OUR PEOPLE
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’{é » Lead and build scale in our core markets.

« Maintain and build leadership positions in slot-constrained airports.
« Accelerate investment in destination bases.
« Disciplined expansion into new geographies and focus cities.
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+ Maximise the revenue potential of our market.
» Transform our ancillary revenue capability.
« Diversify our sources of revenue, continuing to focus on easyJet holidays.
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» Provide an easy and reliable customer experience.
« Protect and build on easyJet's strong brand.

« Establish sustainability leadership.

+ Grow and deepen relationships with our customers.
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« Drive our business with sustainable efficiency.
+ Invest in our fleet.

« Optimise our capital efficiency.

+ Deliver strong productivity.
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Read rmore on pages 20 and 21.
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BUSINESS MODEL

We deliver our purpose by leveraging the low-cost airline
business model with network and service differentiation.

MAKING LOW-COST TRAVEL EASY

. “
\\ N

8 easyJet plc Annual Report and Accounts 2022
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NETWORKIAND

\ + Point-to-point routes.
\ + Frequency of schedule.

Leadershup positions in primary and slot-
constrained airports in many of Europe’s largest
catchments with high customer demand.

These have proven to be among the highest
) yielding in the market and enable us to tap into
/ both business and leisure demand.

Our network is unrivalled and difficult to
replicate.
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.« Spreads fixed overheads « We have an opportunity for further growth by .,:N"t *!
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+ Scale drives high brand vrf}‘ i
awareness and facilitates ﬁ or.g

+ volume pricing deals

We have strengthened and will continue to
strengthen our positions as the competitive
landscape evolves, bidding for additional slots

|\‘»§c 141
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Industry-leading revenue management
capability, including dynamic pricing of
ancillaries.

Continued evolution of the Group's product
portfolio to build on spend per customer and
deliver enhanced sustainable returns.
Limited indirect distribution to capture
additional value.

Low fares predicated on
basic airport and cabin
product.

Unbundled fares with
additional charges for
bags, seats and catering.

. : I R A T
A

Standardised products to

meet the needs of

individuals.

Leading customer app which improves the
overall experience from booking to check-in

to reaching the aircraft, often without the need
for human interaction.

Warm welcome and personal service to get
customers to their destination on time.
Disruption management self-service tool
(SSDM) to make it easier for customers to

.U make changes when disruption does occur.

+ Single fleet type with

standard specification.

High density, single-class

cabin,

+ Short turnarounds and
high aircraft utilisation.

+ Young fleet.

+ Opportunity to increase the average gauge of
our aircraft through our fleet renewal
programme, bringing in larger aircraft.

This presents us with a considerabie opportunity
for organic growth by increasing our overall

seat capacity.

¢.40% of the A319s will be replaced over the
next three years.

-y ey

B e

Long-term strategic partnerships with key
airports and ground-handling operators.
Focus on seasonal bases which increases cost
flexibility, with 21 aircraft now operating for
eight months of the year from these bases.

« High productivity and
strong cost culture.

—ag
.
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OUR PROMISE

FOSTERING AN
INCLUSIVE CULTURE

Creating an inclusive culture — where people can be their best
and feel that they truly belong —is the key to our success.

We aim to create an environment where everyone is respected,
can be themselves and thrive.

OUR PROMISE: A FRAMEWORK
TO INFORM OUR DAY-TO-DAY BEHAVIOURS

ALWAYS WITH SAFETY |8 ALWAYS B MAKING A POSITIVE
AT OUR HEART § CHALLENGING COST DIFFERENCE

Safety is our number one We are always challenging costs We are passionate about
priority — it runs through B and strive to be highly efficient making a meaningful difference
everything we do and is =% in how we work. We continually for our planet, communities and
everyone’s responsibility. innovate, aim for simplicity and people. Sustainability is
We always speak up, learn and invest where it matters most. important to us and we're

] take action where it's needed. We always aim to deliver the creating a positive impact today

best value for our customers. and taking action to pioneer a
sustainable future for travel.

B ALWAYSWARM b LIVING THE
B AND WELCOMING 7 ORANGE SPIRI

We are the warm and. We are bold and proud
{Welcpming low-cost . ‘ * easyJetters. Wecanbe
‘We'strive to ciéate “free 84 ourselves and challenge the
/travel experience. We build trust Jid status quo so that we fly high.
with our customers by being fair l{..W%bg‘ing passion and energy,
8. and transparent, andwe working together to do the
3~ consistently deliver the friendly right thing for our customers
& service we are famous for. and ééch other.

10 easyJet plc Annual Report and Accounts 2022
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Pride month
Throughout 2022 we have continued to create an
inclusive environment and culture by highlighting some

of the year-round activity in the LGBTQIA+ community,

as well as introducing some additional educational
events and fun celebrations.

We have been supporting the annual LGBTQIA+ Pride
rmonth for several years, and did so again in 2022.
Much of the activity was driven and led by our
internal diversity, inclusion and wellbeing group,

the Trailblazers.

We invited two fantastic LGBTQIA+ charities, AKT
and Micro Rainbow, to talk about the work they do
to support the community, the impact they have on
people’s everyday lives and what colleagues

across easyJet can do to support them.

To continue our work with the local community within
Luton, we created a year-long partnership with the
newly formed ‘Pride in Luton’, which was formed to
support the diverse LGBTQIA+ community across the
town. Our partnership supported the creation of their
first Pride event, which was attended by over 2,000

people. We also supported The Big Gay Family Picnic,
which brought together the LGBTQIA+ community, their
families and allies.

Many of our colleagues across the European network
got involved in local activity, as well as sharing their own
stories and experiences of being part of the LGBTQIA+
community or of being an LGBTQIA+ ally. We are
especially proud to have been involved in both

the Amsterdam and Manchester Pride celebrations

this year.

We extended our activity to our customer-facing
operations, with crew able to wear our specially
commissioned LGBTQIA+ Pride tie and neck scarf.
We even added our exclusively designed logo to
our headrest covers and the external livery of
selected aircraft.

Our support for the LGBTQIA+ community doesn't just
happen during the month of June — we support our
colleagues and customers all year round, regardless

of their sexual orientation and gender identity.

easyJet.com
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ROADMAP TO NET ZERO

easyJet’'s roadmap to net zero provides the framework with which we plan to
achieve net zero carbon emissions by 2050. We aim to reduce our carbon
emissions per passenger by 78% by 2050 and we are working to achieve zero
emissions over the longer term.

OUR ROADMAP TO NET ZERO BY 2050

Baseline set

Qur validated science-based
target, a 35% carbon
emissions intensity
improvement by 2035, is
benchmarked against a 2019
baseline. Since 2000, over a
20-year period, we have
already reduced our carbon
emissions per passenger, per
kilometre by one third.

SCIENCE
BASED
TARGETS

DRYING ALTITIOUS CORPORATE CURMTE AGTHIN
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Read more on:
our approach to -
Sustainability on
pages 30 to 42.

-

Emissions intensi

.
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* gasyJet plc commits to reduce well-to-wake GHG emissions relateo 1qQ piditel ironowned and ieaied oporaliope by $5% oer Revenue Tonne
Kilometre (RTK) by FY35 from a FY19 base year. The target boundary siglucastbicasiicBniSiaps 2 187 vvas rom bioenergy feedstocks.
Non-CO.e effects which may also contribute to aviation-induced warming mmz Bt plc commits to report publicly on
its collaboration with stakeholders to improve understanding of opportunitieStg ritkjate rignets of aviation annually over its target
timeframe.

.
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35% intensity reduction 78% intensity reduction
by 2035 by 2050

@ Fleet renewal with NEO aircraft
(O Operational efficiencies

@ Airspace modernisation

@ Sustainable Aviation Fuels (SAF)

Y Zero carbon emission aircraft

More detail on our net zero roadmap can be found on our website at -
https://corporate.easyjet.com/corporate-responsibility/net-zero-pathway

ydrogen cor nustion ]
owenng asyjet S|
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CEO REVIEW

MAKING LOW-COST TRAVEL EASY

Johan Lundgren
Chief Executive Officer

69.7m

passengers
(2021: 20.4 million)

85.5%

load factor
(2021: 72.5%)

13,951

employees
(2021:13,689)

1. Based on earnings before

interest at constant currency

We have a clear strategy to drive returns for
our shareholders and have significant
confidence in our plan today and that it will

deliver going forward.

Overview

easyJet, alongside the whole industry, has
faced multiple headwinds throughout the
2022 financial year from Omicron, the
impact ot Kussia's invasion ot Ukraine, and
operational challenges as demand returned
at srale follmaing the widecpread romeval
of travel restrictions across Furope. Despite
this, easyJet has delivered a significantly
improved performance with headline EBIT
profit of £3 million (2021: £1,036 million
loss) which includes incremental disruption
costs of £78 million compared to FY19.
The headline loss before tax in the year
was £178 million (2021: £1,136 million loss)
which includes a £64 million loss from
balance sheet revaluations.

The business transformation is delivering
with easyJet achieving a record headline
EBITDAR of £674 million in Q4 2022
with load factors returning to 92% and
seat capacity to 26 million. Ancillary
products and easyJet holidays are fully
embedded and delivering incremental
returns to the business.

easyJet is continuing to allocate aircraft to
the markets where demand is strongest
enabled by slot growth at primary airports.
Qver the past 12 months we have seen
growth at Gatwick, Porto, Lisbon and the
Greek islands. Each of these airports has
delivered returns above the network
average in FY22.

For winter, which is typically a loss-making
period, easyJet is investing in building
additional resilience. This investment allows

hé

for summer 2023 preparations to start
earlier in response to the tight labour
market, where we have already begun our
seasonal recruitment campaign. Alongside
this we now have a dedicated team in
place to process employment reference
rharke as efficiently ac pocciblo. oacyJet,
like all arrlines, is seeing cost pressures
including tuel, strengthened US dollar and
wage inflation.

Peak holiday weeks this winter, such as
October half term and Christmas week in
the UK, are back to normal levels of
volume. Through these key periods, ticket
yields are showing strength on the prior
year, with the Christmas period's ticket
yield currently up ¢.18%. Visibility over
bookings in the second half remains low,
however Easter-booked ticket yields are
strong and booked load factors for Easter
are ahead of the prior year.

easyJet goes into the 2023 financial year
with one of the strongest balance sheets

in European aviation. This financial strength,
combined with our leading low-cost
proposition at primary airports, provides a
key differentiator for customers, making it
easy for customers to switch towards
value. easyJet’s historic performance in a
challenging economic environment where
the consumer was squeezed has been
strong, as evidenced in 2008/09 during

the global financial crisis when easyJet
delivered increased margins' as well as
capacity growth.

Over the next year, we are targeting customer
growth and are well placed to drive returns and
margins while maintaining a rigorous focus on cost.
With one of the strongest balance sheets in
European aviation, we are ready to take
opportunities as they present themselves.”
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Revenue

Total revenue increased by 296% to

£5,769 million (2021: £1,458 million) in line
with capacity increasing to 81.5 million seats
(2021: 28.2 million), due to the relaxation of
pandemic-related travel restrictions relative
to the prior year, strong growth in the
easyJet holidays business and the step
change in our ancillary offering.

Passenger revenue increased by 282% to
£3,816 million {2021 £1,000 million) as we
flew increased levels of capacity compared
to the same period last year.

Passenger RPS increased by 32% to £46.80
(2021: £35.48) as demand returned, with
travel restrictions easing through the year
and easyJet's primary airport network
driving yield growth.

Group ancillary revenue increased by 326%
to £1,953 million (2021: £458 million) as
capacity increased and as easyJet holidays
continues its rapid growth. Airline ancillary
revenue per seat also increased by 29% to
£19.43 (2021: £15.06) as we continue to
see incremental benefits from ancillary
products which have been launched

since H1 of FY21.

Costs

Group headline costs excluding fuel and
FX gains increased by 106% to £4,604
million (2021: £2,233 million), driven by an
increase in capacity flown as well as
incremental disruption costs of £78 million
compared to FY19 and one-off resilience

actions taken in order to ensure a stable
operation during the fourth quarter.

easyJet recorded a £64 million loss from
foreign exchange on balance sheet
revaluations (2021: £10 million gain), related
to the impact of a weaker sterling on our
net foreign currency-denominated liabilities.

Airline headline cost per seat at constant
currency decreased by 25% to £68.11

(2021 £90.73). Headline Airline cost per
seat excluding fuel at constant currency
decreased by 32% to £52.66 (2021: £77.57).

Non-headline items

Non-headline items are those where, in
management’s opinion, separate reporting
provides a better understanding to users
of the financial statements of easyJet’s
underlying trading performance, and which
are significant by virtue of their size and/or
nature. These costs are separately disclosed
and further detail can be found in the notes
to the financial statements. A Group
non-headline loss before tax of £30 million
(2021: £100 miliion gain) was recognised in
the financial year. The significant items
consisted of a £21 million loss as a result of
the sale and leaseback of 10 aircraft and a
£10 million loss from returning slots in the
year at Berlin Brandenburg Airport following
the rightsizing of the operations from 18 to
N aircraft.

Balance sheet
During FY22 easyJet repaid £300 million
of commercial paper, clearing the final

Fleet as at 30 September 2022 (excluding aircraft on a zero-rent basis)

balance under the CCFF scheme. $100
million was also voluntarily repaid on the
UKEF in April ahead of its maturity in FY26.
As at 30 September 2022 our net debt
position was £0.7 billion (30 September
2021: £0.9 billion) including cash and cash
equivalents and money market deposits
of £3.6 billion (30 September 2021

£3.5 billion).

Fleet

easyJet’s total fleet as at 30 September
2022 comprised 320 aircraft (excluding
three A319 aircraft held on a zero-rent basis)
(30 September 2021: 308 aircraft excluding
12 aircraft held on a zero-rent basis). The
increase was driven principally by nine
aircraft ending their zero-rental period and
reentering the operational fleet, delivery of
eight new A320neo family aircraft, and
seven lease additions while 12 aircraft left
the fleet, as easyJet continues its journey of
retiring older aircraft and benefiting from the
A320neo family of aircraft with their
superior fuel efficiency and greater number
of seats.

We have an agreed order book consisting
of 168 firm orders, 135 for A320neo aircraft
and 33 A321neo aircraft. This includes the
aircraft purchase approved earlier this year,
securing 56 aircraft deliveries with the
conversion of 18 A320neos into A321s for
delivery between FY26 and FY29. In order
to meet our long-term fleet requirements,
we will continue to keep all options under
review going forward.

Changes since Purchase

Owned Leased Total % of fleet Sep-21 Future deliveries options Purchase rights
A319 35 59 94 29% (3) - - -
A320 105 62 167 52% 7 - - -
A320neo 37 7 44 14% 7 135 - 3
A32Ineo .4 N 15 5% 1 33 - -
181 139 3202 168 - 3

Percentage of total fleet 57% 43%

1. easyJet retains the option to alter the aircraft type of future deliveries, subject to providing sufficient notification to the OEM.
2. At 30 September 2022, easyJet was storing three operating leased aircraft which have been acquired for future operations. These are held at zero rent

and are excluded from the fleet numbers.

Our flexible fleet plan allows us to expand or contract the size of the fleet depending on the demand outlook.

Number of aircraft Fy22 FY23 FY24 FY25
Current contractual maximum - 336 336 346
Actual aircraft 320 - - -
Current contractual minimum - 333 318 308
New aircraft deliveries - 7 21 23
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CEO REVIEW CONTINUED

The average gauge of the fleet is now
179 seats per aircraft, compared to 178
seats at 30 September 2021. The average
age of the fleet increased to 9.3 years
(30 September 2021: 8.6 years).

Capital expendlture .

- Over the next three years easyJet's gross
capital expenditure is expected to be as
follows:

s rad

Fyas

Gross capital
expenditure

(£ million) ¢.900 ¢1500 c.1,600

Capex is comprised of new fleet delivery
payments, maintenance-related
expenditure as well as lease payments and
other capital expenditure such as IT
development. Our capex projections
assume seven deliveries in FY23, 21

deliveries in FY24 and 23 deliveries in FY25. -

Sustainability
In the fourth quarter, easyJet announced
its roadmap to achieving net zero by 2050.
The roadmap is aligned to the Science
Based Targets initiative (SBTi), with easyJet -
being the first low-cost airline to announce
. a SBTi-validated interim target of 35%
carbon intensity reduction by 2035. -

The long-term roadmap sees easyJet

- transition from carbon offsetting, which has

been a valuable interim measure but is not
recognised under the SBTi framework,
towards investments that drive in-sector

. emission reductions to deliver our net zero
_roadmap.

‘We plan to achieve our ambitious roadmap
through the combination of six drivers: fleet
renewal, operational efficiencies, airspace
modernisation, sustainable aviation fuel,
zero carbon emission aircraft and carbon
removal technology.

For further information. on our
roadmap, see pages 12and 13.

' 1.‘ Glassdoor score as at 30 Septembér_2022‘

Since this announcement we have made a
step forward with our partner
Rolls-Royce, who have achieved a world
first — successfully running a modern
aircraft engine on hydrogen. This is @ major
step towards proving that hydrogen can be
a zero carbon aviation fuel of the future — a
key element of our net zero roadmap.

Our Sustainability Strategy is underpinned
by strong sustainability governance and "

monitoring at Board level.to make sure the
strategy is delivered, with remuneration
also being linked to sustainability and the
delivery of the key steps towards delivering
our roadmap.

easyJet has received IATA |IEnvA Stage 2
certification, making us the first low-cost
carrier worldwide with a fully IATA [EnvA
certified Environmental Management

. System (EMS). This follows our successful

completion of the IATA IEnvA Stage 1
implementation, assessment, and
certification earlier this year, as well as

~ enhancing our ratings achieved across

indices including CDP, MSCI and
Sustainalytics. Read more on page 31.

Our people
David Morgan has been appomted as Chief

‘Operatmg Officer on a permanent basis.

David has been an integral part of the

easyJet leadership team since he joined as -

Chief Pilot in 2016 from Wizz Air where he
held the same role. David remains an
active pilot.

easyJet continues to have a strong
reputation as an employer of choice.
Our people are a key source of .
differentiation and this helps to defiver

excellent customer experience and loyalty. .

Our Glassdoor rating of employee

. satisfaction is 4.0' (out of 5.0), which is

the highest within the travel and tourism.
sector, illustrating our market-leading -
position.

&6

Our people are a
key source of
differentiation
compared to our

‘competition, and

help deliver excellent
customer experience

and loyalty.”

We have constructively worked in partnership
with our employee representative bodies
across Europe in order to support the
operation. We recognise that the wider
economic environment of rising inflation
and the increased cost of living has and
continues to be challenging for our people
and we continue to work with our trade
union partners in order to support our
people whilst maintaining control of our
cost base.

Read mare on how we work with our
people on pages 24 and 25.

In FY22 some of the key deliverables

-include:

« Readiness and operational resilience: -
We recruited around 1,650 cabin crew to
deliver the flying programme against a.
difficult labour market across the
network, particularly in the UK.
Meanwhile, in the face of challenges
related to processing employment
referencing across the industry we
reacted quickly by setting up an in-house
team to supplement our partners. This
new model will allow easyJet to manage
all referencing checks end-to-end.
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~+ Employee experience: Working with our

employee representative groups across
Europe we continued to support new
‘ways of working — including flexibility of

" employment contracts and the
continuation of our hybrid working model
for our office-based colleagues. '

« Learning and development: We have
introduced a new People Management
development programme to help
develop our manager and leader
capabilities throughout all first line
leaders, while continuing to develop our
approach to early careers including the
relaunch of our engineering
apprenticeships. In addition, we have also
utilised our apprenticeship levy to
support arange of head office roles.

- Based on current tradiné, ea§yJet expects
] the following over the 2023 financial year:” ~ ,

-+ Q1 Load factor growth c.+10 p;ﬁts year on

» Health and wellbeing: We havé

implemented a new UK occupational " resitience. .
health provision and mobile enabled "+ Hifuel price up >50% year on year.
support for all employees while also « Market-wide inflationary pressure. -

delivering comprehensive mental health
awareness training for all employees and

year on year.
Outlook

year on year.

» Q1RPS growth expected to be up o levels.
>20% year on year.

Earlier summer 2023 ramp- up for

- easyJet holidays targeting >30%
customer growth year on year.

« H2 early bookings look positive with
Easter ticket yields showing strength

MaNagers. year on year.
.+ Diversity and inclusion: Implementatlon '+ Capacity
of a new Equal Opportumtles and :
Inclusion Policy. : o H1 ¢.38 million seats, c.25% increase

* H2 ¢.56 million seats, c. 9% increase

+ Q4 capacity around pre-pandemnc

year.
Fuel and FX hedging: .
Jet fuel . HI3 H2'23 HI'24 - US dollar ‘ . HI'23 H223 HI24
Hedged position ) 74% 5%  25% Hedged position . 77% 54% 27%
Average hedged rate ($/MT) ‘814 903 922 . Average hedged rate (US$/GB£) 129 124 119
Current spot ($/MT) at 28.11.22 " c$1000  Current spot (US$/GBE) at 28.11.22 ) cl21

Carbon obligation 100% covered for CY22 at €17/MT and 77% covered for CY23 at €3V/MT.
US dollar lease payments hedged for the next three years at $1.33. -

Capex hedged for the next 12 months in euros and US dollars.*
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MARKET REVIEW

MARKET DYNAM

€
Demand
The airline industry overall is a
cyclicat one, with demand for
flights driven primarily by
economic growth. Demand is aiso
seasonal, particularly in leisure
travel. However, the business
model of low-cost carriers such as
easyJet tends to be more resilient
to recession, as there will be some
customers who seek greater value
during periods of low economic
growth, attracted by our lower
prices and our network of primary
airports.

Demand in the first haif of the
year was impacted by the
changes in travel restrictions as
the Omicron variant of Covid-19

i emerged in December 2021, with
| subsequent relaxation of those
restrictions a few months later,

KEY MARKET DRIVER

customer confidence to travel
over the second half of the year,
notwithstanding the operational
challenges and associated
disruption experienced across the
sector in our Q3.

» Many European airlines have
seen customer numbers
strongly increase over the
summer season, as customers’
confidence to travel has
recovered since the pandemic-
induced travel restrictions were
lifted.

« Leisure travel has rebounded

early in 2022. There was increased

more quickly than business travel.

In Q4, customer numbers were back
up to ¢. 87% of the levels seen in Q4
FY19, prior to the pandemic.

Whilst forecasts are that economic
growth will be slow across the UK and
the EU in 2023, as a consequence of
geopolitical factors arising from the
war in Ukraine, rising inflation and
increased interest rates, we believe
that easyJet will be protected due to
the emphasis on value in such an
environment, combined with there still
being pent-up demand for travel and
holidays as a reaction to the travel
restrictions imposed during the
pandemic.

« Increases in the cost of living and
the associated squeeze on
household and business incomes
across European economies are
likely to increase the emphasis on
value in the short term, to the
natural advantage of low-cost
carriers such as easyJet.

Fuel

Fuel is one of the biggest costs
airlines face and one of the most
volatile. Fuel represented 21.5% of
easyJet’s headline cost base in the
current financial year. The ICE Brent
crude oil spot price has fluctuated
between $69 and $128 per barrel
over our financial year, with the
Russian invasion of Ukraine in
February 2022 leading to a general.
increase in the market price of oil.
The price of jet fuel is strongly
correlated with the price of crude oil.

Brent price,

w $ per barrel
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+ Many European airlines hedge their
fuel costs.
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The key factors and trends which influence easyJet and all
operators within the European airline industry.

Environmental and social
Sustainability, in particular the
carbon emissions from flights and
the contribution to climate change,
is a significant issue for the aviation
industry.

According to research by Kantar
Public across six European
countries in September 2021, 78%
of European consumers consider
climate change a very serious
problem. More recently, a
nationwide study of 2,000 British
holidaymakers, conducted by
easyJet, revealed that 76% think
that companies need to urgently
set out how they will achieve net
zero this century and demonstrate
how they are operating more
sustainably. 78% say they will
choose an airline based on their
sustainability credentials when
travelling in the future and 70%
would commit to a zero carbon
emission holiday if it was available
to them. .

» Individual airlines, airports and
industry groups have set net
zero targets for 2050.

+ Aerospace companies are
developing new technologies which
could in the future help to
decarbonise aviation.

« Governments across Europe are
considering the policy measures
that will be needed to meet their
own net zero targets.

On-Time Performance,
airspace management and

supply chain pressures
European airspace remains a
challenging environment, with a lack
of air traffic resources and capacity
constraints impacting across the
continent. While Eurocontrol
continues to redesign the airspace
infrastructure with the aim of
creating a more efficient and
sustainable network, nevertheless
UK and EU airspace consists of a
complex network of flight paths that
have seen little development over
the last 70 years. The unprecedented
ramp-up of activity in 2022 across
the aviation industry, coupled with a
tight labour market, resulted in
widespread operational challenges in
our third quarter, resulting in a higher
than normal level of cancellations.

« Air traffic control delays cause a
number of issues from additional
flying time and airport congestion
to inefficient flight planning.
Antiquated flight paths cause
additional fuel burn.

« Labour shortages and other supply
chain issues throughout the
aviation ecosystem resulted in an
abnormally high level of
cancellations and delays across
the sector.

Foreign exchange

easyJet is exposed to foreign
exchange rate movements, mainly
resulting from euro revenues and
US dollar costs, translated into our
functional currency of sterling.

Sterling weakened during the year
against both the euro and US doliar
as political turmail and the cost of
living crises in the UK reduced
investors’ confidence in the currency.
This has an adverse impact on US
denominated costs (mainly fuel,
leases and maintenance) and a
favourable impact on euro revenues
when translated into sterling.

« Many European airlines hedge their
foreign currency requirements,
particularly for the US dollar.
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OUR STRATEGY

DUR PURPOSE:
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. OUR DESTINATION:

MAKING LOW-COST TRAVEL EASY l EUROPE'S MOST LOVED AIRLINE *
| . — WINNING FOR CUSTOMERS,

' SHAREHOLDERS AND OUR PEOPLE _

k.

. Our focus

Build scale by expanding in our core
markets.

Maintain and build leadership positions
in slot-constrained airports.

invest in destination bases.

Disciplined expansion into new
geographies and focus cities.

Maximise the revenue potential of our
market.

« Transform our ancillary revenue

capability.

« Diversify our sources of revenue,

continuing to focus on easyJet
holidays.

Provide an easy and reliable customer
experience.

Protect and build on easyJet’s strong
brand.

Establish sustainability leadership.
Grow and deepen relationships with
our customers.

Drive our business with sustainable
efficiency.

invest in our fleet.

Optimise our capital efficiency.

« Deliver strong productivity.

-

Risk theme'

« Safety, security and operations.
» Asset efficiency and effectiveness.
» Macro-economic and geopolitical.

» Technology and digital safety.
« Macro-economic and geopolitical.

» Safety, security and operations.

» Asset efficiency and effectiveness.
« People.

« Environment and sustainability.

s Technology and digital safety.

= Asset efficiency and effectiveness.
« Environment and sustainability.

. | N e clhgm olih @
(R SaEm, SEEES ¥ o @
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4
Progress in FY22 FY23 initiatives
» Increased our market share at Gatwick + An extra five aircraft-worth of slots  « Start operating Lisbon slots won in
Airport after reallocating aircraft to this were added into the Greek istands. 2022. .
high-yielding base, along with the easyJet was the largest carrier +» Capacity to continue to be
addition of new slots. there this summer. deployed where demand and
« Won additional slots at Porto, which we « Overall, 2.1 million seats redeployed returns are strong.
began to utitise in 2022. in summer 2022, primarily used to :
« Won 18 daily slots at Lisbon Airport, strengthen core markets in France,
achieving growth in a highly slot- Italy and Greece.
constrained airport. « Announced plans to rightsize our
operation in Berlin.
« Strong performance achieved in the year  + Overall airline ancillary revenue « Further growth of easyJet holidays.
from the ancillary products which have increased 274% in the year and on « Continued evolution of product
been launched recently, including cabin a per seat basis was 29% ahead of portfolio e.g. pre-order capability
bags and our new leisure fare that achieved in FY21. for in-flight retail.
(Essentials) bundle. » easyJet holidays performed « Closed loop wifi to facilitate an
« Introduced new in-flight retail proposition strongly, contributing incremental enhanced in-flight retail experience.
during the year, expected to be fully revenue of £368 million to the
embedded during FY23. Group and generating £38 million
profit from 1.1 million passengers.
’.
« Industry-wide operational challenges » easylJet remained the number one « Earlier recruitment of cabin crew
materialised in Q3. This was reflected in most preferred airline brand in the and pilots for the 2023 summer
the flight caps announced at two of our UK this summer and is the number season.
biggest airports, London Gatwick and two brand in France, Switzerland « In-house team to process
Amsterdam. Alongside these capacity and italy. employment reference checks
caps, easyJet took swift action to reduce  « We aspire to lead the way on the more quickly.
our capacity and build resilience into Q4. sustainability agenda, and in . Supporting Rolls-Royce's research
As a result, disruption in Q4 was much September announced our into hydrogen engine development.
reduced and in line with historical levels. SBTi-aligned roadmap to net zero.
« Fleet renewal continues with the A320neo aircraft to 18 A32Ineo « Delivery of seven NEO aircraft
delivery of eight new A320neo family aircraft with a higher gauge. scheduled.
aircraft in the year. « Fuel, FX and ETS — major positions = Descent profile optimisation
« The average gauge of the fleet is now hedged in line with our long- technology to be fitted to all our
179 seats per aircraft, compared to established policy. aircraft.
178 seats at 30 September 2021. « Continue to reinforce our position « Increasing automation of self-
« In Q4, easyJet agreed to purchase an as the lowest cost carrier on our service management, which
additional 56 A320neo family aircraft for primary network, with a proportion increases digitalisation of customer
delivery between FY26 and FY29, as well of captains now on seasonal flows and reduces the need for
as converting 18 planned deliveries of contracts. contact centre support.
!
'
i _
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

easyJet has seven Key Performance Indicators which we use to
measure our overall progress.

Headline (loss)/profit
before tax per seat (£)

- Per seat metrics are for the Airline

business only.

Headline EBITDAR
margin (%)

(37.8)

Headline (loss)/earnings
per share (p)

i56.9) BESE

(]49'7)* e 2

* 2020 previously restated due to
. impact of the 2021 rights issue. ,

Why it is important
Incremental improvements in
profitability ensure that we
have a platform for long-term
growth while generating value
for all stakeholders.

Why it is important
EBITDAR is a good proxy for
cash generation. EBITDAR
margin is a metric the
business uses to make its
operating decisions and is one
measure of the underlying
performance of the business.

Why it is important
Delivering sustainable
shareholder value is a
fundamental part of our
mindset as we manage our
business.

What we measure
Headline (loss)/profit before
tax divided by the number of
seats flown.

What we measure
Headline EBITDAR divided by
Group revenue.

What we measure
Headline (loss)/profit after tax
divided by the weighted
average number of shares in
issue during the period
(adjusted for shares held in
employee benefits trusts).

How we performed
Headline loss before tax per
seat was £2.65 (2021 £39.87
loss). Airline revenue per seat
increased by 33% at constant
currency, a consequence of
increased loads and higher
ticket prices as demand
returned and strong ancillary
revenue as a result of both
bag and seat initiatives. This
was compounded by cost per
seat falling 24% as our fixed
cost base was spread across
a much higher flying capacity.

How we performed
Headline EBITDAR margin %
increased from (37.8)% last
year to 9.9% this year. This
was a reflection of the
improved performance of the
Group as volumes increased
and customers’ confidence to
travel returned.

How we performed
Headline loss per share was ,
19.6 pence (2021: 166.9 pence
loss per share) as a result of
the improved performance
and smaller headline toss
recorded this year. Total loss
per share was 22.4 pence
(2021: 159.0 pence per share
loss).
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Headline (loss)/return on
capital employed (%)

l 2021

2022 (Ot

(19.9) ! 2020

2019 : 1.4
208 | l 146

2018 as restated, headline
2019 and onwards post IFRS 16.

Customer satisfaction (%)

2022

2021

2020

2019

2018

I -

} 75

17s

J74

|75

Revised calculations in 2019, and
2018 was restated as a result.

On-Time Performance (%)

2022

2021

2020

2019

2018

|87

CO, emissions per
passenger kilometre (g)

2022

2021

2020

2019

2018

~ 18108

2018 and 2019 previously restated
to align to current industry
methodology.

Why it is important

As a low-cost business, we
focus on efficiency to provide
outstanding customer service
at the best value, while also
driving operational efficiencies
which will maximise our return
on investment.

Why it is important
Customers have increasing
choice and their expectations
are rising. Ensuring we meet
their evolving needs will
position us as the brand of
choice when flying within
Europe.

Why it is important
Reliable operational
performance

is a key factor in our
customers’ perceptions of
their experience with us.
Managing OTP and minimising
disruption will positively
impact on the likelihood of our
customers choosing to fly
with us on a repeat basis.

Why it is important

An important part of Our
Promise is to make a
meaningful difference for our
planet and help to tackle
climate change. In the short
term our focus is being as
efficient as we can and driving
carbon efficiencies.

What we measure

Headline operating (loss)/
profit after tax, divided by
average capital employed.

What we measure

Our customer satisfaction
index is based on the results
of a customer satisfaction
survey measuring how
satisfied the customer was
with their most recent flight.

What we measure
Percentage of flights which
arrive within 15 minutes of the
scheduled arrival time.

What we measure
How much carbon dioxide is

produced for each passenger,

for each kilometre they fly
with us.

How we performed
Headline ROCE improved to
0.1% (2021: (25.5)%) driven by
headline profit before interest
and tax returning to a

£3 million profit this year
(2021: loss £1,036 million).
Total ROCE for the year was
(0.6)% (2021 (22.4)%). The
total ROCE was adverse to
the headline ROCE due to
non-headline items generating
a £30 million charge before
tax in the income statement.

How we performed
Overall customer satisfaction
declined by 3 ppts from 75%
to 72%. Customer satisfaction
was adversely impacted by
the abnormal level of
disruption experienced in our
third quarter. The
unprecedented ramp-up
across the aviation industry
resulted in widespread
operational challenges and
higher levels of cancellations.

How we performed

Our OTP declined in the year
to 72% (2021: 87%) primarily
as a consequence of the
abnormal level of disruption
experienced in our third
quarter due to the ramp-up
across the aviation industry
and the ensuing operational
challenges which resulted.

How we performed

In 2022 our carbon emissions
per passenger kilometre were
70.369, a substantial
reduction from 81.08g in 2021.
This is a reflection of the
increased load factor in the
current year which drove a
decrease in emissions per
passenger, combined with the
increased number of more
efficient NEO aircraft and a
continued focus on flight
efficiency measures.
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PEOPLE AND (>

Our people are one of our main points of difference —and are

key to our success.

People and culture

Creating an inclusive culture -~ where
people can be their best, feel that they
truly belong and live the ‘Orange Spirit’
~is the key to our success. This past
year has again presented our people
with major challenges, as the industry
navigates its recovery from the
pandemic. Our focus has been to
prioritise activity that ensures our
readiness and operational resilience and
also that contributes to the employee
experience, so that we can retain our
talented people.

For more information on how
we are fostering an inclusive
culture, see pages 10 and 1.

Readiness and operational

resilience

« We recruited around 1,650 cabin crew
in a difficult labour market across the
network, particularly in the UK.

« Faced with industry-wide delays to

‘ security-clearance processing we

i reacted quickly by asking head office
colleagues to help with the referencing
activity needed to complete 1D
clearance.

« In response to the much-publicised
pinch points at airports over the
summer, our head office colleagues
provided additional assistance to -
customers and ground crew at
airports.

Employee experience

« Working with employee representative
groups across Europe we continued to
support new ways of working —
including flexible employment
contracts and hybrid working for our
office-based colleagues.

« The wellbeing of our people is
intrinsically linked to our number one
priority, safety. A new digital app from
our Employee Assistance Prograrmnme
provides more support to our remote
workforce.

* We invested in our online learning
technology to give all our people the
opportunity to develop new skills and
grow into new or existing roles.

Glassdoor employee overall
satisfaction rating

4.0/5

The highest rating within the travel
and tourism sector!

1. Glassdoor score as at
30 September 2022.

Employee engagement
score in 2022

7.1/

This puts us in the middle range for the
Transportation sector in the Peakon
engagement methodology.

Retairino talent

+ Continuing uncertainty within aviation,
combined with a highly competitive
external market, has created an
environment in which it is harder to
retain our experienced and passionate
people, Attrition levels have been higher
than before 2020.

- With infiation rising across Europe, we
made changes to reward and recognition
packages across the network to reflect
the challenges facing our business and
employees. Changes included one-off
payments for cabin crew, the

reintroduction of our bonus plan for -
head office colleagues and the launch >

of an easyJet holidays credit for all
ernployees across the network. 1
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« Keeping our employees connected to
the business and to each other so that
they feel supported has remained a
focus and we have introduced new .
programmes for our peaple managers. -
to help to build confidence across our
teams. ) BRI R

. Creation of the Velocity Tale

development programme’

of high-performing, hi
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Gender
Gender makeup of easyJet employees as at 30 September 2022

plc Board Senior managers?

Ox21) " 7575 )]

Airline Management Board' All employees

:730%) 77070 I W24 42165 I 292 5 7245

O Female QO Male

1. The Airine Management Board is our ‘Executive Committee’ for the purposes of the FTSE
Women Leaders/Hampton-Alexander Review.

2. Defined in accordance with the Companies Act 2006 which includes those with responsibility
for planning, directing or controlling the activities of the Company as well as persons who were
directors of our subsidiary undertakings.

Diversity, inclusion and industry-wide challenge that we continue
wellbeing to tackle, working with our partners to

Throughout this year we have continued ~ (NSPire more young people to consider
to make progress against our Diversity, career in aviation, including'encouraging
Inclusion and Wellbeing Strategy, more women to become pilots.

focusing on creating a culture of Our GPG submissions are available

inclusion where everyone can be on our website at https://corporate.

themselves and people look after their easyjet.comV corporate-

own and each other's wellbeing. responsibility/gender-pay-reports
Firm foundations We treat every applicant in our recruitment
We are committed to using quality data  process fairly, including those requiring

to create best practice inclusion and reasonable adjustments. However, for
wellbeing policy and processes. We are  our two largest communities, pilots and
aiming to improve the quality of and cabin crew, we are bound by regulatory
increase the amount of data we requirements for ability which all applicants

collect through our regular diversity data  and employees must comply with
monitoring, the Care to Share campaign.  for operational safety reasons.
We are developing our HR information
systems to capture better data. Both of
these will help us improve the employee
experience of our people.

We remain committed to hiring and
developing a diverse pipeline — be

that crew, engineers, pilots or those that
support from our head office functions.
We continue to measure how our

employees feel about the inclusive Open and honest communication
environment that we are striving to Engaging campaigns and supporting
create, through our regular employee materials, designed using feedback from
listening activities such as our our listening channels, articulate what we
anonymous Your Voice Matters survey. mean by inclusion and wellbeing at easyJet.
For the 12 months ending September Our central hub for all conversations and
2022, we recorded a score 0.3 above support, known as "You Matter, sets a

the benchmark for our peers within the  structured approach for conversations on
transportation sector for the question 'l diversity, inclusion and welibeing. in

feel I can be myself at work’ which is addition, we have a space on our social
used as an indicator of inclusion. network ‘Workplace’ dedicated to inclusion,

Both our 2021 and 2022 UK gender pay ~ Which encourages our people to share
gap submissions reflected the impact of  information and personal stories.

our pilot and predominantly female UK Our internal campaigns recognise,

cabin crew community being on celebrate and educate on a variety of
furlough as, in line with reporting topics that promote and support inclusion
regulations, they were excluded from and wellbeing. Over this past year

the data. As a result the submissions for campaigns have included Black History
these years do not represent a Month, Pride and Wellbeing Week.

complete picture. In 2022 our gender
pay gap performance was a median
gap of 59% and a mean gap of 50%.
The biggest single factor influencing our
gender pay gap is the gender

Our employee-led community known as
Trailblazers are our passionate advocates
for diversity, inclusion and wellbeing. The

group helps amplify the work and
educate on all activity across easyJet.
Qur Trailblazer conference this year
included educational experiences
provided by external specialist partners
such as Stonewall and WIHTL (a
collaboration community aimed at
increasing diversity and inclusion across
hospitality, travel and leisure).

Increasing confidence and
capability

We deliver a variety of learning
interventions across the business that
give our people, in particular those who
manage teams, greater confidence
across all things inclusion and wellbeing.
We have successfully implemented
agreements with new health services
partners — both Occupational Health and
Employee Assistance Provider (EAP) —
that allow us to provide an improved,
digitally-enabled experience in support
of managing health and wellbeing.

We have spent time evaluating how we
could better support mental health
awareness among our colleagues and
managers and worked with the UK
mental health charity MIND to launch
three bespoke programmes which were
made available across the network.
These included mental health awareness
e-learning for all colleagues as well as
two manager-specific modules around
understanding, supporting and
managing mental health at work.

Our inclusive behaviours e-learning and
our mandatory diversity, equality and
inclusion training continue to be available
for all colleagues across the business.

External partnerships

Developing positive inclusive mindsets is
at the forefront of delivering authentic
and meaningful diversity and inclusion
experiences. We work with our partners
to provide key insights and advice and
work with our Board and leaders to
strengthen conversations and build
confidence in inclusive leadership.

We partner with Business in the
Community (BiTC) to help us with our
commitment to the Race at Work
Charter. We have encouraged our
people, where legally reasonable, to
disclose diversity data through our ‘Care
to Share’ campaign. On the UK
Glassdoor platform our diversity and
inclusion rating has been maintained at a
score of 4.2 out of 5. Additionally, our
ranking in the Financial Times Diversity
leaders table has improved year on year
to rank #256 from the 850 included.

community. This remains a well-known

com/carporateresponsibility/esg-supplementaryinformation

representation within our pilot Read more in our Human Capital factsheet, at https://corporate.easyjet.
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OUR ENGAGEMENT WITH STAKEHOLDERS
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A key part of our strategy is a focus
on the customer, both to win our
customers’ loyalty and to achieve
our purpose of making low-cost
travel easy.

e

Rt
ww

.i Our understanding of who our current
and future customers are, how they
perceive easyJet and what products
they need, enables us to prioritise our
efforts towards driving a positive
customer experience and loyalty.

» ..,,.-
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Key focus

« Safety

» Sustainability
« Product choice and value

+ Ease of making and managing bookings

+ Ease of travelling and minimising disruption

How we engage and

information flows

» Through the easyJet Customer
Community, who share experiences and
help test messaging, policies, products and
propositions via polls, discussions, forums,
video diaries and surveys.

» Regular customer surveys to find out
about customers’ travel experiences.

.

- . .- RN

Crew feedback sessions via
rmanagement and online forums.
Through customer communications,
including emails, our app, call centres,
our self-service disruption management
tool and on social media.

« Customer sentiment is regularly

reported to and discussed by the
Airline Management Board (AMB)
and the Board. We measure our
performance through our customer
satisfaction KPi (see page 23).

Considerations and outcomes

Travel restrictions and entry requirements
were constantly changing across Europe
throughout the year due to the Omicron

T : o~ 2

-3

Our people are a critical part of our
business and their famous ‘Orange
Spirit’ a key part of our success.

fxx.

We want to attract, retain and
develop our people by creating an
inclusive and energising environment,
inspiring everyone to learn and grow
and do their best ~ and helping our
Orange Spirit to thrive. Engaging
effectively with them is key to doing
this successfully.

i e a5 e B
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PR

Key focus

« Health, safety and working conditions
+ Wellbeing and mental health

» Training and career development

+ Diversity and inclusion

« Reward and benefits

How we engage and

information flows

+ Regular internal communication including
weekly voice notes from the AMB and
stand-ups at key times.

Extensive engagement with various
employee representative groups and cabin
crew unions.

Your Voice Matters employee surveys are
discussed by the AMB and Board.
Employee Representative Directors’
meetings.

Updates to the Board from the CEO and
Group People Director on people matters.
Monitoring of themes and trends arising
from the Speak Up, Speak Out
mechanism.

role in delivering our ambition, and we
strive to ensure that they have aligned
views on corporate responsibility and
compliance.

N

We partner with key suppliers to deliver
many of our operational and commercial
activities. Our partners are carefully
selected, and significant emphasis is
placed on managing these relationships,
with the aim of encouraging incremental
innovation and performance.

v
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» Compliance with regulations
» Health and safety

« Treatment of suppliers

» Sustainability

» Payment practices

L e N A -2
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MOURISUBRHIERS
easyJet's suppliers have an important Key focus How we engage and

information flows

.

Meetings between AMB members and
senior executives of major suppliers on a
regular basis to understand the strategy
and health of their businesses.

The Board looks to engage with key
suppliers whenever appropriate.
Discussion at Audit Committee and Board
with central procurement function on
supplier management.
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Section 172

Our stakeholders are a fundamental part of our operations and are referenced throughout this report. We have set out on the
following pages details of who our key stakeholders are, how we have engaged with them and the associated outcomes.

The Directors are required to act in a way they consider, in good faith, would most likely promote the success of the Company
for the benefit of its members as a whole, taking into account the factors as listed in section 172 of the Companies Act 2006.

@ Details of how the Directors have had regard to therr sect:on 172 duty can be
found throughout the Strategic and Governance reports.

variant. We ensured customers were
kept fully informed via the Covid-19
Travel Hub on easyJet.com, which is
kept updated with the latest information.

= We undertook a customer satisfaction
deep dive prior to the summer ramp-up
to understand any customer pain points.
This resulted in initiatives around
pre-travel communications and the
airport experience. We also revised
airport signage and launched ‘Play your
part, with non-customer-facing
employees helping customers with extra
support such as wayfinding and bag
drop questions at airports. These actions
helped improve CSAT rates.

« Given the unprecedented ramp-up,
the aviation industry across Europe
experienced significant operational
issues in the second half which
resulted in significant delays and
cancellations for customers. We
proactively consolidated flights across
affected airports and revised the
schedule in order to build additional
resilience and reduce the number of
on-the-day cancellations. We were
able to rebook the majority of
customers on alternative flights, with
many travelling on the same day as
originally booked.

+ In response to customer feedback we
launched a new in-flight retail offering,

v - .-

@)

with greater regionalisation and a
refreshed product offering. Due to
challenges in the supply chain, not all
items were available at launch,
however availability has continued to
increase and customer feedback is
very positive.

The Board has also reflected on the
above initiatives and the impact of the
pandemic on customers when
reviewing the Group's longer-term
strategy.

More information on our customer
strategy and our operational
performance can be found on
pages 6 to 17.

- Y ¥

Considerations and outcomes

« The Board and management
understand the lasting impact of the
pandemic on our people, and the
unprecedented ramp-up over the
summer and related disruption
compounded this. By taking action to
build additional resilience in the
schedule, we were able to achieve

score was 7.1 out of 10 for all employees
and 7.9 out of 10 for our head office and
engineering employees.

+ We continue to have a number of
mechanisms to support our people’s
wellbeing and mental health.

» The Board received regular updates
from our Employee Representative
Directors to ensure employee voice was

organisational design and the
communicaton of the revised strategy.
Our employees were invited to
participate in the launch of our
ambitious SBTi aligned net zero
roadmap in September, which helped
increase engagement around our
sustainability plans.

STRATEGIC REPORT

greater roster stability and help our reflected in t.he Boardroom. This zifgprgzz:; :;J ;;:rrgfyog:‘%ar\d :L
people focus on serving customers. included topics such as workload, pay inclusion on pages 24 and 25. y
» During the year we relaunched our and reward and communication of the ‘
employee survey Your Voice Matters. strategy. The Board and its Committees b
54% of afl employees completed the have considered this feedback when [
. . surveys throughout FY22, Engaggment . taking decisions on remuneration, . . . is
BIE ~ . 1= %z T PR - L (S P
Considerations and outcomes our operation. While there continued to « During the year the Board considered .
« We have a number of key suppliers, be several challenges with ATC, the medium-term fleet plan and secured ¢
including aircraft and engine suppliers, ground-handling and airports due to agreement on delivery slots with our key
ground-handfing and logistics, critical staff shortages and delays in supplier Airbus and the related engine f
technology suppliers, fuel providers, recruitment, we worked closely with orders with CFM. ¢ -
engineering and maintenance providers, them to identify solutions, such as with Further details are set '
aircraft lessors and hoteliers for easyJet our ground-handlers DHL at Gatwick . out on page 86, {
holidays. Airport to improve resilience and — :
« With the ramp-up of flying we performance. We continue to engage ;
performed a supplier readiness check to with our suppliers to improve resilience ;
ensure safe and responsible delivery of and performance. X
1
R LS GRS i SRS ©. A AL Sl W, SN P SRS S A
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OUR ENGAGEMENT WITH STAKEHOLDERS (CONTINUED)
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Shareholders and investors are the
main providers of capital with which
to invest and grow the Group's

: URSITE

Key focus

« QOperational and financial performance
A : . « Creation of long-term sustainable
business. Taking account of their shareholder value, including addressing

. views on the Company's operational environmental, social and governance
; and financial performance and its matters

s strategic direction is an important
" part of ensuring we deliver strong
‘ shareholder value. How we engage and

| information flows

« Active engagement programme with
institutional investors, including

- attendance at investor conferences,

b :
GOURIGOMMUNITIES

« Share price and dividend returns

. S S S VP . o

results presentations, roadshows,
individual investor meetings and
engagement with equity research
analysts.

« Engagement around voting events by
Investor Relations and Company
Secretariat teams.

« Feedback is regularly provided to the

Board on investor sentiment. The Board
also engages directly through events
such as the Annual General Meeting.

We want to make a positive impact Key focus
and we value our relationships with » Local employment

the communities where our « Sustainability, including carbon and other ¢

employees live a"d_ operations are aircraft emissions; aircraft noise; energy
based, as they are important to the usage: recycling and waste

effective operation of our business. « Charitable activity

- G
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How we engage and .

information flows

« Country managers lead the community
engagement in their markets, and base

» =

L AP ROACRPUNNENS & VENNEERRRIR

REGUDATORSVNDIGOVERNMENIS

rmanagers also engage directly with their
local airport communities.

Partnerships with individual airports and
air traffic control teams to implement
reduction in cabin waste and noise
mitigation activities that seek to minimise
the impact on local communities.
Employee volunteering with local
charities and organisations.

Regulators and governments take Key focus .

decisions which directly impact « Compliance with regulations

our operations. easyJet engages « Consumer protection

with them to understand their « Treatment of suppliers

strategic drivers and the impact of L

any regulatory changes on the * Sust'alnabuhty

Company and customers and to + Public health

ensure that policymakers » Taxes and charges

und.erstand our bu§iness apd the How we engage and

social and economic benefits . .
information flows

v it delivers. .

+ AMB members and other senior
management engage with members of
government and regulatory bodies.
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Country managers and directors engage
with governments in all markets where
we have bases, at both a national and
regional level.

Discussions with operations and safety
regulators such as Austro Control
(Austria), the Civil Aviation Authority (UK)
and the Federal Office of Civil Aviation
(Switzerland) and EASA, amongst others.
Discussions with air traffic control
operators such as NATS.

Participation in trade associations such
as A4E and Airlines UK, and tourism
bodies, such as ABTA and the GSTC.
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Considerations and outcomes .
« Engagement took place in advance
of the AGM on the resolutions being
proposed, including by the Chair of
the Remuneration Committee on the .
Remuneration Policy, with
amendments made to reflect the
feedback received.

Considerations and cutcomes .
» We extended our partnership with
Bristol Airport to support the long-
term ambition of achieving net zero
operations at the airport. Our triat of
electric ground-handling equipment
achieved a total of a 96% reduction in

carbon emissions.

Considerations and outcomes

« Management have engaged

extensively with governments across .
all markets on lifting travel restrictions

and testing.

Our Chief Commerciat Officer

participated in a BEIS Select

Committee to provide insight on the
challenges the industry was facing and
explain easyJet's response.

Johan Lundgren met with various
governments in our network, such as

Italy and the Netherlands, to confirm

our commitment to their markets and

.

w

Engagement also took place following
the AGM relating to the resolutions
that received less than 80% in favour.
Further details are available on page 88.
Major shareholders were also
consulted prior to the GM held in July
2022 to approve the Airbus and CFM
agreements. The transaction was
approved and further details are set
out on page 85.

SIS S

We offer support for employees to
volunteer in their local communities,
such as flexible working and time off.

e

discuss some of the key challenges
and opportunities.

Our approach with regulators is open
and transparent, which allows for a
constructive relationship. It also
enables us to quickly identify and
address any regulatory concerns at an
early stage.

We continue to engage with
policymakers across Europe on how
public policy can help airlines to
address their carbon emissions and
stimulate the technological innovation
that will be needed for zero emission
aviation.

O
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« In September 2022 we launched
our SBTi aligned net zero roadmap
and engaged with investors on our
plans. Further details are set out on
pages 12 and 13. b

» To help support children and families
affected by the war in Ukraine we
launched our onboard collection in ¢
support of UNICEF's Ukraine appeal. 1
We also continue to provide support
for UNICEF's global vaccination effort.

» We also participate in industry groups
that contribute to public policy
development on sustainability i1ssues, e
such as the Aerospace Technology
Institute, Airlines UK, the Jet Zero
Council (UK Government), the Science - i
Based Targets initiative and :
Sustainable Aviation (UK). *
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SUSTAINABILITY-

easyJet aims to be a responsible and sustainable business. We recognise the
need to transition to a low-carbon economy and will continue to work towards
ensuring aviation plays its part. Our focus is to pioneer positive change for our
- planet, communities and people, getting one step closer to net zero every day.

MESSAGE FROM JOHAN LUNDGREN

The benefits of aviation are fantastic —'it
connects people, reunites friends and
families, enables people to experience
different cultures and provides economic
prosperity. But at the same time, we know
that we have a responsibility to minimise
the impact of our flights on the planet and
everyone at easyJet, including myself,
takes this responsibility seriously.

There is no doubt that decarbonising
aviation is a cross-industry effort and no
one airline can do this alone, however Im
incredibly proud of the progress that we,
and our partners, have made this year and
believe that easyJet is an industry leader on
its journey to net zero.

Much has been achieved this year; in
November 2021, we made an important
commitment by joining Race to Zero, a
UN-backed global campaign to achieve net
zero carbon emissions by 2050. This was
closely followed by setting a carbon
emissions intensity reduction target of 35%
by 2035 and in September 2022 we were
the first low-cost airline worldwide to
annourice an interim target validated by
the Science Based Targets initiative (SBTi).

Later in September we published our
SBTi-aligned roadmap to achieving net
zero carbon emissions by 2050. | firmly
believe that our roadmap is the most
ambitious to date due to the focus on new

hé

I'm incredibly
proud of the
progress that we,
and our partners,
have made this year
and believe that

easyJetis an industry
leader on its journey

to net zero.”

technology, as soon as available, with the
ambition to achieve zero carbon emission
flying across our entire fleet in the
long-term. By 2050, we plan to have
reduced our carbon emissions per
passenger by 78%, with residual emissions
removed through carbon capture
technology.

Alongside the ultimate transition to zero
carbon emission technology, the roadmap
features a combination of fleet renewal,
operational efficiencies, airspace
modernisation, Sustainable Aviation

Fuel and carbon removal technology

(see pages 12.and 13).

We have taken a wide range of actions to
help us make progress on the roadmap.

On new zero emission technology, we
formed a new partnership with Rolls-Royce
to pioneer the development of hydrogen
combustion engine technology capable of
powering an easyJet sized aircraft in the
future with ground testing already
successfully underway. We formed
hydrogen technology partnerships with
GKN Aerospace and Cranfield Aerospace
Solutions and were the first airline to
support Airbus’'s ZEROe programme.

A modern fleet of aircraft is instrumental in
driving down emissions and so we will be
making a list price investment of $21 billion
over the coming years to continue to

renew our fleet. All 168 new aircraft
deliveries, scheduled between FY23 and
FY29, will be Airbus NEO aircraft, which are
at least 15% more fue! efficient and 50%
quieter than the aircraft they replace.
During the year we also announced several
technology developments, including a
multi-million-pound fleet-wide investment
into the latest technology from Airbus to
achieve further carbon emission reduction
through Descent Profile Optimisation.

We have contracted all Sustainable
Aviation Fue! (SAF) reflected in our
roadmap for. the next five years with

“Supplier Q8 Aviation and also signed a

letter of intent with Airbus to support the
development of ground-breaking carbon
removal technology.

As we move towards delivery of our net
zero roadmap, we are transitioning our
current investment in carbon offsetting
into supporting the technologies that will
help us decarbonise.

Looking beyond carbon, we became the
first low-cost carrier worldwide to have a
fully-certified IATA Environmental
Assessment (IEnvA) Environmental
Management System, showing we are
managing our environmental performance
in a structured and systematic way.

We continue to support the vital work of
UNICEF both through its Covid-19 Vaccines
Appeal and collecting donations to help
support children and families affected by
the war in Ukraine.

Meanwhile, easyJet holidays continues to
find ways to further optimise the benefits
of travel and tourism to destination
communities (see page 40).

So in summary, informed by our roadmap
we are investing millions where we can
make the most difference, in efficiency
measures now and in the development and
realisation of net zero technology in the
decades to come.

By continuing our leadership in this area
and implementing our roadmap step by
step, we will.help ensure a sustainable
future of aviation for the benefit of the
next generation and our planet,
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SUSTAINABILITY STRATEGY

Pioneering]positivelchangelfordourplanet¥communitiesland[peoplel
(Gettinglonelstepiclosertolnetizeroleverylday;

PILLAR ONE
Reducing our impact today
for a better tomorrow

We work tirelessly to minimise the
environmental impact across our
operations.

= Focused on reducing the carbon
intensity of our flying.

« Tackling waste and plastic reduction

within easyJet and our supply chain.

Continuously addressing our

noise impact.

« Environmental management
system — ISO 14001 compliant.

PILLAR TWO
Pioneering future travel

easyJet’s support in the development of
zero carbon emission technologies will
shape the future of flying.
= Signed up to Race to Zero.
« Driving change to deliver our net zero
transition roadmap.
« Collaboration and partnerships
to achieve zero carbon emission aviation.
« Advocating for effective carbon
regulation and new technology.

PILLAR THREE
Driving positive change in society

Positively impacting our people, customers
and communities to maximise the social
and economic benefits of travel and
tourism.

» Creating an inclusive workplace.

+ Remaining an employer of choice.

» Making more sustainable travel
accessible to everyone through easyJet
holidays.

Supporting charitable causes that are
important to our customers and
employees.

Underpinned by strong governance and monitoring at Board level to drive delivery of this strategy

SUSTAINABILITY AND ESG GOVERNANCE

Further details on page 43 and page 82
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Materiality

To determine the priority sustainability
issues we need to address, we conducted
a fult materiality assessment in 2019 and
plan to refresh this in 2023. The
assessment gathered the views of key
stakeholders, including employees,
investors, suppliers, regulators, customers,
trade unions and non-governmental
organisations. The results were published in
our 2019 and 2020 Annual Reports and are
available at https://corporate.easyjet.com.

The assessment confirmed that the most
material sustainability issue for easyJet is
our carbon emissions and this is the

primary focus of our sustainability efforts,

addressed through risk management and
through the many partnerships and
activities described in this section of

the Annual Report. Other critical material
issues identified included health and safety,
fair employment and the management of
waste and plastics.

External recognition

Our sustainability activities and
performance are assessed by the key
sustainability ratings agencies that are
important to our investors. We have
achieved improved ratings year on year
with leading ratings providers Sustainalytics,
FTSE4Good and Transition Pathway
Initiative. In December 2021, we received a

B rating from CDP (Carbon Disclosure
Project) and in July 2022 an AA rating from
MSCI — both an improvement on 2021.

This year we won: the most effective ESG
programme in the transport sector in
Britain's Most Admired Company awards,
Best Sustainability and Inclusion initiatives
of the year in the Italian Mission awards and
the Sustainability award at the Professional
Clothing Industry Association Worldwide
awards for our new pilot and cabin crew
uniforms, produced from 100% recycled
plastic bottles. And Bristol Airport won the
Airports Council International Eco-
Innovation Award for the partnership
between easyJet and Bristo!l Airport.
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PILLAR ONE

We publish a range of ESG factsheets
I P T A on our website, to be read alongside
our FY22 Annual Report, which give .

na

FOR A BETTER TOMORROW

further data and information on ESG
topics such as human capital and
labour management; safety, quality
and governance; digital safety; and
environmental management. Go to
https://corporate.easyjet.com/
corporate-responsibility/sustainability

Overview

Reducing our direct organisational carbon
footprint (Scope 1and 2 emissions) has
been a long-term priority. In this financial
year easyJet set an interim target for a
35% reduction in emissions intensity, as
measured by CO,e/RTK (Revenue Tonne
Kilometre), and we were the first European
low-cost carrier to have this target
validated by the Science Based Targets
initiative (SBTi). We continue with our
relentless focus on fuel efficiency, and are
transitioning our fleet to more modern,
fuel-efficient aircraft. We have taken
delivery of a further eight Airbus NEO
aircraft this year, which now constitute 19%
of our fleet, and confirmed the order of a
further 56 A320neo family aircraft. We are
also constantly refining our operations and
optimising passenger loads to ensure
maximum efficiency.

Our environmental impact of course goes
beyond carbon emissions, and we continue
to address, assess and minimise issues
such as waste, the use of plastics and our
noise impact. This year easyJet was the
first European low-cost carrier to achieve
IEnvA Stage 2 certification for our

Environmental Management System (EMS).

Carbon governance and data
Mapping our carbon emissions
The measurement and reporting of our
carbon emissions are aligned to the
European Union’'s Emissions Trading

Scheme (EU ETS), the Greenhouse Gas
(GHG) Protocol and the recommendations
of the Task Force on Climate-related
Financial Disclosures (see pages 43 to 46).
They also meet the UK Government's
Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting
requirements, 2019.

The GHG Protocol categorises emissions in
three scopes:

« Scope 1- direct emissions from owned
and leased assets (typically combustion
of fossil fuels).

» Scope 2 - indirect emissions from
imported energy (typically grid
electricity) used in assets where easyJet
has direct operational control.

« Scope 3 — all other indirect emissions
resulting from upstream and
downstream business activity such as
supply chain, business travel and aircraft
components.

This year we have again worked with
Carbon Trust, a global climate change and
sustainability consultancy, on our carbon
mapping and reporting work.

Our carbon emissions are calculated and
expressed as a suite of carbon dioxide
equivalent (CO,e) figures in metric tonnes.
We use the operational control approach,
in which we include emissions from
activities where we control the operation
and use published emission factors issued
by competent authorities (such as UK
government departments including
DEFRA).

The carbon mapping work in the 2022
financial year estimated that 99.98% (2021
99.87%) of easyJet's organisational (Scope
1 and 2) carbon emissions was as a result
of the use of jet fuel across our fleet of
aircraft.

Carbon emissions methodology
We report both grams of carbon dioxide
per Revenue Passenger Kilometre and
grams of carbon dioxide equivalent per
Revenue Passenger Kilometre. We have
also included our carbon emissions
equivalent per Revenue Tonne Kilometre
(gC0,e/RTK) as this is the intensity metric
specified by the SBTi for their aviation
sectoral decarbonisation pathway and is
used by a number of other stakeholders.

Since the 2021 financial year, we have
expanded the scope of our reporting to
include fugitive emissions from chillers and
air-conditioning equipment which is
included in Scope 1.

From the 2020 financial year, we reviewed
our carbon intensity calculation
methodology, so that it aligns more closely
with established industry methodologies.
The methodology used follows the
protocols outlined in the BS EN 16258 —
2012, 'Methodology for calculation and
declaration of energy consumption and
GHG emissions of transport services
(freight and passengers)” document. This is
the methodology that airlines with

face the aviation industry today.

Environmental Management System (EMS)
To improve our environmental performance in a structured, systematic and documented way, we joined the IATA Environmental
Assessment (IEnvA), an EMS accreditation programme specifically developed for the airline sector by airlines, IATA and leading
experts in aviation environmental sustainability. [IEnvA provides airlines with guidance, aligned with internationally accepted
environmental management standard 1SO 14001:2015, to effectively address significant environmental sustainability matters that

Airlines are able to phase the implementation of the IEnvA programme with recognition as a Stage 1 or Stage 2 Operator. In early
2022 we achieved IATA IEnvA programme Stage 1 certification, for an'ISO 14001-compliant EMS.

In August 2022 we achieved Stage 2 certification, which made us the first low-cost carrier operating in Europe with an IEnvA
Stage 2 verified EMS and the first non-IATA member to participate in the IEnvA certification process. ‘

e Our environmental policy is available at https://corporate.easyjet.com/corporate-responsibility/policies

32 easyJet plc Annual Report and Accounts 2022



STRATEGIC REPORT

Greenhouse gas and energy performance

FY22

Fy2i
UK-only Global emissions UK-only Globat emissions
Global emissi emissions** (excl. UK) Global emissions emissions** (excl. UK)
Scope 1- tonnes of COe 6,421,434 2,601,877 3,819,557 2,114,961 803,463 1,311,498
Scope 2 ~ tonnes of CO.e* (o] 0 0 788 760 28
Total Scope 1 & 2 — tonnes of CO,e 6,421,434 2,601,877 3,819,557 2,115,749 804,223 1,311,526
Scope 3 - tonnes of CO,e 1,660,512 585,443
Total carbon footprint—=$1,28& 3
tonnes of CO.e 8,081,946 2,701,192
Scope 1energy use (kwh) 25,911,221,182 10,498,872,319 15,412,348,863 8,531,020,231 3,238,837,)86 5,292,183,044
Scope 2 energy use (kWh) 3,246,789 3,246,789 (o] 3,699,537 3.576.743 122,794
Total energy use (kWh)
Scope1& 2 25,914,467,971 10,502,119,108 15,412,348,863 8,534,719,768 3,242,413929 5,292,305,838
Carbon offsets in tonnes of CO,e 6,497,9M 220,772
* Zero Scope 2 CO,e as 100% renewable energy is sourced for sites where we have direct operational control (market-based).
** UK-only emissions cover emissions from flights operating under our UK Air Operating Certificate.
Carbon emissions/revenue passenger km
FY22 FY21
easyJet plc easyJdet plc easyJet plc easyJet plc
intensity metric gCO,/RPK gCO,e/RPK - gCO/RPK gCOe/RPK
Carbon emissions/revenue passenger km 70.36 71.07 81.08 81.89
Carbon emissions/revenue tonne km
FY22 FY21
easyJet plc easyJet plc easyJet plc easyJet plc
Intensity metric gCO,/RTK 9C0,e/RTK gCO/RTK gCO0,e/RTK
Carbon emissions/revenue tonne km 703.64 710.74 810.77 818.9

operations within the EU and beyond follow
to comply with the EU's Emissions Trading
System requirements. The UK ETS also
follows this methodology.

In 2021 we adopted the convention of
using Great Circle Distance (GCD) plus a
fixed correction factor of 95km for each
sector, as recommended by the EU ETS
reporting methodology. It is also in line with
the ICAO Carbon Emissions Calculator
Methodology. This approach is intended to
better reflect the actual distance flown in
each flight. Completed flight data, fuel in
tanks, fuel density, booked (revenue)
passengers and GCD are recorded for each
flight. Internal checking processes are
applied to data on a regular basis for the
purpose of ensuring data is of a high,
robust quality for internal and external
reporting requirements.

We have used the UK government’'s DEFRA
GHG Conversion Factors for Company
Reporting, which were last issued in June
2022.

@

Total carbon emissions

Our total carbon dioxide equivalent
emissions from the fuel used in our flights
was 6,390,927 tonnes CO,e in FY22,
compared to 2,112,906 in FY21.

This total figure for FY22 is significantly
higher than in FY2), reflecting the market
recovery from the effects of the pandemic.

Further detail on our methodology
can be found at https://corporate.
easyjet.com/corporaie-
responsibility/sustainability

Carbon emissions per

revenue passenger kilometre

Our per passenger kilometre intensity
metrics are expressed as grams of carbon
dioxide equivalent (gCO,e) per passenger
kilometre (RPK) and as grams of carbon
dioxide (gCO,) per passenger kilometre.
These metrics record how many grams of
CO,e and CO, are emitted on average for
each kilometre travelled by each passenger
on an easyJet aircraft. In FY22 our carbon
dioxide emissions per passenger kilometre
were 70.36gCO,/RPK, compared to
81.08g in FY21.

As in FY21, the pandemic continued to
have an effect on this intensity metric. The
first half of FY22 continued to be impacted
by travel restrictions, imposed due to the
spread of the Omicron variant, which
resulted in lower load factors than in a
typical year. As a result, the carbon
emissions from each flight were shared
between a smaller number of passengers,
thus increasing our intensity metric.

However, in the second half of FY22, we
were able to reduce this effect by
achieving load factors of over 90%
following the return to restriction-free

.travel, and by prioritising the use of A320/
A321neo aircraft, which are typically 15%
more efficient per seat kilometre flown
compared to the aircraft they replace,
resulting in the lowest annual carbon
intensity in easyJet’s history.

The impact of the Covid-19 pandemic and
related travel restrictions over the past two
and a half years was also the primary
reason we were not able to meet our 2017
target of a 10% reduction in carbon dioxide
emissions per passenger kilometre from
our flights by the end of FY22, compared
to our 2016 performance. We continue to
work every day to reduce our carbon
emissions and we have now published our
roadmap to net zero carbon emissions,
including an interim science-based target
of a 35% carbon emissions intensity
reduction by 2035, which has been
validated by the Science Based Targets
initiative (SBTI).

Since 2000, we have reduced our carbon
emissions per passenger, per kilometre by
one-third.

Third-party verification

Our intensity metrics are verified by a
third-party specialist auditor, Verifavia.
Verifavia used a reasonable assurance
approach to review easyJet's 2022 financial
year aircraft fuel burn, Revenue Passenger
Kilometre, Revenue Tonne Kilometre and
associated output CO, and CO,e KPIs. In this
financial year Verifavia has for the first time
also verified easyJet's Scope 2 emissions
and Scope 3, category 3 emissions
(upstream emissions due to fuel usage). In
FY22 the verified emissions equated to 96%
of easyJet's carbon footprint.

@

Verifavia's detailed assurance
statement is available at
hitps://corporate.easyjet.com/
corporate-responsibility/sustainability
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Internal carbon price

We set an internal carbon price based on
ETS costs for monitoring and evaluating
compliance obligations. By l,.lsing the
internal carbon price, we can track the
obligation costs in the current year, as well
as future years. The internal carbon price is
input into easyJet’s master financial models
that drive the five-year financial plan,
10-year funding mode! and budget. These
financial models forecast route profitability
and therefore influence both near- and
long-term commercial decisions such as
the routes that easyJet operates and the
frequency of service. The internal carbon
price also has a material influence on the
fleet plan, which defines the number and
type of aircraft in the easyJet fleet, and on
fleet-related capex as a result. Since FY21
the internal carbon price has been split by
region with different prices applied to UK
departures and EU departures in line with
the respective ETS schemes.

Non-carbon dioxide effects

We know that aviation also contributes to
non-carbon dioxide climate effects in the
atmosphere. However, scientific uncertainty
remains over the quantification and
‘methods of mitigation and so we are
engaging with a range of stakeholders to
address this, and also recognise the need
for more information gathering and
monitoring.

Any action on non-CO, needs to:

1) be full scope, as long-haul contrails are
the major driver of non-CO, effects;

2) account for the non-cumulative effects
of non-CO, effects; and

3) ensure a balanced approach aimed at
minimising the tota! climate impact of
aviation inclusive of CO, and non-CO,.

What we are doing to reduce
carbon impact

Efficient aircraft

easyJet is one of the largest single brand
operators of A320neo family aircraft in
Europe. All 168 new aircraft to be delivered
up to the 2029 financial year will be NEO
{New Engine Option) aircraft, at a list price
of $21 billion. These will join the 59 NEO
aircraft that are already in the fleet.

The NEO aircraft (easyJet has both A320
and A321 variants in our fleet), are Airbus’s
new generation of narrow-body aircraft,
replacing the CEO-type (Current Engine
Option) variants of the same model. -
Equipped with CFM International's LEAP-1A
engines, they are at least 15% more fuel
efficient than the aircraft they replace and
provide a 50% noise footprint reduction,
and significantly less NOx. Switching to
more fuel-efficient current generation
aircraft as well as up-gauging to larger
aircraft has a significant impact on
reducing carbon emissions in the short
term due to higher absolute fuel efficiency
and lower emissions per seat.

In addition to the NEO-technology aircvraft.
since 2013 our A320ceo aircraft have been
delivered with ‘Sharklet’ wingtips (also

- standard on the NEO variants), reducing

drag and fuel-burn by 2-3% per hour flown.
To further increase the efficiency of our
A320 fleet, 93% of it has either been
delivered in, or retrofitted to, the increased
density Spaceflex configuration. This space-
saving layout reconfigures unused space in
the rear galley, freeing up room for six
additional seats. The seats of these aircraft
have also been converted to the slimline
lightweight Recaro design (also standard
on all our NEO deliveries), further reducing
the weight (and fuel burn) of the aircraft.

Number of aircraft by type

Percentage
Aircraft type Number of fleet
A319 94 29%
A320 167 52%
A320neo 44 14%
A32Ineo 15 5%
Total 320

Operational improvements

and efficiencies

easyJet continues to operate its aircraft as
efficiently as possible and is always looking
for further efficiency improvements to
reduce fuel burn and therefore carbon
emissions. This includes adjusting standard
operating procedures, for example
single-engine taxiing on arrival and
departure, using advanced weather
information to improve navigation
performance and engine washing to
remove debris, which improves the air
turbine performance.

The airline is also using new software and
Al to identify further operational
efficiencies.

This is complemented by flight efficiency
partnerships with key stakeholders such as
Airbus, Collins Aerospace, NATS and
Eurocontrol. .

For example, this year easyJet signed an
agreement with Airbus to enable Descent
Profile Optimisation (DPO) and Continuous
Descent Approach (CDA) across our fleet.
Through this software upgrade, we will be
able to further reduce fuel burn and
emissions as our aircraft descend towards
their destinations at lower thrust settings.
Once rolled out across the fleet, easyJet
will have the largest DPO-enabled fleet in
the world. - .

We are also harnessing the power of Al
and big data through initiatives such as
the deployment of the SkyBreathe

fuel management tool. This solution
automatically collects and analyses data
from the easyJet fleet and combines them
with data from other sources such as
weather conditions and air traffic control
to identify the most relevant fuel saving
opportunities. This will enable the
implementation of the most efficient
operational procedures on the ground
and in the air.

This year easyJet also received the first
A320neo from Airbus equipped with the
latest Satellite Landing System (SLS) which
will enable pilots to perform ‘straight-in’
approaches into airports using satellite
positioning, even in low-visibility conditions.
All measures are taken only when safe and
practical to do so, within the constraints of
the operatiénal environment.
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Airspace modernisation

This is crucial for the entire industry as it
has strong potential for significant carbon
reductions in the short and medium term
as more direct flight paths lead to shorter
flying times and therefore reduced fuel
burn and resulting emissions. Airspace
modernisation has to be addressed on
both a national and pan-European level,
and is crucial for a more environmentally
optimised and efficient air traffic
management system.

easyJet is working with stakeholders and
public authorities to advocate for the
modernisation of airspace, including
projects such as the Single European Sky,
which has a stated ambition to deliver 10%
carbon emissions savings from European
aviation, and the UK's Airspace Change
Organising Group (ACOG). easyJet's
interim COO has been appointed to the
ACOG steering committee and is helping to
drive the required changes.

easyJet is also laying the foundations for
the airline to be equipped for an optimised
European airspace and has recently been
announced as the first airline evaluation
partner for Iris, a ground-breaking air traffic
management programme, led by Inmarsat,
the global leader in satellite
communications, together with the
European Space Agency and Airbus,
paving the way for more efficient air traffic
management: see case study right.

Airports

Last year we announced a partnership with
Bristol Airport to trial a number of )
sustainability initiatives across our
operations to reduce our carbon footprint,
which identified several areas for
improvement. During the trial we
introduced a push and hold process for
flight operations and also improved our
single engine taxi and Continuous Descent
Approach (CDA) performance. We also
improved onboard recycling performance.
Our trial managed to reduce carbon
emissions by 96% on the aircraft
turnaround, using electric ground-handling
equipment including ground power units,
baggage trolleys, belt loaders and steps.

Over a period of six months the trial
delivered a total carbon saving of 23,632 kg
which equates to the carbon savings of
nine households’ typical annual energy.

The initial learnings from the trial will be
embedded in our future operational
strategy. The trial also opened several
avenues for us to pursue, particularly
around the use of hydrogen, and we have
extended the partnership for a further
five years.

CASE STUDY: GROUND-BREAKING AIR
TRAFFIC COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEM

easyJet is the first airline partner of the revolutionary Iris programme, led by
Inmarsat and the European Space Agency (EASA), which will provide early
access to the transformative technology which enables airspace optimisation
that will ease congestion and reduce delays, fuel usage and emissions. )

Powered by Inmarsat's award-winning SwiftBroadband-Safety (SB-S)

connectivity platform, Iris enables new air traffic management functionalities

such as trajectory-based operations that pinpoint aircraft in four dimensions
(latitude. longitude, altitude and time}), which will allow easyJet to avoid

holding patterns, calculate the shortest available routes and optimum altitudes,
and benefit from continuous climb and descent pathways. The additional
datalink capacity provided by SB-S will power a host of powerful onboard
digital applications, such as Al flight profile optimisers and real-time

weather applications.

With the support of leading Air Navigation Service Providers (ANSPs), easyJet
will evaluate Iris's transformative capabilities on up to 11 Airbus A320neos.

The Iris programme is the culmination of years of work and over €50 million
investment by EASA, Inmarsat and more than 30 partners. Meanwhile we
advocate for governments to also take action to accelerate airspace efficiency,
i.e. for the EU27 to deliver the Single European Sky project and for the UK
government to deliver its UK airspace modernisation programme.

In ltaly, we have set up a partnership with
SEA, the group that manages the airports
of Milan Malpensa and Linate, to implement
more sustainable management of
operations at Milan airports.

Areas that the project will cover are the use
of Sustainable Aviation Fuel (SAF), research
into infrastructure requirements for
hydrogen propulsion, improvements in
waste management and recycling, as well
as the use of zero carbon emission ground
service equipment.

Noise reduction

easyJet continues to work hard on
reducing the noise impact of our aircraft
and flights. A large part of this is driven by
the acquisition of newer, quieter Airbus
A320neo and A32Ineo aircraft, powered by
CFM LEAP-1A engines, that meet ICAO
Chapter 14 regulations.

Flight crew also use specialist techniques
and procedures to minimise the impact of
noise. This could be adhering to noise
abatement procedures or flying continuous
descent approaches.

easyJet investigates any concerns raised
relating to noise procedures. This helps us
understand how we can improve
procedure design and flight planning to
reduce the impact of noise on those living
near airports or under flight paths.

Carbon offsetting

easyJet was the first airline worldwide to
offset carbon emissions from the fuel used
on all our flights. We also offset our
ground-based CO,e, and easyJet holidays
offsets the carbon from the energy used
for hote! stays and for in-destination
transfers. Since the launch in November
2019, we have offset 11,767,387 tonnes of
carbon emissions (19 November 2019-30
September 2022), with our portfolio of
projects meeting the high quality
certifications of either Gold Standard or
VCS (Verified Carbon Standard). Carbon
credit certificates are available at https://
corporate. easyjet.com/corporate-
responsibility/sustainability.

Offsetting has been an extremely valuable
interim measure, and as we move towards
the delivery of our net zero roadmap we
will transition our investment from
out-of-sector carbon offsetting into
supporting and facilitating the individual
elements of our roadmap, to decarbonise
our operations.

This is also aligned with the SBTi
requirement for airlines to decarbonise
within their own operation, which does not
take into account the use of out-of-sector
carbon offsetting or other market-based
mechanisms such as the EU Emissions
Trading System or CORSIA.

easyJet will continue to offset on behalf of
its customers, for all flights booked by the
end of this year. From January 2023, we
will offer a voluntary offsetting option for
our customers.
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Waste management

We generate a variety of waste streams in
our operations and are committed to
reducing waste across all our activities. We
apply the waste hierarchy (reduce, reuse
and recycle) to minimise the impact of
waste. A prime example of this is our new
crew uniforms made from recycled plastic
bottles. Forty-five bottles go into each outfit
— with the potential to prevent 2.7 million
plastic bottles from ending up in landfill or in
oceans over a five-year period.

In our offices we segregate recyclable
waste streams such as paper and
cardboard, aluminium cans, plastics and
food waste. In FY22 in our Luton campus,
we achieved 100% landfill diversion. In our
Engineering & Maintenance operations we
ensure hazardous waste is handled
appropriately and we are working towards
improved segregation of hazardous and
non-hazardous waste.

With respect to onboard waste, we
continue to segregate waste with
recyclables collected in a green bag, and
we continue to work with stakeholders to
improve recycling rates once waste is taken
off the aircraft.

Waste generated in easyJet
operations (excluding onboard waste)

Waste type Weight {by tonnes)
Card . 9.3
Crushed empty ol tins 39.1
Food 211
General commercial waste 154.0
Textiles 1.0
Waste oil and fuel 13.5
Scrap metal 1.4
Wood pallets 1.4
Hazardous waste 24.7
Mixed 37
Electrical and Electronic

Equipment (WEEE) 3.6
Total waste 272.8
Onboard waste projection

Metric FY22 FY21
Waste per passenger

(kg/pax)* 0.07 008
Total onboard waste

(thousand tonnes)** 492 161

*Average waste generated per passenger was
calculated based on the total cabin waste
generated from aircraft operations at Luton
Airport and the number of arriving passengers.
** Total onboard cabin waste generated,
including recycling, general waste and
international catering waste, calculated using
average waste per passenger and the total
number of easyJet passengers carried.

Onboard waste

Airlines and passengers have a strong
desire to do more in terms of reusing and
recycling. We communicate regularly with
our cabin crew community, emphasising
the importance of waste segregation, and
have created a new training module that
explains segregation procedures and what
happens to recyclable waste once it is
taken off the aircraft. This module has been
rolled out to all cabin crew and over 7,000
colleagues have completed it.

As an airline, we are not directly responsible
for the disposal of onboard waste, which is
typically handled by our ground-handling
and cleaning contractors. Waste is taken to
appropriate disposal facilities at airports,
with some materials being recovered for
recycling and some being sent to landfill or
incinerated.

Following the UK's departure from the EU,
International Catering Waste (ICW)
regulations now apply for flights between
both territories. The interpretation and
enforcement of ICW legislation often
means that all waste generated onboard is
deemed ICW, meaning that materials are
unnecessarily sent to incineration or deep
landfill, when they could be recycled.

Over the last year we continued to discuss
these issues of waste with partners at all 28
of our base airports to drive improvements
in waste segregation and increase recycling
rates, and we have also engaged with
regulators to encourage clearer guidance.

In partnership with Schiphol Airport,
PreZero and Menzies we undertook a
waste composition analysis. Every day
PreZero weighed a roll container (1300L)
with aircraft waste. All waste bags from the
container were sorted according to
streams. The different waste streams were
separated into different containers and
weighed per stream. The analysis showed
that 51% of our waste can be recycled,
leaving 49% of waste that must be
disposed of as ICW.

We continue to make changes to our
inflight food and drinks products and
service to reduce the amount of single-use
plastics used in our flights. For example, in
this financial year we removed 11.5 million
items of single-use plastic, introduced a
recycling programme for our dry stores
and made packaging changes which could
save two tonnes of plastic waste annually.
Since 2020 we have tracked the avoided
use of 48 million items of plastic across our
inflight service.

Hazardous waste

Hazardous and non-hazardous waste is
generated in our Engineering &
Maintenance operations. We are
committed to ensuring alt waste is handled
in a responsible manner and reused where
possible. Cardboard is reused for
transporting engineering parts, both in the
main hub and in outstations, and cleaning
clothes are made from recycled clothing
materials.

In 2022 we have worked to align the waste
procedures and standards across all
locations and to improve segregation of
hazardous waste and non-hazardous
waste. We rolled out a new waste
management contract covering our
operations at Bristol, Edinburgh, Glasgow
and Liverpool airports and we took the
opportunity to review the adequacy of
waste storage locations and facilities and
introduced new bins and labelling. Over the
next year we will be setting reduction and
improvement targets.

Sustainable premises

This year we engaged Schneider Electric to
monitor and manage energy and water
usage across our premises, which will drive
both environmental and cost efficiencies. In
respect of the facilities where easyJet has
direct operational control, easyJet reports
no Scope 2 carbon emissions as these
facilities now operate on 100% renewable
energy.

At the easyJet HQ in Luton we have
installed new energy-saving lighting in our
airside hangar, removing existing fittings
and installing LED equivalents. These new
fittings provide a higher lighting output and
are more energy efficient, with a 53%
energy saving within the first year,
equivalent to over 100 tonnes of CO,. We
have sensors and monitoring devices fitted
in all our operational buildings to ensure
that we minimise any unnecessary power
usage and we are in the process of
migrating across from LPG to electric for
heating our building; this will ensure we
optimise all fuel usage. We are also
upgrading the ventilation system with a
more sustainable electric alternative.

To help our UK colleagues reduce their
personal carbon footprint we launched a
new flexible electric car leasing scheme and
will be adding EV charging points at our HQ
car park. We extended Cycle to Work, a
salary sacrifice scheme for purchasing
bicycles, to allow access to additional
e-bike choices.
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PILLAR TWO

PIONEERING FUTURE TRAVEL
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Overview

We aim to lead the decarbonisation of
aviation and ultimately achieve zero carbon
emission flying across Europe. We are
committed to meeting the target of net
zero by 2050, and in order to do so are
supporting the development of zero
carbon emission technologies. We have
signed up to Race to Zero, and committed
to a science-based target for reducing our
carbon emissions. We are working with
many partners across the aviation sector to
achieve zero carbon emission aviation,
while advocating for effective carbon
regulation and new technology.

Future fuels

Sustainable Aviation Fuel

We believe SAF will be part of our
decarbonisation pathway, as and when it
becomes more widely available and
affordable. However, we do not see SAF as
the ultimate decarbonisation solution for
short-haul aviation, since current pathways
are not zero carbon emissions.

At present, SAF is typically several times
the price of jet fuel, but forecasts predict
that this differential will drop as SAF scales
and is adopted.

In the long term it is best suited to
long-haul flying where there may not be
alternatives for decarbonisation.

We will use SAF in line with our net zero
roadmap, until our fleet has transitioned to
net zero carbon emission aircraft to
achieve material lifecycle carbon emissions
reductions in comparison to kerosene. Last
year, easyJet was the first airline to operate
flights out of Gatwick Airport that were
powered by a 30% SAF blend. easyJet is
also fully implementing the French SAF
mandate, introduced in January 2022.

The airline is working with fuel suppliers to
enable it to fly on increasing amounts of
SAF over the coming years.

In August 2022 easyJet signed an
agreement with Q8 Aviation to supply our
SAF requirements for the next five years
aligned with national and EU mandates.

We support efforts to ensure strict

sustainability standards for alternative fuels
for use in aviation and we have signed joint
statements to appeal to the EU to prevent

the use of unsustainable feedstocks and
food-grade agricultural land for the
production of aviation biofuels in aviation,
and any use of palm oil that may
encourage high-impact production of the
crop.

Hydrogen — the key to

sustainable air travel

easyJet’s philosophy is that the cleanest
applicable energy source must be used for
a given application.

Zero carbon emission aircraft offer huge
potential to drive easyJet, and all short-haul
aviation, towards net zero.

Once available, zero carbon emission
technology would contribute to easyJet
reducing our carbon emissions intensity by
78% by 2050, with residual emissions
addressed by carbon removal technology.

While we are considering all options for
zero carbon emission flight, based on
today's technological advances, hydrogen
shows the most potential for a short-haul
airline like easyJet to decarbonise.
Hydrogen has no operational carbon
emissions, and in the case of green
hydrogen (produced through electrolysis of
water with renewable electricity), has no
lifecycle carbon emissions.

It also offers the potential to materially
reduce non-CO, effects, although further
research is required to better understand
the effects and how to mitigate them.

Hydrogen has almost universal appeal as
an energy source for hard-to-abate sectors
including aviation, logistics and heavy
industry. High demand for hydrogen is
anticipated from these sectors and the UK
and EU hydrogen strategies are increasing
in ambition.

The development of zero carbon emission
technology has accelerated exponentially
over the past two years, and easyJet is
working with key players in the sector,
including Airbus, Rolls-Royce, GKN
Aerospace, Cranfield Aerospace Solutions
and Wright Electric, to accelerate this. It is
a cross-industry effort to which easyJet
provides the airline and customer
perspective and demonstrates the
significant airline demand for zero carbon
emission aircraft.

Hydrogen infrastructure

and technology

We are going further than supporting the
development of the aircraft. We are
collaborating with partners to develop
hydrogen ecosystems - the infrastructure
and technology required to enable
commercial zero carbon emission flying at
scale. We have partnerships with Bristol
Airport, SEA Milan Airports, Airbus and
Hydrogen South West (HSW). We also
engage in wider studies including those
being conducted by Cranfield University,
Target True Zero (World Economic Forum)
and the International Council for Clean
Transportation.

Carbon removal

To reach net zero by 2050 easyJet, and
the airline industry, will have to remove
residual carbon from the atmosphere
through durable carbon removals. These
have been formally recognised as being
critical to a net zero world by the
Intergovernmental Panel on Climate
Change (IPCC). Direct Air Carbon Capture
and Storage (DACCS) is a nascent
technology that offers huge potential. In
the 2022 financial year we were one of the
first airlines in the world to commit to this
technology by joining a coalition initiated by
Airbus, 1PointFive and Carbon Engineering,
which will lead to easyJet securing future
carbon removal credits from a facility
based in the Permian Basin in Texas (see
case study on page 38).

As part of the DACCS coalition, we and our
partners will also be advocating for carbon
removals to be formally recognised as
equivalent to ETS allowances in order to
encourage further uptake from the
industry.
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Our partners

Airbus

Our strategic partnership with Airbus
supports their ambition to develop a zero
emission, hydrogen-powered commercial
aircraft by 2035.

In 2019 we signed a Memorandum of
Understanding with Airbus for research on
electric, hybrid-electric and hydrogen
aircraft, to study operational and
infrastructure opportunities and challenges
with new propulsion technologies.

@

- Zero-emission
Power source

Direct Air Carbon Capture and Storage
(DACCS) is a high-potential
technology that captures carbon
dioxide directly from the atmosphere
and stores it securely underground.

Rolls-Royce

At the Farnborough Airshow in July 2022
easyJet and Rolls-Royce announced a
ground-breaking partnership pioneering the
development of hydrogen combustion
engine technology capable of powering a
range of aircraft, including those in the
narrow-body market segment.

We committed to working together on a
series of engine tests on the ground and
have a shared ambition to take the
technology into the air. The objective of the
partnership is to demonstrate that
hydrogen has the potential to power a
range of aircraft from the mid-2030s
onwards.

White Rolls-Royce brings its expertise in
engine development and combustion
systems, easyJet contributes its operational
knowledge and experience and will also
directly invest in the test programme.

In September 2020, Airbus unveiled three
ZEROe hydrogen-powered concept planes:
a turbofan, a turboprop and a blended
wing body fuelled aircraft concept.

The programme is gaining momentum, and
Airbus now has a ground and flight test
programme planned using an A380 test
aircraft, and also has the BlueCondor
project, a glider that has a hydrogen
combustion engine attached, which is used
to measure emissions and performance in
flight.

Ambient Air
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Captured CO,
Stored in underground
saline formations

When scaled, it will help counteract carbon
emissions and even address historic
carbon. It forms an essential element of our
net zero roadmap since decarbonising a
hard-to-abate sector such as aviation is a

Alongside the test programme, we are also
supporting Rolls-Royce’s research by
providing our commercial and operational
expertise to inform their designs and
specifications for clean sheet hydrogen
engines.

GKN Aerospace

We are working with GKN Aerospace to
support the development of Hydrogen
Combustion (H2JET) and Hydrogen Fuel
Cell (H2GEAR) technology, including
exploring the options for flight
demonstration. H2GEAR is a GKN
Aerospace-led UK collaboration
programme aiming to develop a liquid
hydrogen propulsion system for sub-
regional aircraft that could be scated up to
larger aircraft. It is supported by £27 million
of Aerospace Technology Institute funding.
H2JET is a two-year Swedish collaborative
programme led by GKN Aerospace to push
development of key subsystems for gas
turbine-based hydrogen propulsion of
medium-range civil aircraft.

®

easyJet’s collaboration with the programme
includes supporting the development of
the commercial and operational
requirements of zero carbon emission
aircraft as well as studies into hydrogen
supply and airport infrastructure.

CASE STUDY: DIRECT AIR CARBON CAPTURE AND STORAGE

Direct Air Carbon Capture: o
Ambient air is passed through o
filters which extract CO, N

Storage: Captured COyis
compressed and injected into
saline formations over a kilometre
below the earth'’s surface

huge challenge. We have signed a ,
Letter of Intent with Airbus to support
development of carbon removal
technology and a supply of carbon
removal credits from 2025 to 2028.

Cranfield Aerospace Solutions

We are working with Cranfield Aerospace
Solutions to support the development of its
hydrogen fuel cell propulsion system for
commercial aircraft. Cranfield Aerospace
Solutions is developing the system for an
existing nine-seat Britten-Norman iIslander
aircraft, which is being retrofitted and
prepared for its first flight in 2023.

This aircraft could be one of the first
hydrogen powered aircraft to fly and will be
a key step towards the development of
larger commercial aircraft, the
infrastructure to support them and the
operational and safety procedures that will
be critical to the industry.

Wright Electric

We have been supporting the development
of Wright Electric’s zero emission aircraft
since 2017. Wright Electric announced in
November 2021 that they are launching the
world's first zero emission aircraft for the
regional jet market.
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The "Wright Spirit’ aircraft is designed for
the 100-passenger market for one-hour
flights and will incorporate Wright's
megawatt-class electric propulsion system

on a BAe 146 regional jet platform. In 2022,

Wright tested its electric jet engine
designed for the Wright Spirit at a
laboratory managed by the Federal
Aviation Administration, and in 2023-24
Wright will begin testing at high altitude.

Project ACORN — H2-powered

airside equipment

This collaboration with Bristol Airport and
ground-handling suppliers aims to
introduce hydrogen-powered ground
service equipment, which will start the
process of using hydrogen airside by
developing operationa! procedures and
safety standards and helping shape the
regulatory environment.

Hydrogen South West (HSW)
Regional hydrogen ecosystems are a
critical first step to pave the way for
hydrogen-powered zero carbon emission
aircraft during the next decade.

CASE STUDY: ROLLS-ROYCE ENGINE TESTS

During Farnborough Airshow 2022, Rolls-Royce and easyJet announced plans to
work together on a hydrogen engine technology development programme with
the ultimate ambition to take the technology to flight test. Just a few months
later, the partnership has already reached its first milestone, with Rolls-Royce
successfully conducting a series of hydrogen combustion ground tests on an

AE2100 engine at Boscombe Down.

We are supporting the development of a
regional hydrogen economy in the South
West of England in a project called
Hydrogen South West (HSW), which aims
to develop the production, transport,
storage and use of hydrogen in the region
across a number of sectors.

SEA Milan airports

In 2022 we launched a partnership with
SEA, the operator of Milan Malpensa and
Linate Airports, on implementation of more
sustainable operations at scale including
the use of Sustainable Aviation Fuel (SAF),
research into hydrogen infrastructure
requirements, improvements in waste
management and recycling, and the use of
zero emissions ground service equipment.
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This graphic provides an overview of the elements of easyJet's path to net zero and our partnerships that drive it. At the

heart of it are our technology partnerships on engine and aircraft development. These are complemented by our
collaborations across the value chain including airports and the hydrogen ecosystem. Also included are a number of
efficiency measures and cooperations with airspace modernisation projects that will drive down emissions in the short to
medium term, and our DACCS coalition that aims to accelerate the development of carbon removal technologies.
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PILLAR THREE

DRIVING POSITIVE CHANGE IN SOCIETY
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Overview

Beyond our efforts to reduce our
environmental impact we want to make a
positive contribution to the lives of our
people, our customers and the communities
where we operate. We aim to spread the
social and economic benefits of travel and
tourism by widening access to travel that is
more sustainable, becoming an employer
of choice and creating local jobs. We
engage with our customers, our people
and wider stakeholders to drive sustainable
change.

Pioneering sustainable tourism
The negative environmental impacts of
aviation are very real, but these must be
balanced against the social and economic
benefits that aviation creates — connecting
people, reuniting friends and family,
providing new social, cultural and
educational experiences and, critically,
providing economic prosperity. The
European Union's recently published Clean
Sky report estimates that aviation
accounted for 4.5% of European GDP,
around €725 billion, and 1 million jobs in
2019. It is expected to support up to 18.5
million jobs by 2050.

We are shaping the next generation of
travel by leading the way with initiatives
that will make tourism more sustainable,
affordable and accessible. Since its launch
in 2019, easyJet holidays has committed to
leading the industry in sustainability and in
May 2021 it became the first major UK tour
operator to offset all carbon emissions
directly associated with its package
holidays, including fuel for flights, transfers
and energy from hotel stays.

easyJet holidays is developing new ways of
making travel more sustainable through its

innovative partnerships with a range of
influential organisations. Its work with
international sustainable tourism
organisation, the Travel Foundation, brings
together stakeholders from destination
communities and the industry to develop
practical solutions to minimise negative
impacts of tourism.

In November 2021 easyJet holidays and the
University of Oxford collaborated to form
The Oxford SDG Impact Lab to tackle
some of the big sustainable tourism
challenges.

e -

Food waste

CASE STUDY: THE OXFORD SDG IMPACT LAB

Findings and recommendations from our Sustainable Tourism Programme

Long stays

The Oxford SDG Impact Lab team conducted their field lab in
Tenerife, investigating food waste on the island, and found
that 18% of food wasted is generated by the hospitality
industry. Additionally, hotel partners have limited to no
measures in place to prevent and reduce food waste, nor the
ability to accurately quantify the food waste they generate.
Following on from these findings, easyJet holidays is
partnering with Winnow to pilot a food waste reduction
scheme in a key partner's hotel. Winnow develops Artificial
Intelligence tools to help chefs run more profitable and
sustainable kitchens by cutting food waste in half. Winnow is
a registered B corporation working internationally in 67
countries, easyJet holidays plans to work with further hotel
partners to replicate the results based on a successful trial
from this initiative.

As part of their preliminary research, members of The Oxford
SDG Impact Lab identified the sustainability benefits of
extended holidays, stepping away from traditional weekly or
fortnightly breaks during high season. Not only does taking one
extended trip instead of muitiple per year reduce the carbon
impact from flights, but holidaying in seasonal resorts during
the shoulder seasons also helps to spread the positive impacts
of tourism over the course of the year. Shoulder season stays
support the local economy and excursion providers, decrease
reliance on air conditioning systems and reduce the
concentrated impact on natural resources. This research
supports easyJet holidays’ decision to launch its ‘winter-long
stays’, offering 28-night packages to destinations across Europe
during the shoulder season. ’
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The programme saw 20 graduate students
conduct field research to improve key
areas of social and environmental
development in communities where
easyJet holidays operates, in a way that
ensures progress against the UN's
Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs).
Following the success of the programme
and its recommendations, opposite,
easyJet holidays will continue to partner
the Lab for a second year.

easyJet holidays joined the Global
Sustainable Tourism Council (GSTC) in
2021. The GSTC was created jointly by UN
agencies and international conservation
NGOs to develop global standards for
sustainability in travel and tourism. It
supports hotel partners to achieve
GSTC-recognised certification, meaning the
accommodation complies with high social
and environmental standards. Hotels which
meet the certification have joined a new
‘eco certified’ collection on the easyJet
holidays website, which makes it easier for
customers to make more sustainable
choices for their holiday.

Engaging our stakeholders
in sustainability
Building close relationships with our
customers, our people and our external
stakeholders is important to ensuring we
meet our sustainability objectives, including
building a diverse workforce, meeting our
emissions and waste targets and
influencing the wider aviation industry to be
more sustainable.

Read more about our relationships
with our stakeholders on pages 26
{0 29.

Engaging our customers

We regularly communicate with our airline
and holiday customers about sustainability,
including during the booking process and
on board. This year we focused on our
work to reduce the carbon impact of our
operations, our carbon offsetting for the
fuel used on all our flights and the
development of new technology to
decarbonise aviation. We also have a
dedicated, customer-facing website

area about our sustainability activities:
easyjet.com/sustainability

Engaging our colleagues

Our colleagues are key to our ability to
deliver a more sustainable airfine. We rely
on our pilots to put into action fuel
efficiency procedures and our cabin crew
to sort onboard waste. We have regular
sustainability training for both pilots and
cabin crew. Colleagues including line-
maintenance engineers and internal
auditors have regular formal environmental
management training and it is incorporated
into induction training for new colleagues.

We communicate frequently with our
colleagues about sustainability, our
activities and the role they can play. We

CASE STUDY: CORPORATE CUSTOMER
CARBON CERTIFICATES

Companies are increasingly looking to fly with airlines which help them to reduce
their carbon footprint. To help companies account for their emissions, we have
launched carbon emissions reporting for corporate customers to help them track
their Scope 3 emissions from business travel. The certificates are based on real
flown data and enable our customers to set objectives for future travel.

The provision of this carbon data has facilitated deep engagement with suppliers
on sustainability issues and led to us being acknowliedged as pioneers, reflected
in this enthusiastic feedback from one of our corporate customers, a major
construction company: "We have been able to use the data provided by easyJet
to enhance our Scope 3 GHG emissions reporting. It has provided us with a
better understanding of the significance of this GHG emissions source in relation
to our operations and what steps must be taken to achieve our net zero targets.”

have an active sustainability workplace
forum on our intranet with over

700 members, where colleagues can share
feedback and ideas and exchange views on
sustainable aviation issues and easyJet's
strategy. Sustainability features on our
main intranet forum ‘Inside’, with materials,
interviews and links to events where our
senior managers are speaking.

We involve colleagues wherever possible,
such as at the launch of our net zero
roadmap in September 2022, where
around 100 colleagues participated in
person in the event, which showcased
many of the innovations that will enable
sustainable aviation and which was
live-streamed across the organisation.

For further information on our
engagement with our people
see pages 24 to 27.

Engaging the next generation
We are working towards an inclusive
workplace and as part of our drive to
increase diversity we have a number of
initiatives aimed at encouraging young
people to consider a career in aviation.

With around only 6% of pilots worldwide
being women, we are tackling this
industry-wide gender imbalance head-on,
through our programme of schoo! visits
where our pilots, including many of our
female pilots, give young people across our
European network the opportunity to find
out what being a pilot is really like, and
show that it can be a job for everyone.

This year, for the first time since the start
the pandemic, we relaunched our
Generation easyJet Pilot Training
Programme, to train and recruit 1,000
cadet pilots over the next five years. The
recruitment drive has been supported by
Europe-wide recruitment campaigns to
attract more diverse candidates and
challenge stereotypes about becoming an
airline pilot. Our ‘Pilots Wanted' media

campaign featured real-life easyJet pilots
from all walks of life and showcased a
range of important skills that can be
applied to flying. In the summer, our
‘Mavericks Wanted' campaign parodied
all-male blockbuster movie ‘Top Gun' by
putting girls in the lead roles, with the aim
of tackling gendered stereotypes of jobs in
aviation and inspiring more young people
to consider a career in the industry.

We also engaged younger generations in a
competition that challenged bright young
minds to design a zero emission passenger
plane, to inspire them to become part of
the future of air travel as aircraft designers
and engineers.

Engaging with industry peers to
drive change

We continue to engage with policymakers
across the UK and Europe on how to
address carbon emissions and stimulate
the technological innovation that will be
needed for zero carbon emission aviation.
We participate in industry groups and
forums that contribute to public policy
development in sustainability. These include
the Aerospace Technology Institute, the
Airspace Change Organisation Group,
Airlines for Europe, Airlines UK, the Global
Sustainable Tourism Council, Sustainable
Aviation, the World Economic Forum's Target
True Zero coalition, the pan-European
Alliance for Zero Emission Aviation and the
New Aviation, Propulsion, Knowledge and
Innovation Network (NAPKIN).

Jet Zero Council

Our Chief Executive Officer, Johan
Lundgren, is @ member of the UK
Government's Jet Zero Council. Members
of our Sustainability, Policy and Operations
teams also participate in discussions within
the Council and its working groups. The Jet
Zero Councll brings together the UK
government and industry to accelerate the
development of a UK Sustainable Aviation
Fuel industry and to commercialise zero
emission flight.
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Our public policy positions

- promote effective climate.

regulation and decarbonisation

technologies for aviation

Our Sustainability Governance framework
seeks to ensure that all engagement on
policy is consistent with our Sustainability
Strategy. The Sustainability team works
closely with easyJet's Regulatory Affairs
and Public ‘Affairs teams who provide
policymakers with information about *
easyJet’s work on sustainability and how
airlines can work with governments to
address the impact of aviation on climate
change. }

In 2021 easyJet welcomed the ambition of
the EU's Fit for 55 package and outlined
how effective aviation tax reform, based on
the ‘polluter pays’ principle, would enable a
" low-carbon transition for the aviation
sector. easyJet continuously advocates for
greater coverage of the Fit for 55
proposals, by expanding climate measures
to all flights departing the European
Ecpnomic Area (EEA).

" This year, we issued joint statements with
NGOs and other airlines asking the EU to
apply the Sustainable Aviation Fuel mandate -
to all EEA departing flights and ensure strict
sustainability standards for biofuels in
aviation. We joined a statement with NGO
Transport & Environment to ask the EU to
apply the EU's Emissions Trading System
(ETS) to all EEA departing flights. We
co-commissioned an independent study
demonstrating that this would increase the
efficiency of EU climate law and protect
European tourism. We publicly opposed the
exclusion of feeder flights from the EU ETS.
‘Our positive engagement on effective
climate policy has been acknowledged by
Influence Map’s 2021 and 2022 rating, where
we were ranked first among European airlines
in terms of climate advocacy.

easyJet engages with third parties to
support projects such as the Single
European SKy (SES) and the UK's airspace
modernisation programme. Airspace
modernisation is crucial for reducing
aviation's emissions, particularly over the
short term. The SES has stated an ambition
to deliver 10% carbon emissions savings

from European aviation. However the SES,

and other modernisation projects, require
support from third-party stakeholders to
succeed. easyJet is also one of the
founding members of the Single European
Sky ATM Research (SESAR) 3 Joint

"Undertaking and recently became the first

airline evaluation partner for Iris, a ground-
breaking air traffic management
programme. easy.Jet has also made a multi-
million-pound fleet-wide investment into
the latest aircraft software to optimise
aircraft descents.

in the UK we have been engaging with the
Department for Transport and the

. Department for Business, Energy and

Industrial Strategy over the UK's SAF
mandate and revision of the UK ETS. We
have advocated for greater coverage of
climate laws, so that all UK departing flights
are covered by the measures. Applying
measures to all departures, as opposed to
only intra-EEA flights, increases the
emissions from departing flights covered
by the laws from roughly 25%-40%,
depending on the jurisdiction, to 100%.

Full decarbonisation cannot happen
without governments’ support to
accelerate change. easyJet advocates for
public institutions to:

« Expand effective carbon pricing, through
the EU and UK ETS, to all EEA and UK

departures, while ringfencing a portion of

- the ETS revenues for decarbonising
aviation.

b

Su'pport the development oflzero carbon

" emission technology:

« Develop a regulatory framework which
incentivises aircraft manufacturers to
produce zero carbon emission aircraft
and airlines to adopt the technology.

» Create investment and financial -

incentives for funding the

development and scaling-up of zero

carbon emission technology. o

Recognise the role of green hydrogen

in aviation'by incorporating the

requirements of aviation in UK and EU

hydrogen strategies. i

+ Invest in renewable energy to support

the creation of green hydrogen for

aviation.

incorporate hydrogen as a SAF-

equivalent in EU and UK SAF

mandates. '

Support the development of hydrogen

supply and infrastructure at airports.

.

.

Ensure passenger taxes reflect emissions
to incentivise efficiency and the move
towards zero carbon emission aircraft,
and ringfence a portion of tax revenues
for decarbonising aviation.

For the EU27 national governments to
make rapid improvements in national
airspace efficiency plus deliver on the
Single European Sky project for airspace
modernisation.

For the UK government to deliver on its
stated ambitions for UK Airspace
Modernisation.

Recognition and incentivisation of the
contribution of carbon removal
technology to meet net zero targets. .
Carbon removal credits should be
equivalent to ETS allowances.

UNICEF
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TASK FORCE ON CLIMATE-RELATED
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES

We are committed to complying with the recommendations and recommended
disclosures of the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD),
taking into account the TCFD All Sector Guidance, and we consider the
disclosures set out on the following pages to be consistent with these guidelines.

Governance
(a) The Board's oversight of climate-

related risks and opportunities
Climate-related issues are discussed by the
Board through regular sustainability
updates as well as specific Board
discussions to approve key climate-related
decisions such as the net zero roadmap
and associated capital expenditure, as
evidenced on pages 86 and 87; for relevant
Board expertise, see page 78. The Audit
Committee has reviewed the climate
transition risks during the year as part of its
review of principal risks, as set out in its
report on page 101. Additionally, climate-
related issues are regularly discussed by
the Airline Management Board (AMB),
which is an executive committee of the
functional leaders across the Group. The
AMB is led by the Chief Executive Officer
(CEOQ), who is a member of the plc Board
and is ultimately responsible for climate-
related issues.

The AMB's members (which include the
CFO and CEO, who are plc Board
members) are collectively responsible for
assessing and managing climate-related
risks and opportunities, as well as driving
the performance of the Group against
strategic KPIs, including carbon emission
targets, and managing the allocation of
central funds and capital. CEO and CFO
remuneration is aligned with sustainability
targets for FY22. This includes delivery of
the net zero roadmap, Stage 1 and Stage 2
IEnvA certification for the Environmental
Management System (EMS), developing
the Climate Change Risk Register and
improving ESG reporting and performance.
This is also set out in the Directors’
Remuneration Report on page 113.

’ See page 31 for an overview of the

sustainability governance structure.

(b) Management'’s role in assessing
and managing climate-related risks

and opportunities

easyJet has a Sustainability Steering
Committee, which meets regularly and‘
comprises several AMB members including
the CFO, Chief Operating Officer (COO),
Group General Counsel & Company
Secretary, CEO easyJet holidays and Group
Markets Director (Chair) as well as the
Director of Sustainability, Director of Tax
and Fuel and the HR and People
Development Director. The Sustainability
Steering Committee is responsible for our
Sustainability Strategy, driving key
sustainability-related decisions, such as on
technology partnerships and programmes
that support our net zero pathway,
delivering against strategic KPIs and the
consideration and disclosure of climate-
related risks and opportunities. In FY22 we
expanded our dedicated Sustainability
team, which develops and coordinates
implementation of the Sustainability
Strategy, working with management and
teams across the Group.

Strategy
(a) The climate-related risks and
opportunities we have identified over

the short, medium and long term
Risks and opportunities are dynamically
reviewed and developed as part of the
corporate risk management framework
which ensures a unified and collaborative
risk management approach and best
practice across the Group. easyJet defines

the time horizons for climate risk as follows:

» Short — O-1 year — aligned with budget

» Medium —1-5 years — aligned with
corporate strategy and financial plan

+ Long — 5-30 years — aligned with
commitment to reach net zero by 2050

The key risks identified by the business
using the risk framework, and subsequently
reviewed by the plc Board, fall into seven
broad themes — one of which is the climate
change transition risk, as outlined in the risk
section on page 67.

In FY20 easyJet appointed Risilience
(formerly known as Cambridge Centre for
Risk Studies), an enterprise risk
management specialist, to assess our
exposure to climate-related risks and
opportunities under four global average-
temperature-increase scenarios. The
Group's current portfolio and business
activities were modelled assuming no
climate actions are undertaken. TCFD
categorisation was used to define transition
and physical risk definitions and scope, and
each risk was modelled independently. The
work commenced in early FY21 and .
focused on physical and transition risks that
could occur by 2040. This long-term
20-year period was broken down into
five-year phases to identify which risks
easyJet could be exposed to in the short
and medium term, aligned with easyJet's
budget and corporate strategy timeframes.

The assessment was made using
workshops and interviews with key internal
stakeholders regarding the potential

financial risks to our business operations
associated with physical and transition risks.
Risilience then undertook scenario
modelling of each climate risk against
easyJet’s current commercial and physical
footprint. This included the potential
financial impacts of transition risks such as
changing climate and carbon-related taxes
and regulatory changes on a country level
as well as physical risks.

easyJet has assessed the financial impact
of climate change transition risks against
the organisation’s threshold for what
constitutes a risk of ‘major concern' i.e.
substantive financial or strategic level of
impact and ‘above risk tolerance’. This
metric is defined by the overall Group
materiality principle of 1% of total assets
equating to a threshold of £104 million
which is defined in this report.

This assessment has been reviewed and
updated in FY22 to reflect the evolving
landscape.
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Transition risks
easyJet has identified six transition risk areas:

« Compliance costs: Financial impact of
coordinated regulatory action to increase
the costs of emitting GHGs.

s Legal: Legislation and litigation to disrupt
companies that do not take sufficient
action on GHG reduction.

+ Technology: Transition to low-carbon
emissions technology and products
drives increased total operating costs,
impairment on existing assets and
delivery risk.

« Consumer sentiment: Consumer

preferences shift to lower emissions

alternatives on a market level resulting in

demand suppression. .

Investor/market sentiment: Preferences

shift away from carbon-intensive

businesses, resulting in increasing
challenges to attract investment and/or
financing.

« Reputation: Climate activism towards
organisations and industries that are
seen as being slow to transition towards
a low-carbon economy.

We have identified specific risks within
these transition risk areas. These include:

Carbon pricing mechanisms (short to

medium-term)

Future policy measures and regulation, to
tackle the impact of aviation on climate
change such as escalating costs of carbon
emissions, introduction of non-CO,
emissions taxes and the proposed
withdrawal of Emissions Trading System
(ETS) free allowances for the aviation
sector, could translate into significant costs
for all airlines. This could potentially affect
easyJet carbon emissions that are within
the scope of three ETS schemes — UK, EU
and Switzerland — which included 80% of
our flying carbon emissions in FY22.

Sustainable Aviation Fuel (SAF) mandates

(medium to long term)

Emerging SAF mandates in the UK and EU
will require fue! suppliers to provide
kerosene with a specified blend of SAF at
airports in that country or region. Airlines
lifting fuel in these countries will therefore
be subject to the additional costs
associated with the supply of SAF. easyJet
has signed a SAF supply agreement with
Q8, one of our key fuel suppliers, creating a
contractual obligation on Q8 to supply
volumes of SAF that at least meet
minimum mandate requirements over the
next five years, in order to secure certainty
of supply.

We also have flexibility in our SAF
agreement to procure up to 10% more than
mandated volumes in order to manage the
risk that other levers' contribution to our
carbon intensity reduction targets fall short.

Technology transition costs (long term)
Capex and operational costs associated
with the introduction of new technology
such as next-generation aircraft, alternative
fuels and carbon removals, and potential
depreciation impacts on older assets.

Physical risks

The Risilience analysis highlighted the acute
and chronic physical risks that could impact
our business. These relate to extreme
weather events as well as long-term
environmental changes. The physical risks
were evaluated on a geographical level
(with the world divided into 1°x1° grid cells
and potential physical risk assessed
according to the physical geography of
such units) and include the following:

« Operational disruption: due to extreme
weather events in the short, medium and
long term.

Risks summary

Risilience quantified easyJet's climate
change risks using a five-year Enterprise
Value at Risk (SyrEV@Risk) metric for the
period FY23-27, which shows how the risks
would impact discounted cash flows over
five years according to different scenarios,
aligned with the timeframe for easyJet's
budget, corporate strategy and financial
planning process. The long-term risk levels
have been determined based on the
quantified short-to-medium term risks and
the long-term impact and likelihood as
outlined in easyJet’s Corporate Risk Register.

The table below provides an indication of
the directional change in risk relative to the
present day, based on a well-below 2°C
climate-related scenario and in the absence
of actions taken by easyJet to manage our
climate change transition. The risks
identified as green are valued in the
FY23-27 period as being below the Group
materiality threshold of £104 million, and
risks identified as amber or red are above
that materiality threshold.

Medium tong term

» Market disruption: changing demand Risk S{‘g.’,‘ o (5 yeors y(:a?g
patterns due to climate change in the Compliance
long term. costs PY P °®
Due to the nature of our business, easyJet Legal [ ) [ J ®
;ould be exposed to both on-the-ground Technology PY PY PY
impacts (such as heavy rainfall and flooding Consumer
_affectlng airport infrastructure) and aerial sentiment ® ® °
impacts (such as more severe storms,
extreme wind or hailstorms). The Investor/
geographic spread of physical risk types marlfet
varies depending on the specific location sentiment Ld hd hd
— for instance, coastal flooding was Reputation hd hd hd
modelled as being more pronounced in Physical [ ] ® ®
low-lying areas of North Western Europe ! .
such as the Netherlands, whereas ®low ®Medium @ High
heatwave risk was higher in inland regions
of-Spain, Portugal and France. As an airline
operator we have some flexibility to adapt
network and operations to respond to
changing geographic risk.
Opportunities summary
The key opportunities easyJet has identified are outlined below. The size of the bubble
indicates the relative impact at each time horizon.
Short term  Medium term Long term
Opportunity (O-1year) (1-5 years) (5-30 years)
Fleet renewal: the use of more efficient Airbus -] ® ®
+NEO aircraft, which reduce our fuel burn, carbon
"emissions and related costs — easyJet has 168 A320neo
family aircraft on order valued at $21 billion at list prices
Optimising flight operations: initiatives to minimise fuel | ] ° [ )
burn, carbon emissions and related costs
Supporting development of zero carbon emission flight: [ [ ®

. collaborations with industry partners including Rolls-Royce,
Airbus, GKN, and Cranfield Aerospace Solutions, which will
'be a key long-term driver to decarbonise the industry

Shifting consumer preferences: opportunity for easyJet L [ ] ®
to build brand preference and loyalty as consumer
.preferences shift towards organisations that are

committed to tackling climate change
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(b) The impact of climate-related risks
and opportunities on our businesses,

strategy and financial planning
Climate-related risks and opportunities are
integrated into the organisation’s strategic
plan and financial plan and have a material
influence on major business decisions.
These include our fleet strategy centred on
fleet portfolio decisions and the purchase
of next-generation aircraft, an increased
focus on fuel-saving initiatives to refine our
operation, entering into partnerships with
entities at the vanguard of decarbonisation
technologies and investigations into
transitioning from fossil fuels to electric
power for airport ground operations. Costs
associated with carbon, i.e. costs related to
SAF and to ETS, are incorporated into our
five-year financial plan and inform key
longer-term decisions sych as fleet
planning. In addition to climate-specific
actions, sustainability is being embedded
into the daily management of the Group
and for our efforts, easyJet has been
awarded full IATA IEnvA certification for
our Environmental Management System,
the first low-cost airline to achieve this
accreditation.

Transition plan — net zero roadmap

In November 2021 easyJet joined the
UN-backed Race to Zero, through which
we committed to set an interim science-
based target for 2035 and reach net zero
carbon emissions by 2050. In 2022 we set
the interim target of 35% reduction in GHG
emissions intensity by 2035, and we were
the first low-cost carrier in Europe to have
our target validated by the Science Based
Target initiative (SBTi). easyJet’s net zero
roadmap provides the framework with
which to achieve these targets. The
pathway defines the levers with which we
intend to decarbonise airline operations,
along with how, when and to what extent
we need to use them, materially affecting
business decisions over the short, medium
and long term.

The net zero roadmap is aligned to the
SBTi aviation sectoral decarbonisation
pathway, which is aligned to the Paris
Agreement scenario (well below 2°C).
However, in the long term, easyJet’s
pathway drives emissions intensity
reductions that exceed the requirements of
the SBTi pathway.

In the short to medium term, our focus will
be on maximising efficiency and using
Sustainable Aviation Fuel (SAF) in line with
mandated requirements. These initiatives
will continue into the long term. This will
involve the following:

« Fleet renewal with Airbus NEO aircraft,
which are at least 15% more efficient
than the aircraft they replace.

« Airspace modernisation, which will lead
to more direct flight routings.

» A suite of operational efficiency
initiatives that minimise fuel burn at
various stages of flight.

In the long term, zero carbon emission
aircraft are the cornerstone of our
pathway. Based on today's science, our
focus is on hydrogen-powered aircraft as
we believe it shows the most potential for a
short-haut airline like easyJet. Hydrogen has
no carbon emissions, provided it is green
hydrogen produced with renewable
electricity, and has the potential to reduce
non-CO, emissions from flying. Please refer
to page 12 for more detail on the net zero
roadmap.

The pathway is supported by numerous
investments and partnerships to drive
emissions reduction in the short to medium
term and support the development of
technology that is required in the long term:

* We currently have 168 NEO aircraft
on order, at a list price of $21 billion,
including the confirmation of an order for
56 additional aircraft made in 2022.

» easyJet and Rolls-Royce partnership
that will pioneer the development of
hydrogen combustion engine technology
capable of powering a range of aircraft
including those in the narrowbody
segment.

« easyJet was the first airline partner on
Airbus’'s ZERQe programme dedicated to
developing hydrogen-powered zero
emissions aircraft.

» Development of hydrogen ecosystems
to support the introduction of aircraft, as
a founding member of Hydrogen South
West, in close collaboration with Bristol
Airport.

« easylet is part of a consortium led by
Airbus that is investing in Direct Air
Carbon Capture and Sequestration
(DACCS), a form of technical
carbon removal.

» Long-term agreements with our fuel
supply partners to ensure security of
supply of SAF.

« Multiple operational efficiency initiatives
are already underway, including Descent
Profile Optimisation, SkyBreathe, Single
Engine Taxi.

« Low-emissions ground operations
through electric ground-handling
equipment at Gatwick Airport.

The net zero roadmap provides the
framework with which to mitigate against
five of the six key transition risks —
compliance, legal, consumer sentiment,
investor/markets sentiment and reputation.
The key remaining risk is technology. as
delivery of the roadmap is dependent on the
scaling up of SAF production, and on the
development of nascent technologies such
as zero carbon emission aircraft, and the
potential increase in costs associated with
transition to these technologies and/or with
potential adjustment to net zero roadmap
delivery levers necessary.

More detail on our net zero
roadmap can be found pages
on pages 12 and 13, and on
climate-related risk mitigations
on page 67.

(c) The resilience of our strategy, taking into consideration different climate-
related scenarios, including a 2°C or lower scenario

Overview of scenario analysis

Scenario Current policy Stated policy Paris Agreement’ Paris Ambition
Well below

Temperature alignment 3°C 2.5°C 2°C 1.5°C

Target global emissions -50% by -75% by Net zeroby Net zero by

reduction 2100 2100 2050 2050

Representative Concentration

Pathway RCP 7.0 RCP 45 RCP 26 RPC 26

1. The Paris Agreement of well below 2°C was selected as the baseline scenario as it is aligned with the
SBTi aviation sectoral decarbonisation pathway. The analysis varied input assumptions across the
transition risks in line with these scenarios. As an example, the Paris Agreement scenario assumes a
55% increase in consumers adopting sustainable alternative products by 2030, compared to 59%
under the Paris Ambition and 32% under ‘stated policy. SyrEV@Risk was assessed under these
scenarios as described in the Risks summary on Page 44. These scenarios incorporate
socioeconomic projections from the Shared Socioeconomic Pathways (SSPs).
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easyJet's net zero pathway is aligned to
the Science Based Targets initiative (SBTi)
aviation sectoral decarbonisation pathway,
which is aligned to the Paris Agreement
scenario (well below 2°C). The sensitivity of
the pathway and the ability to meet our
targets in the absence of different levers
has been assessed to ensure there is no
over-dependence on any single lever.

While there is currently no aviation sectoral
SBTi pathway aligned to the Paris Ambition
(1.5°C), easyJet's net zero pathway aims to
achieve a reduction in carbon dioxide
intensity of 78% by 2050, with residual
emissions addressed via carbon dioxide
removal technology. This is a significantly
better reduction than the 57% threshold
defined for easyJet by the SBTi pathway.
This gives easyJet headroom and therefore
resilience in respect of our climate-change
risk and net zero strategy.

Risk management
(a) Our processes for identifying and
assessing climate-related risks and

opportunities

easyJet works in partnership with Risilience
to evaluate a range of climate change-
related risks across a range of scenarios. All
risks, including those related to climate
change, are quantified by a five-year
Enterprise Value at Risk (5yrEV@Risk)
metric for the period FY23-27, which shows
how risks could impact discounted cash
flows over five years. The quantified risks
are then assessed against the
organisation’s threshold for what
constitutes a risk of ‘major concern'’ i.e.
substantive financial or strategic level of
impact and ‘above risk tolerance’. This
metric is defined by the overall Group
materiality principle of 1% of total assets
equating to a threshold of £104 million
which is defined in this report.

In parallel, we leverage our internal and
external network to understand and
critically evaluate UK and EU regulatory
requirements and policy and distil this into
risk and opportunities for the Group. Group
Finance, Legal, Investor Relations and
Marketing support the identification and
qualitative and quantitative assessment of
specific risks and opportunities, feeding
into Risilience’s analysis and into strategy
and financial planning for the Group.

Risitience conducted workshops focused on
climate-related risks identified to have a
potentially substantial financial impact. The
workshops involved colleagues from across
the business and identified the key
functional level risks within each corporate
level risk category. For full details of the
specific risks identified, see Strategy
section (a) on page 43.

The impact and likelihood inputs were then
calibrated in order to reach an aligned and
consistent view of each risk.

(b) Our processes for managing

climate-related risks and opportunities
Following the outputs of internal
stakeholders, the Risilience study and
external networks, risk workshops were
conducted to determine the appropriate
ownership and management of these risks.
This process confirmed climate change
transition is a principal risk, see page 67 of
our Risk section for further detail.
Mitigations and controls for these risks
were developed by the named risk owners
and are documented in the Climate
Change Transition Risk Register, overall
ownership of which sits with the CFO.
Governance for these risks and mitigations
will be regularly reviewed through easylet’s
Sustainability Steering Committee.

Ownership of risks is outlined below.

Risk Risk owner

Compliance CFO

costs

Legal Group General Counsel

& Company Secretary

Technology CFO

Consumer Group Markets Director
sentiment

Investor sentiment CFO

Reputation Group Markets Director

(c) How our processes for identifying,
assessing and managing climate-
related risks are incorporated into the
business overall risk management

As described in the risk management
section (b) above, climate change
transition risks are incorporated into the
corporate risk framework and register. For
more detail on the overall risk management
of the business, see the Risk section, pages
59 to 69.

Mitigation options that are identified during
the above process have been incorporated
into easyJet's net zero pathway, which will
be reviewed on an annual basis and feeds
into the corporate strategy and financial
planning process and principal risks and
uncertainties, see pages 59 to 69.

Metrics and targets

(a) The metrics we use to assess the
climate-related risks and opportunities
in line with our strategy and risk
management process

easyJet assesses financial impact in the
form of SyEV@Risk. These figures are then
assessed against the materiality threshold,
which is defined by:the Company as 1% of
total assets, i.e. a threshold of £104 million
in FY22. !

* The target boundary includes biogenic emissions and removals from bioenergy feedstocl&s.

** Non-CO,e effects which may also contribute to aviation induced warming are not included in this target. easyJet plc commits to report publicly on its
collaboration with stakeholders to improve understanding of opportunities to mitigate the non-CO,e impacts of aviation annually over its target timeframe.

Risks and mitigation options identified
through these metrics have been
incorporated into easyJet's climate change
transition plan and continue to inform our
financial and strategic planning.

(b) Our disclosure of Scope 1, Scope 2,

and Scope 3 GHG and the related risks
easyJet has disclosed its full value chain
emissions in this Annual Report. Read our
comprehensive GHG and energy
performance table, including Scope 1, 2 and
3 emissions on page 33, where you can find
the breakdown by geography and the
methodology used. See page 33 for a link
to the detailed independent assurance
statement.

(c) The targets we use to manage
climate-related risks and opportunities

and performance against targets

In this financial year easyJet joined Race to
Zero, a global UN-backed campaign to
achieve net zero carbon emissions by 2050
at the latest. By joining Race to Zero we
committed to setting an interim science-
based target on carbon intensity for 2035
as well as to reach net zero carbon
emissions by 2050, aligning with the criteria
and recommendations of the Science
Based Targets initiative (SBTi).

As our interim target, easyJet plc has
committed to reducing well-to-wake GHG
emissions related to jet fuel by 35% per
Revenue Tonne Kilometre (RTK) by FY35
from a 2019 base year” ™, which has been
approved by the SBTI.

easyJet’s net zero roadmap, outlined on
page 12, provides the framework with
which we intend to meet our targets in
2035 and beyond on our journey to net
zero in 2050.

easyJet has previously targeted a 10%
reduction in carbon dioxide emissions
intensity in grams of carbon dioxide per
Revenue Passenger Kilometre on our flights
by 2022, compared to a 2016 baseline
figure. This target has not been met due to
the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic,
which led to the deferral of previously
planned NEO aircraft deliveries and
reduced load factors.

For details of the CEO and CFO
sustainability-related targets, the
Remuneration Report on page 113.
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SASB INDEX

SASB Standards identify the subset of environmental, social and governance issues most relevant to financial performance and
enterprise value for 77 industries. Below we report on the metrics for the Airlines standard. .

Table 1. Sustainability disclosure topics and accounting metrics

lToplc E Accounting metric Category Unit of measure Code Disclosure

Greenhouse Gross global Scope 1 emissions Quantitative Metric tonnes  TR-AL-110a.1  Annual Report (page 33)
gas emissions (t) CO-e
Discussion of long-term and n/a TR-AL-10a.3 Covered in the Annual Report,
short-term strategy or plan to (primarily pages 32 and 33)
manage Scope 1 emissions, emissions
reduction targets, and an analysis of
performance against those targets
(1) Total fuel consumed Quantitative  Gigajoules (GJ), TR-AL-110a.3 (1) 86,363,466
(2) percentage alternative - Percentage (%)
(3) percentage sustainable
Labour Percentage of active workforce Quantitative Percentage (%) TR-AL-310a.1 86% - disclosed in ESG factsheet
practices covered under collective bargaining
agreements
(1) Number of work stoppages and  Quantitative Number, days TR-AL-310a.2 Not disclosed
(2) total days idle' idle
Competitive Total amount of monetary losses as  Discussion n/a TR-AL-540a.1 The Company has not incurred
behaviour a result of legal proceedings and analysis any monetary losses as a result
associated with anticompetitive of legal proceedings associated
behaviour regulations? with anti-competitive behaviour
regulations
Accident and: | Description of implementation and  Discussion n/a TR-AL-540a.1 Disclosed in ESG factsheet.
safety f outcomes of a safety management  and analysis Also discussed in Annual Report
management ; system Risk section pages 59-69
{ Number of aviation accidents Queantitative  Number TR-AL-540a.2 Zero
Number of governmental Quantitative Number TR-AL-540a.3 Zero
enforcement actions of aviation
safety regulations

Table 2. Activity metrics

!Activity metric } Category Unit of measure Code Disclosure

Available Seat Kilometres (ASK)® Quantitative ASK TR-AL-O00.A Disclosed on page 58 of Annual
Report

Passenger load factort Quantitative Rate TR-AL-O00.B Disclosed on page 58 of Annual
Report

Revenue Passenger Kilometres (RPK)® Quantitative RPK TR-AL-0O00.C Disclosed on page 58 of Annual
Report

Revenue Tonne Kilometres (RTK)® Quantitative RPK TR-AL-000.D Disclosed on page 33 of Annual
Report

Number of departures Quantitative  Number TR-AL-O00.E Disclosed on page 58 of Annual
Report

1 Average age of fleet Quantitative Years TR-AL-O00.F 9.33 years

1. Note to TR-AL-310a.2 — Disclosure shall include a description of the reason for each work stoppage, impact on operations and any corrective actions
taken.

. Note to TR-AL-520a.1 — The entity shall briefly describe the nature, context and any corrective actions taken as a resuit of the monetary losses.

3. Note to TR-AL-000.A — Available Seat Kilometres (ASK) is defined as the maximum potential cumulative kilometres travelled by passengers (i.e. kilometres
travelled by occupied and unoccupied seats).

4. Note to TR-AL-000.8 — Load factor is a measure of capacity utilisation and is calculated as passenger kilometres travelled, divided by ASK.

5. Note to TR-AL-000.C — Revenue Passenger Kilometres (RPK) is defined as the cumulative total kilometres travelled by revenue passengers. A revenue
passenger is a passenger for whose transportation an air carrier receives commercial remuneration.

6. Note to TR-AL-000.D — Revenue Tonne Kilometres (RTK) is defined as one metric tonne of revenue traffic transported one kilometre. RTK is computed
by multiplying the aircraft kilometres flown on each flight stage by the number of metric tonnes of revenue traffic carried on that flight stage
(e.g.passengers, baggage, freight and mail).

N
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NON-FINANCIAL
INFORMATION STATEMENT

The table below and the information incorporated by reference comprises our Non-Financial Information Statement required by s414CA
and 414CB of the Companies Act 2006.

Policies mentioned below are available to view on our corporate website at

)

https://corporate.easyjet.com

Our approach

Our policies

Due diligence, outcome and
Key Performance Indicators

Related principal risks

1. Environmental matters
easy.Jet seeks to lead and
challenge global aviation
towards net zero emissions,
recognising the need to
transition to a low-carbon
economy and the need for
aviation to play its part.

« Environment Policy — sets out our

.

approach to managing and
minimising our environmental
impact.

Net zero roadmap - our
roadmap to net zero carbon
emissions by 2050 focuses on
zero carbon emission technology.
Sustainability Strategy — easyJet's
Sustainability Strategy has
evolved to reflect our ambition to
pioneer positive change for our
planet, communities and people
while getting one step closer to
net zero every day.

Supplier Code of Conduct —we
require our suppliers to comply
with environmental standards.

The Sustainability Steering
Committee is responsible for
monitoring the outcome of our
Sustainability Strategy, driving key
sustainability-related decisions,
delivering against strategic KPIs
and the consideration and
disclosure of climate-related risks
and opportunities.

Further details on sustainability and
our roadmap to net zero can be
found on pages 12 and 13 and
pages 30 to 42.

Streamlined Energy and Carbon
Reporting on page 33.

All our supplier contracts include a
clause requiring them to comply
with the Supplier Code of Conduct.

+ The impacts of climate

change on our business
and operations,
regulation/taxation and
changing consumer and
colleague expectations
are recognised as one
of our principal risks.
More information can
be found on page 67.
Our strategy and risk
management on
climate-related risks and
opportunities can be
found in the Task Force
on Climate-related
Financial Disclosures
section on pages 43 to
46.

2. People

Our people are our greatest
asset and we want to
continue to attract, retain
and develop top talent by
focusing on creating an
inclusive and energising
environment that inspires

enabling the Orange Spirit
to thrive.

everyone to learn and grow,

Code of Business Ethics —
promotes a culture that
encourages open lines of
communication and free access
to information.

Equal opportunity and inclusion
— encourages our employees to
make the best use of their skills
and experience and ensure we
treat staff, potential staff and the
public fairly.

Diversity, Inclusion and Wellbeing
Strategy — creates an inclusive
and energising environment that
attracts the right people and
inspires everyone to learn and
grow.

‘Speak Up, Speak Out’
whistleblowing process — enables
easyJet employees and suppliers
to be able to raise concerns
about any safety, ethical or legal
issues.

.

We continued to make progress
against our Diversity, Inclusion and
Wellbeing Strategy, focusing on
creating a culture of inclusion
where everyone can be themselves
and people look after their own
and each other's wellbeing. More
information can be found on pages
24 to 25.

Our focus has been on our people
and creation of an inclusive culture.
where differences are respected
and valued and people have the
opportunity to be the true version
of themselves. More information
on pages 24 to 25.

We continue to measure how our
employees feel about the inclusive
environment that we are striving to
create, through our regular
employee listening activities such
as our anonymous Your Voice
Matters survey.

Stakeholder engagement
(employees) on pages 26 and 27.
Whistleblowing on page 88 and
102.

Industrial action and
talent acquisition and
retention are
recognised as principal
risks and we seek to
control and mitigate
those risks in order to
reduce their impact.
Further information is
set out on page 66.

Details of our business model can be found on pages 8 and 9.
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Our approach

Our policies

Due diligence, outcome and
Key Performance Indicators

Related principal risks

3. Social matters

easyJet is committed to
doing the right thing for our
customers, our people, our
partners, the communities
in which we operate and
the environment.

easyJet has a pan-European
partnership with UNICEF to
support its work.

Environment Management
System (EMS) — allows us to
manage and continually improve
our environmental performance
in a structured and systematic
way.

Freedom to change — allowed all
our customers to change flights
to a different date or route,
fee-free, up to two hours before
departure during Covid-19.
Travel restriction protection —
allows customers impacted by a
travel ban or mandatory hotel
quarantine to change their flights
fee-free, request a voucher or a
refund.

We have a Diversity and Inclusion
Strategy and Equal Opportunity
and Inclusion Policy.

» Our cabin crew make onboard

appeals for customers to make
donations in support of UNICEF's
work to protect children around the
world from disease and keep them
safe during emergencies. More
information can be found on page 42.
We achieved Stage 2 certification
under the IATA IEnvA accreditation
programme, making us the first
low-cost carrier worldwide with a fully
certified EMS. Further details on page
32 and our environmental
performance on pages 33.

We provided customers with the
flexibility they required during
uncertain times, giving them
confidence to book their trip, knowing
that if plans changed so could their
flight.

We recognise Pride to support our
LGBTQIA+ communities around the
world. More information can be found
on page 1.

« Social impact
matters are not
considered to be
principal risks.
However, these
matters are
considered by the
plc Board as part of
its stakeholder
engagement’
programme; further
information is set out
on pages 26 to 29.

4. Human rights

We are committed to
human rights, both in our
business and our supply
chain. This includes
observance of the principles

set out by the_"!nte.rpational N

Labdur Organization
Declaration on Fundamental
Principles and Rights at
Work.

Human Rights and Modern
Slavery Policy — supports
recognised human rights
principles.

Supplier Code of Conduct —
easyJet’s suppliers have an
important role in delivering our
ambition, and we strive to ensure
that our suppliers have aligned
views on corporate responsibility
and compliance.

Both induction training and annual
refresher training at Group leve!
ensures the workforce is continually
mindful of human rights and modern
slavery.

easyJet seeks to identify and prevent
adverse human rights impacts directly
linked to its business relationships,
through obtaining appropriate
contractual commitments and
undertaking appropriate due diligence
on suppliers {including enhanced due
diligence on high risk suppliers).
Modern Slavery working group meets
quarterly and informs activities we are
undertaking to prevent slavery and
human trafficking in our business
operations and supply chain.

+ We continue to use
the Global Slavery
Index to support our
analysis of
geographic risks and
assess whether the
country/area has a
high prevalence of
modern slavery or
other labour rights
violations.

5. Anti-corruption and
anti-bribery

At easyJet we conduct all
of our business in an honest
and ethical manner. easyJet
takes a zero-tolerance
approach to bribery and
corruption and is
committed to acting
professionally, fairly and
with integrity in all business
dealings and relationships
wherever easyJet operates.
easyJet encourages its
employees and suppliers to
raise concerns on ethical
issues via the Speak Up,
Speak Out whistleblowing
process. i

Anti-bribery and Anti-corruption
Policy — sets out the
responsibilities of easyJet, and of
those working for and on behalf
of easyJet, to observe and
uphold easyJet's prohibition on
bribery and corruption.

Gifts and Hospitality Policy - sets
out the rules on receiving and
giving gifts and hospitality.

Code of Ethics — ethical and
compliance policies, covering
topics that include bribery and
corruption, gift giving and fraud.

All existing and new employees
receive mandatory ethics training
annually and upon joining the
business.

Risks associated with bribery and
corruption are regularly reviewed by
the Audit Committee.

Ethical and compliance policies are
monitored by the Business Integrity
Committee and People team. The
Business Integrity Committee’s
activities are reviewed by the Audit
Committee on a quarterly basis.

« Compliance and
regulatory risks are
recognised as a
principal risk. More
details can be found
on page 65.
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OUR FINANCIAL RESULTS

easyJet recorded its highest ever quarterly
headline EBITDAR performance in Q4 with
strong yields and load factors of 92% achieved
during the quarter.” ‘

Kenton Jarvis
Chief Financial Officer

Headline loss before tax of £178 million for the year ended 30 September 2022 was a significant reduction on the loss of £1,136 million for
the year ended 30 September 2021. This improvement was driven by increased capacity and yields as customer confidence to travel
returned once Covid-19 related restrictions were lifted across Europe, along with enhanced contribution from our ancillary product
offering and easyJet holidays. easyJet flew 69.7 million passengers in the year ended 30 September 2022 (2021 20.4 million), up 242%
on the prior year, reflecting that return of confidence. Load factor for the year was 85.5% (2021: 72.5%). Capacity for the year was 78%
of the level of the pre-pandemic year, FY19, and the load factor of 85.5% was 6 ppt lower.

Trading in the first half of the financial year was impacted by the emergence of the Omicron variant of Covid-19. Trading had been
relatively strong in October and early November but then travel restrictions were re-imposed at different times across Europe from
mid-November and remained in place until starting to be relaxed in February-April 2022, the timing and precise degree of relaxation
varying from country to country. The total number of passengers carried in H1 increased by 471% to 23.4 million (H1 2021: 4.1 million) with
a 13.6 percentage point increase in load factor to 77.3% (H1 2021: 63.7%). Capacity for H1 was 66% of FY19 and the load factor of 77.3%
was 12.8 ppt lower.

The other maijor event which occurred during H1 was the Russian invasion of Ukraine in February 2022, Whilst this did not impact
easyJet’s network directly as we do not fly to or over Ukraine, it has had an indirect effect through the increase in oil prices and therefore
jet fuel prices which has occurred since then.

Trading in our third quarter started to pick-up as the Omicron-related travel restrictions fell away across Europe and consumer
confidence to travel returned. In Q3 easyJet flew 22 million passengers, more than seven times higher than the same period in the
previous financial year, representing 87% of FY19 capacity. Load factors continued to build over the quarter, reaching highs of 92% in
June. The unprecedented ramp-up across the aviation industry, coupled with a tight labour market, resulted in widespread operational
challenges culminating in higher levels of cancellations in Q3 than normal and consequently higher disruption expenses were incurred.
The industry’s challenges were reflected in the flight caps announced at two significant airports, London Gatwick and Amsterdam.
Alongside these capacity caps, easyJet took swift action to reduce our capacity and build resilience into Q4. As a result, disruption in Q4
was much reduced and in line with historical levels.

After the operational issues experienced across the industry in Q3, the fourth quarter was characterised by more stable operations with
load factors of 92% being achieved. Headline EBITDAR in Q4 was the strongest quarterly headline EBITDAR in the history of the Group,
helping take the full year headline EBIT result to breakeven. Headline EBITDAR achieved for the year of £569 million was £1,120 million
better than the result in the prior year when easyJet recorded an EBITDAR loss of £551 million. Similarly, total loss after tax for the year
ended 30 September 2022 of £169 million was an improvement from the loss of £858 million in the year ended 30 September 2021.

Amounts presented at constant currency throughout this section are an alternative performance measure and ‘are not determined in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards but provide relevant and comparative reporting for readers of these
financial statements.
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Financial overview

£ million (Reported) ~ Group ) | 2022 2021

Group revenue ! 5,769 1458
Headline costs excluding fuel, balance sheet FX and ownership costs' R (3,921) (1.638)
Fuel ) (1,279) (371)
Headline EBITDAR 569 (551)
Depreciation, amortisation and dry leasing costs (566) (485)
Headline EBIT 3 (1,036)
Net finance charges mz (Mo)
Balance sheet foreign exchange (loss)/gain (64) 10
Group headline loss before tax . 178) (1136)
Being:

Airline headline loss before tax (216) ’ (1124)

Holidays headline profit/(loss) before tax . 38 (12)
Headline tax credit . 3 236
Group headline loss after tax (147) (900)
Non-headline items (30) 100
Non-headline tax credit/(charge) 8 (58)
Group total loss after tax (169) (858)
£ per seat — Airline only? . 2022 2021
Airline revenue ! 66.23 50.54
Headline costs excluding fuel, balance sheet FX and ownership costs . (44.09) (56.62)
Fuel (15.68) (13.16)
Headline EBITDAR : 6.46 (19.24)
Depreciation, amortisation and dry leasing costs (6.89) (17.12)
Headline EBIT i (0.43) (36.36)
Net finance charges (1.45) (3.83)
Balance sheet foreign exchange (loss)/gain ) (0.77) 0.32
Airline headline loss before tax (2.65) (39.87)
Headline tax credit 0.38 8.39
Airline headline loss after tax (2.27) (31.48)
Non-headline items (0.36) 3.53
Non-headline tax credit/(charge) ) 0.10 (2.07)
Airline total loss after tax (2.53) (30.02)

1. Ownership costs defined as depreciation, amortisation and dry leasing costs plus net finance charges.

2. All per seat metrics are for the Airline business only, as the inclusion of hotel-related revenue and costs from the holidays business will distort the RPS and
CPS metrics as these are not directly correlated to the seats flown by the Airline. Our easyJet holidays business forms a separate operating segment to
the Airline, and easyJet holidays' key metrics are included under key statistics.

The total number of passengers carried increased by 242% to 69.7 million (2021: 20.4 million), which was driven by a 189% increase in
seats flown to 81.5 million seats (2021: 28.2 million seats) and a 13.0 percentage point increase in load factor to 85.5% (2021: 72.5%).

This reflects the increased capacity following the reduction in travel restrictions across Europe over the year, and the associated
strengthening in customer demand as the recovery from Covid-19 continues. Note that capacity for the year was 78% of the level of the
pre-pandemic year, FY19, and the load factor of 85.5% was 6 ppt lower.

Total revenue increased by 296% to £5,769 million (2021: £1,458 million) and by 302% at constant currency. Airline revenue per seat
increased by 31% to £66.23 (2021: £50.54) and increased by 33% at constant currency. The increase in Airline revenue per seat is a
consequence of increased loads, reflecting the growth in demand through the year as travel restrictions eased across Europe, and strong
performance from both bag and seat initiatives which contributed to an Airline ancillary revenue per seat increase at constant currency
of 31%. Note that airline ancillary revenue is now 15% higher than it was in FY19 despite passenger numbers being 27% lower.
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Total headline costs excluding fuel, balance sheet exchange movements and ownership costs increased by 139% to £3,921 million (2021:
£1,638 million) mainly as a result of the volume of flying and general cost pressures. Costs were also impacted by the disruption seen
throughout the year; wet lease costs of £23 million (2021: £nil) were incurred to support operational resilience and £205 milion EU261
compensation and welfare costs were also incurred (2021 £7m credit arising from the release of a Covid specific welfare provision). In
addition, wet leases were required to provide coverage for new slots at Gatwick and Porto at a cost of £30 million (2021: £nil million).
This year also saw a significant reduction in furlough schemes as government support wound down across Europe with £8 million
support received in 2022 compared to £134 million support in the prior year. The cost impact was partly mitigated by continued
operational cost focus including maintaining a proportion of captains on seasonal contracts and a release of airport charge accruals of
£18 million (2021 £4 million) as the return of activity has reduced some of the uncertainty and risks which were previously accrued for.
On an Airline cost per seat basis total headline costs excluding fuel, balance sheet foreign exchange movements and ownership costs
decreased by 22% to £44.09 (2021: £56.62) and 22% at constant currency. This was mainly a result of increased flying, as fixed operating
costs were being spread across more flying capacity, combined with easyJet’s continued focus on cost, as noted above, which has also
contributed to the favourable movement.

Over the year the translation of revenue and costs, including fuel, from foreign currency has had a net adverse impact of £88 million
(2021 £22 million credit) on the Group income statement, with a further income statement charge of £64 million (2021: £10 million credit)
from the translation of foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities on the statement of financial position. Conversely,
ownership costs benefited from the movement in US dollar interest rates with a credit of £71 million (2021: £20 million credit) from the
discounted maintenance reserves provision which uses long-term US dollar interest rates to set the discount rate.

Additionally, within ownership costs is the first full year impact of the change in estimation for the useful economic lives (UEL) of the
owned CEO fleet from 23 to 18 years and the amended approach to residual value estimation. This increased the depreciation charge in
the year by £50 million (2021: £13 million, three months' impact).

Airline fuel cost per seat increased by 19% to £15.68 (2021: £13.16) and by 17% at constant currency. This is a result of both the significant
increase in the post hedge fuel price due to the war in Ukraine and an increased average sector length compared to the prior year,
arising from the destination mix shifting towards beach in the current financial year. The impact of higher fuel prices was partly offset by
the carry forward of the allocated free ETS (Emission Trading Systems) certificates from the prior year which were not utilised due to the
reduced flying volumes in prior year, and in-year allocation of free credits.

easyJet holidays performed strongly, with this summer being its first season of trading relatively unaffected by Covid-19 under its revised
operating model. Overall, it contributed incremental revenue of £368 million (2021: £34 million) to the Group from 1.1 million customers
(including affiliates), delivering £38 million of headline profit before tax (2021: £12 million loss).

A non-headline charge of £30 miflion (2021: £100 million gain) was recognised in the year, consisting of a £21 million loss on the sale and
leaseback of 10 aircraft (2021: £65 million gain from 35 aircraft and two engines), a £10 million loss on disposal of landing rights
surrendered as a consequence of the reduction in our operations at Berlin and a £1 million net fair value adjustment credit for hedge
discontinuation (2021: £26 million charge). Restructuring charges were net £nil million (2021: £61 million credit) as the £10 million provision
arising from the announcement of the downsizing of our operations at the Berlin base has been offset by releases following the
finalisation of restructuring programmes initiated in the prior year. Full details can be found in note 5 to the financial statements.

Corporate tax has been recognised at an effective rate of 18.7% (2021: 17.2%), resulting in an overall tax credit of £39 million (2021 £178
million credit). This splits into a tax credit of £31 million on the headline losses and a tax credit of £8 million on the non-headline items.
Whilst the non-headline loss is £30 million, after the necessary tax adjustments the tax adjusted non-headline items amount to a loss of
£22 million, which results in the non-headline tax credit of £8 million for the year.

Loss per share

2022 2021 )
Change in pence
Pence per share Pence per share per share
Basic headline loss per share (19.6) (166.9) 147.3
Basic total loss per share (22.4) (159.0) 136.6

Basic headline loss per share decreased by 147.3 pence and basic total loss per share decreased by 136.6 pence as a consequence of the
lower loss generated during the year.
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Return on capital employed (ROCE)

Reported £m ) 2022 2021
Headline profit/(loss) before interest and tax 3 (1.036)
UK corporation tax rate 19% 19%
Normalised headline operating profit/(loss) after tax (NOPAT) 2 (839)
Average shareholders’ equity 2,586 1741
Average net debt 790 1570
Average adjusted capital employed 3,376 3.3
Headline return on capital employed . 0.1% (25.5%)
Total return on capital employed (0.6%) (22.4%)

ROCE is calculated by taking headline profit/(loss) before interest and tax, applying tax at the prevailing UK corporation tax rate at the
end of the financial year, and dividing by average capital employed. Capital employed is shareholders’ equity plus net debt.

Headline ROCE for the year was 0.1%, an improvement of 25.6 percentage points on the prior year, largely driven by the change from a
headline loss before interest and tax to a headline profit before interest and tax for the year. Total ROCE for the year was (0.6)%, an
improvement of 21.8 percentage points on the prior year. The total ROCE was adverse to the headline ROCE due to non-headline items
generating a £30 milion charge before tax in the income statement, as noted earlier.

Summary net debt reconciliation
The table presents cash flows on a net cash basis. This presentation is different to the GAAP presentation of the statement of cash flows
in the financial statements as it includes non-cash movements on debt facilities.

2022 2021 Change

£ million £ million £ million

Operating loss (27) (910) 883
Depreciation and amortisation 564 480 84
Increase in unearned revenue 197 232 (35)
Net working capital movement : 101 (538) 639
Net tax (paid)/received (4) 1 (5)
Net capital expenditure (530) (149) (381)
Net proceeds from sale and leaseback of aircraft 87 836 (749)
Purchase of own shares for employee share schemes ! (9) 6) (3)
Net decrease in restricted cash 7 5 2
Repayment of capital element of leases (206) (261) 55
Increase in lease liability (83) (693) 640
Net funding activities 53, 1144 (1,091)
Other (including the effect of exchange rate movements) 60 74 (14)
Decrease/(increase) in net debt 240, 215 25
Net debt at the beginning of the year (910) (1125) 215
Net debt at end of year (670) (910) 240

* There has been recategorisation of items in FY21 to better reflect line item classification.

Net debt as at 30 September 2022 was £670 miillion (30 September 2021: £910 million) and comprised cash and cash equivalents and
money market deposits of £3.640 million (30 September 2021: £3,536 million), borrowings of £3,197 million (30 September 2021: £3,367
million) and lease liabilities of £1,113 million (30 September 2021: £1,079 million).

The unearned revenue inflow of £197 million (2021: £232 million) has stabilised as customer bookings start to normalise in response to the
removal of Covid-19 travel restrictions and as flying schedules return to near pre-pandemic levels. Net working capital movement has
increased by £639 million to a £101 million inflow compared to the prior year outflow of £538 million. This increase was predominantly due
to increased flying volumes which have led to activity-related increases in trade payables. Furthermore, the prior year saw an unusually
large level of supplier payments as a catch-up effect from the initial lockdown period, when many supplier accounts were put onto
phased payment plans as part of our cash protection measures. The trade payables movement was partially offset by increases in trade
receivables including marketing income, again arising from the increased volume of activity. Additionally, working capital includes
provision movements and the prior year had a significant reduction in provisions with the release of restructuring provisions and other
movements.

Net capital expenditure in the year of £530 million (2021 £149 million) is predominantly the final delivery payments for the acquisition of
eight aircraft in the year (2021: nil aircraft), but also includes significant advance payments for long life parts. The sale and leaseback of
10 aircraft in 2022 (2021 35 aircraft and two engines) resulted in a net cash inflow of £87 million compared to the more significant sale
and leaseback programme in 2021 which generated proceeds of £836 million. Repayment of the capital element of leases of £206 million
(2021 £261 million) has decreased by £55 million as a result of the prior year having additional deferred payments from H2 2020
included, and the increase in lease liability of £53 million (2021: £693 million) has reduced compared to prior year with the reduced
volume of sale and leasebacks.

In the prior year the net funding activities of £1,344 million predominantly related to the rights issue, with final funding received this
financial year. .
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Exchange rates
GBP/USD and GBP/EUR
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The proportion of revenue and headline costs denominated in currencies other than sterling is outlined below:

Revenue Costs

2022 2021 2022 . 2021
Sterling : 51% 34% - 32% - 45%
Euro . 38% 52% 37% 29%
US dollar 1%* 0% 25% . 21%
Other (principally Swiss franc) 10% . 14% 6% 5%
Average headline exchange rates** S .202.2 2021
Euro — revenue : €118 €114
Euro - costs ‘ €1.18 €115
US dollar , $1.32 $1.36
Swiss franc . CHF 1.25 CHF 1.20
Closing exchange rates** 2022 2021
Euro . €1.14 €116
US doflar : ' $1.1 $135
Swiss franc L CHF 1.09 CHF 1.26

* Qur customers have the option of paying for flights in US dollars
** Exchange rates quoted are post-hedging and for revenue and headline costs

The Group’s foreign currency risk management policy aims to reduce the impact of fluctuations in exchange rates on future cash flows.

This year has seen considerable volatility in exchange rates and the weakening of sterling against both the euro and US dollar. Over the
year the translation of revenue and costs, including fuel, from foreign currency has had a net adverse impact of £88 million on the Group
income statement. The income statement includes a further charge of £64 million from the translation impact of foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and liabilities on the statement of financial position.

Headline exchange rate impact

Euro Swiss franc US dollar Other Tota!
Favourable/(adverse) £ million £ million £ milion ~ £ million £ million
Total revenue 97) 6 3 2) (90)
Fuel - - (20) - (20)
Headline costs excluding fuel 46 (14) () 1 22
Headline total before tax (51) (8) (28) (1) (88)

easyJet recognises a significant element of revenue across its network in euros, and therefore a stronger sterling vs euro at average rates
has reduced revenue through the year, only partly offset by the converse impact on costs. easyJet’s cost base also includes US dollar
denominated costs, particularly fuet and lease payments, and therefore post-hedge US dollar strengthening has increased the sterling
value of those headline costs.
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Financial performance

Revenue -

2022 2021
£m Group £ million £ million
Passenger revenue 3,816 - 1,000
Ancillary revenue (excluding package holiday revenue) 1,585 424
easyJet holidays revenue* . . 368 34
Total revenue ' 5,769 1,458

* easyJet holidays revenue includes the elimination of intercompany airline transactions

Total revenue increased by 296% to £5,769 million (2021: £1,458 million) and 302% at constant currency. This was a combined result of
increased customer volumes and a focus on yield optimisation resulting in improved ticket yield, with ancillary yield performing strongly.
The total number of passengers carried increased by 242% to 69.7 million (2021: 20.4 milion), which was driven by a 189% increase in
seats flown to 81.5 million seats (2021 28.2 million seats) and a 13.0 percentage point increase in load factor to 85.5% (2021 72.5%). This
reflects the increased capacity following the reduction in travel restrictions across Europe over the year, and the associated
strengthening in customer demand as the recovery from Covid-19 continues. Additionally, within revenue there was a £22 million credit
(2021: £10 million) arising from the release of aged contract liabilities within other payables, split £19 million against passenger revenue
and £3 million against ancillary revenue.

Total Airline revenue per seat of £66.23 was 33% ahead of 2021 at constant currency and load factors of 85.5% were 13.0 percentage

points ahead. Likewise, total yield of £77.48 was 13% favourable when compared against 2021 at constant currency, with passenger yields
14% favourable and ancillary yields 1% favourable.

Ancillary revenue of £1,585 million was 274% ahead of 2021, and 279% at constant currency. This was principally due to a good
performance on initiatives with strong attachment across both bags and seats, favourable yield and the increase in passengeranumbers
compared to 2021. Note that airline ancillary revenue is now 15% higher than it was in FY19 despite passenger numbers being 27% lower.

easyJet holidays revenue increased by 1.082% to £368 milion (2021: £34 million) with strong yields and growth in customer numbers to 11
million {2021 0.1 million) as the holidays offer resonated with customers in its first full summer season of trading under its new operating
model.

Headline costs excluding fuel

2022 2021 .
Group Airline Group Airline
£ million £ per seat £ million E per seat
Operating costs and income
Airports, ground-handling, holidays accommodation, and other
operating costs 1,716 17.70 446 15.01
Crew 767 9.40 495 - 17.56
Navigation 339 4.16 102 362
Maintenance 301 3.69 222 7.90
Selling and marketing 173 1.88 60 194
Other costs 635 7.38 319 10.80
Other income (10) (0.12) (6) (0.21)
3,921 44.09 1,638 56.62
Ownership costs
Aircraft dry leasing 2 0.04 5 0.20
Depreciation 539 6.60 456 16.19
Amortisation 25 0.25 24 074
Net finance charges 17 1.45 no 383
683 8.34 595 20.95
Foreign exchange loss/(gain) 64 0.77 (10) (0.32)
747 9.1 . 585 20.63

Headline costs excluding fuel . 4,668 53.20 2,223 77.25

Headline cost per seat excluding fuel for the Airline decreased by 31% to £53.20 (2021: £77.25), and also decreased by 32% at constant
currency. .

Included within the Group headline costs excluding fuel of £4,668 million is £330 million (2021: £46 miliion) related to the holidays
business, the cost increase primarily being activity related due to the growth of the business compared to last year.
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Operating costs and income

Airports, ground-handling and other operating costs increased by 285% to £1,716 million (2021: £446 million), and Airline cost per seat
increased by 18% to £17.70 (2021 £15.01), and by 19% at constant currency. Within the result for the year is a release of airport charge
accruals of £18 million (2021: £4 million) as the return of flying activity has reduced some of the contract uncertainty and risks which were
previously being accrued for. Together with increased marketing activity the release helped offset an overall increase in airport rates and
operating costs associated with improved load factors, and an increase in passenger and security charges that drove a cost increase on
a per seat basis.

Crew costs increased by 55% to £767 million (2021: £495 million), but Airline cost per seat decreased by 46% to £9.40, and Airline cost
per seat also decreased by 46% at constant currency. This costper seat decrease was primarily due to fixed payroll costs being spread
over higher flying capacity, partially offset by the reduction in furlough schemes in the year (£8 million support 2022 vs £134 million
support.2021) and additional one-off crew payments, including retention bonuses. To help mitigate some of the cost pressures, a
proportion of captains remained on seasonal contracts. .

Navigation costs increased by 232% to £339 million (2021: £102 million), and Airline cost per seat increased by 15% to £4.16 (2021: £3.62)
and by 17% at constant currency. as a result of an increase in the sector length of our commercial flying compared to the comparative
year and an increase in Eurocontrol rates effective from January 2022.

Maintenance costs increased by 36% to £301 million (2021: £222 million), and Alrline cost per seat decreased by 53% to £3.69 (2021
£7.90) and decreased by 53% at constant currency. This cost per seat decrease was driven by the fixed element of our maintenance
costs which have been spread over increased capacity in the year, whilst also having a reduction in repair costs and cleaning costs.

Selling and marketing costs increased by 188% to £173 million (2021: £60 million). This was due to a combination of factors: £37. million of
the increase was from increased marketing spend and the focus on easyJet holidays as a result of the revival of travel post-pandemic;
whilst £76 million of the increase was on sale and distribution costs, predominantly the result of credit card bookings and associated fees
increasing as activity returned.

Other costs increased by 99% to £635 million (2021 £319 million), and Airline cost per seat decreased by 32% to £7.38 (2021 £10.80), and
by 31% at constant currency. Other costs include the impact of the significant disruption experienced in the year, with EU261
compensation and welfare costs of £205 million (2021 £7m net credit arising from the release of a Covid specific welfare provision).
These compensation payments per customer were over double the level experienced pre-pandemic. In addition, wet lease costs of

£23 million (2021 £nil) were incurred to maintain capacity. Wet lease arrangements were also used to support the new slots secured in
Gatwick and Porto, increasing our route offer, at a cost of £30 million (2021: £nil million). The significant driver in the decrease in the cost
per seat is that fixed costs are being spread over higher flown capacity.

Ownership costs

Depreciation costs increased by 18% to £539 million (2021: £456 million), and Airline cost per seat decreased by 59% to £6.60 (2021:
£16.19). This increase was driven by higher maintenance-related depreciation as a result of increased flying hours, combined with an
increase in the number of leased aircraft, and the change in UEL estimation for CEO aircraft in the prior year, the first full year impact
being to increase the depreciation charge by £50 million in the year (2021: £13 million, three months’ impact). The overall increase in
depreciation costs was partially offset by the regular discounting of the maintenance provision which resulted in a credit to the income
statement of £71 million (2021: credit £20 million), principally due to the increase in US dollar interest rates over the year.

‘Net finance charges increased marginally by 6% to £117 million (2021 £110 million), and Airline cost per seat decreased by 62% to £1.45
(2021 £3.83). The decrease per seat is a consequence of the higher capacity, partially offset by increased interest costs.

Foreign exchange loss/(gain) moved to a loss of £64 million (2021 £10 million credit) with the increased impact of the retranslation of
foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities arising from the currency movements in the year, with sterling being weaker
against both the US dollar and euro on 30 September 2022 compared to 30 September 2021.

Fuel
2022 2021
Group Airline Group Airline
£ million £ per seat £ million £ per seat
Fuel 1279 15.68 37N 13.16

Fuel costs for 2022 were £1,279 million, compared to £371 million in 2021. The higher costs were driven both by the 189% rise in flying
volumes as well as the significant increase arising from the unhedged portion of fuel purchases as a consequence of the upward
pressure on fuel prices over the year. Fuel cost per seat of £15.68 was a 19% increase on the prior year, and a 17% increase at constant
currency.

During the year the average market price payable for jet fuel increased by 92% from $554 per tonne in 2021 to $1,063 per tonne in 2022
This was substantially mitigated by the hedging undertaken by the Group, with the overall post hedge fuel price for 2022 of $705 per
tonne being only 12% higher than the post hedge fuel price of $631 per tonne achieved in 2021. The fuel cost includes an offset of
allocated free ETS certificates, with a significant proportion of carbon costs in the year met by carried forward and in-year allocations.

The Group uses jet fuel derivatives to hedge against significant increases in jet fuel prices to mitigate cash and income statement
volatility in the short term. In order to manage the risk exposure, jet fuel derivative contracts are used in line with the Board approved
policy to hedge up to 18 months of estimated exposures in advance, with approximately 60% hedged on average in the first 12 months.
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Summary consolidated statement of financial position

. 2022 , 2021 Change

£ million £ million £ million
Goodwill and other non-current intangible assets 582 582 -
Property, plant and equipment (excluding RoU assets) 3,676 3,639 37
Right of use (RoU) assets . 953 1.096 (143)
Derivative financial instruments 442 203 239
Equity investment . 3 30 1
Other assets (excluding cash and money market deposits) : 1,022 - 619 403
Unearned revenue (1,043) (846) (197)
Trade and other payables (1,685) (1,128) (557)
Other liabilities (excluding debt) (775) (646) (129)
Capital employed ' 3,203 3,549 (346)
Cash and money market deposits* : 3,640 3,536 104
Debt (excluding lease liabilities) (3,197) (3.367) 170
Lease liabilities ’ an3) (1.079) (34)
Net debt (670) (910) 240
Net assets . 2,533 2,639 (106)

* Excludes restricted cash
Since 30 September 2021 net assets have decreased by £106 million.

The net book value of property. plant and equipment, excluding right of use assets, has increased by £37 million, the impact of the sale
and leaseback of 10 aircraft being offset by the eight new owned aircraft brought into the fleet in the year and the depreciation charge
for the year.

At 30 September 2022, right of use (RoU) assets amounted to £953 million (2021: £1,096 milion) and lease liabilities amounted to £113
million (2021: £1,079 million) which reflects additions during the year as a result of aircraft sale and leasebacks, as well as the impact of
lease payments, extensions and depreciation on RoU assets.

There has been a £239 million increase in the net asset value of derivative financial instruments, with a closing net asset balance of £442
million (2021: £203 million asset). The movement is largely due to mark-to-market gains on US dollar hedges and cross currency interest
rate swaps as a result of the weakened pound against the US dollar and euro in comparison to the rates at 30 September 2021. This gain
was partially offset by a reduction in the asset value of jet fuel hedges compared to 30 September 2021.

Other assets have increased by £403 million, mainly driven by increased current intangible assets reflecting the ETS credits held as a
result of increased flying and therefore carbon emissions (and pending surrender in 2023), and increased trade and other receivables.

Unearned revenue increased by £197 million, reflecting improved customer confidence and strong future bookings compared to the prior
year.

Trade and other payables have increased by £557 million predominantly as a result of higher activity and volumes, and an increase in ETS
payables due to higher credit prices, partially offset by a reduction in voucher liabilities with customers having greater opportunities to
utilise these vouchers during 2022.

S

Other liabilities have increased by £129 million, mainly as a resut of increased provisions, in particular for maintenance with the increase in
flying over the year, and also the provision for customer claims reflecting the higher volume of disruption events in the year.

Debt has decreased by £170 million mainly as a result of the repayment of the final £300 million of the Covid Corporate Financing Facility
(CCFF) in the year, plus the $100 million partial repayment of the UKEF facility, offset by weaker sterling at 30 September 2022
increasing the translated value of the debt.

As at 30 September 2022, the Group is unable to assess the likely outcome or quantum of the claims of the investigation by the ICO,
group action and other claims following the cyber-attack in May 2020 and no provision has been recognised. (See note 1under critical
accounting judgements — contingency liability recognition.)
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Key statistics

Increase/
2022 2021 (decrease}
Operating measures
Seats flown (millions) 81.5 282 189.0%
Passengers (millions) 69.7 20.4 241.7%
Load factor 85.5% 72.5% 13.0ppt
Available Seat Kilometres (ASK) (millions) 97,287 33,348 191.7%
Revenue Passenger Kilometres (RPK) (millions) 84,874 23,594 259.7%
Average sector length (kilometres) 1,193 1184 0.8%
Sectors ('000) 456 156 192.3%
Block hours {('000) 938 k1l 201.6%
easyJet holidays passengers (thousands)' 805 58 1,287.9%
Number of aircraft owned/leased at end of year 320 308 3.9%
Average number of aircraft owned/leased during year 321 331 (3.0%)
Number of aircraft operated at end of year 310 239 29.7%
Average number of aircraft operated during year 255 198 28.8%
Number of routes operated at end of year 088 927 6.6%
Number of airports served at end of year 153 153 0.0%
Favourable/
Financial measures ’ 2022 2021 (adverse)
Total return on capital employed (0.6%) (22.4%) 21.8ppt
Headline return on capital employed 0.1% (25.5%) 25.6ppt
Airline total loss before tax per seat (£) (3.01) (36.33) (91.7%)
Airline headline loss before tax per seat (£) (2.65) (39.87) (93.4%)
Airline total loss before tax per ASK (pence) (0.25) (3.0 (92.0%)
Airline headiine loss before tax per ASK (pence) (0.22) (3.41) (93.5%)
Revenue
Airline revenue per seat (£) 66.23 50.54 31.0%
Airline revenue per seat at constant currency (£) 67.33 50.54 33.2%
Airline revenue per ASK (pence) 5.55 4.37 27.0%
Airline revenue per ASK at constant currency (pence)? 5.64 4,37 29.1%
Airline revenue per passenger (£)? 77.48 69.72 N1%
Airline revenue per passenger at constant currency (£)*3 78.77 69.72 13.0%
Costs
Per seat measures
Airline headline cost per seat (£) 68.88 90.41 (23.8%)
Airline total cost per seat (£) 69.24 86.87 (20.3%)
Airline headline cost per seat excluding fuel (£) 53.20 77.25 (31.1%)
Airline headline cost per seat excluding fuel at constant currency (£)* 52.66 7757 (321%)
Airline total cost per seat excluding fuel (£) 53.56 7372 (27.3%)
Airline total cost per seat excluding fuel at constant currency (£)* 53.02 74.04 (28.4%)
Per ASK measures
Airline headline cost per ASK (pence) 5.77 764 (24.5%)
Airline total cost per ASK (pence) 5.80 7.34 (21.0%)
Airline headline cost per ASK excluding fuel (pence) 4.46 6.53 (31.7%)
Airline headline cost per ASK excluding fuel at constant currency (pence)? 4.41 6.55 (32.7%)
Airline total cost per ASK excluding fuel (pence) 4.49 6.23 (27.9%)
Airline total cost per ASK excluding fuel at constant currency (pence)® 4,45 6.26 (28.9%)

1. Total holiday customers including affiliates is 1.1 million (FY21: 0.1 million).

2. Prior year comparative restated to show correct figure.

3. Constant currency metrics restate FY22 using FY21 rates, and exclude the impact of foreign exchange revaluations from both current year and prior year

results.
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" Our corporate risk
- management frameéwork
The Board approves the strategy for easyJet

including strategic initiatives and objectives, and -

ensures suitable oversight and governance
through several management methods,
including monitoring and reporting, strategic

. reviews, oversight committees and deep dives
into specific risk areas, especrally in the airline
sector.

The Board is uItimater responsible for
determining the nature and extent of the
principal risks it is willing to take to achieve its

" strategic objectives, its risk appetite, and
maintaining the Group’s systems of internal
control and risk management.

The Audit Committee, on behalf of the Board, is
accountable for reviewing and assessing the risk
management processes. The Risk and
Assurance team, which reports jointly to the
Chair of the Audit Committee and CFO, ensures
that robust processes are in place for identifying

- and assessing the Group's emerging:and

principal risks. The Board has carried out a’

_robust assessment of the principal and

emerging risks facing the Group and how those
risks affect the prospects of the Group, with the
assxstance of the Audit Committee.

v

The Risk and Assurance team is responsible for
creating, implementing and delivering the
corporate risk framework and reporting the
principal and emerging risks to the Board. Each
function across easyJet is responsible for
understanding and managing its risks and
considering the impact on all stakeholders. The
Risk and Assurance team then maintains a -
programme of risk monitoring with each
function to ensure that risks are managed within
the framework and to promote cross-functional
management of risks.

We continue to develop our corporate risk
framework to ensure that risks, including
emerging risks, are identified, assessed,
managed and articulated. The Risk and

" Assurance team identifies topics and relevant

lessons learned from across industry, both
within the aviation sector and beyond. These
lessons are used to identify emerging risks and
further enhance the easyJet corporate risk
framework and are fed into the functional nisk
plans through continual dialogue with functional -
risk contacts. The Risk and Assurance team
works with the functions to ensure that risk
information remains relevant and control
deficiencies or gaps aré identified, and
development actions are implernented.

During FY22, the Corporate Risk teamhas .
further developed the corporate risk framework.

- Al functional and operational risks have been

scored on the same basis using the same
taxonomy. Some facilitated functional risk
reviews have taken place to dive deeper into
key risk areas. The Internal Audit team, along’
with Corporate Risk, has developed an
assurance map to identify key controls for .
our principal risks and the assurance over
these controls.

As with all busrnesses our principal risks and- uncertainties are contmually evolving. Last year we reported on.the risk arising from cllmate )
change with regards to both physical and transition risks, and this year climate change transition features as a pnncnpal nsk covering
both the carbon trading schemes and increased taxation risks which were reported previously. Within the legislative and regulatory
landscape, the brand licence and major shareholder risk has been split into a brand licence risk and a wider shareholder activism risk. In*

the racro-economic and geopolitical field, supply/demand imbalance has been replaced by a newly-articulated risk of competitive .
environment. When assessing risks, we consider the risks to our business and our- stakebolders,, g
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Emerging risks — an example

The war in Ukraine was an emerging risk
arising during the year. While we were not
affected from an operational point of view
(as we do not fly near, over or to Ukraine
or Russia), we have continued to monitor
the situation and ensure that our crisis
management procedures are up to date
and that these procedures can be used
should the situation change and start to
have an impact on the airspace easyJet
uses. However, we did have to assess the

impact of sanctions, and easyJet
implemented a three-stage plan in
response to the categorisation of the rising
risks. Firstly, we looked at the IT supply
chain implications, considering how this
would impact our cyber risk exposures.
Secondly, we considered our non-IT supply
chain and whether the changes to the
geopolitical landscape would cause supply
chain risk events that would impact our
ability to operate. Finally, the fleet team
considered the impact that new sanctions

would have on our leased fleet. We worked
with our legal team to ensure that we had
up-to-date information on the sanctions
regime relevant to our operations and
assets. In a matter of weeks, we removed
the suppliers from our supply chain that
were impacted by sanctions or located in
impacted jurisdictions. These actions were
implemented swiftly with the Board's
support and approval. In addition, we
terminated lease agreements of six aircraft
that were ultimately owned by the Russian
state.

When operational disruption hits the

industry participants inits highly
connected ecosystem. During the
Covid-19 pandemic, non-essential travel
was restricted by governments to
reduce the rate of infection. This
demand shock reduced passenger
volumes, leading to all airlines
dramatically scaling back operations,

the airline ecosystem.

in spring 2022, due to a number of risk
factors, widespread disruption was
experienced, resulting in flight
cancellations and the reissuing of flying
schedules. easyJet experienced several
disruption incidents above expected
levels. However, the teams involved
identified the issues and impacts on
stakeholders, established alternative
plans to navigate the business through
a difficult period for the industry and
learned lessons from the experience
that will strengthen the operation
through FY23 and beyond.

During the ramp-up of operations, we
experienced an emerging labour
shortage risk arising from the after-
effects of the Covid-19 pandemic and

after Brexit. Ensuring sufficient cabin-
crew volumes in the UK, and especially

pandemic a significant percentage of

airline industry it affects a wide range of

which had knock-on effects throughout

As the industry ramped back operations

caused by the new legislative landscape

at our Gatwick base, proved a challenge
due to a reduced talent pool; before the

CASE STUDY: OPERATIONAL DISRUPTION

+«our people at our London Gatwick Airport
base were from mainland Europe, and are
no longer able to work for us.

Delays in processing airside security checks
for new recruits had a further impact on
the available team. easyJet reacted quickly
to address the issue by removing flying
volumes and redistributing the remaining
flying schedule to avoid high
concentrations of activity. This allowed us
to optimise resilience and ensure that the
resource available was more able to handle
the volume of flying. To attract and retain
cabin crew into the business, employee
packages were reviewed and improved,
with enhanced terms and conditions,
increased salaries, joining and retention
bonuses and better benefits. With rising
living costs affecting all of easyJet's
markets, a review of employment packages
has been conducted in other areas of the
business.

Targeted improvements have been made
to recognise the efforts made during the
last two years, to ease the effects of the
cost-of-living crisis and ensure that easyJet
remains an employer of choice for new
talent. Further improvements following
these disruption events include extending
recruitment lead times, for example,
starting from September 2022, to uplift for
increased summer trade and considering
the possibility of looking outside Europe for
talent.

In addition to internal resourcing issues
impacting operational performance,
risks arising in the supply chain
contributed to the disruption
experienced during the beginning of
summer 2022, Air traffic control,
airports (including security, person of
restrictive movement and handlers),
ground-handlers and coaching providers
were all impacted by resourcing issues.
A key factor was the aggregation effect
of all members of the airline industry
ecosystem approaching the same talent
pool, along with other industries such as
domestic leisure, entertainment and
food and drink businesses. To mitigate
these effects on easyJet's operations,
the teams have worked with our
suppliers to benchmark and improve
their terms and conditions to reduce
attrition, such as offering full-time
employment contracts rather than
seasonal contracts, and to also ensure
that our key suppliers have robust plans
in place to improve resilience.

We have emerged from this disruption
stronger and during Q4 FY22 we
experienced a reduction in operational
disruption. We have reviewed our
processes and procedures, continuing
to strengthen these in preparation for
the FY23 flying programme.
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Key: 6 Increasing compared to 2021 Building Europe’s best network @ Transforming revenue
0 Decreasing compared to 2021 @ Delivering ease and reliability @ Driving our low-cost model

@ stable

Safety, security and operations

Significant safety or Potential impacts

security event « Significant injury and/or loss of life

Risk owner: » Sustained adverse media coverage ' .
Chief Operating Officer « Reduction in future revenue

« Fines/regulatory sanctions
» Operational disruption
= « Significant spike in costs

» Share price movement

Change in risk

Primary link to strategy
Mitigations
+ Functional Safety Action Groups from across the Airline and easyJet holidays are chaired by the

appropriate senior manager and are responsible for the identification, evaluation and control of
safety-related risks.
The easyJet Safety Board meets monthly to review safety, security and compliance performance
across all Air Operator Certificates (AOC) chaired by the CEO, attended by the three AOC
accountable managers and periodically by AOC regulators.
+ Safety Review Boards are held locally, including at AOC level, and are open for the local regulator

to attend.
« A Safety Policy is published that promotes the incident reporting process and supports the safety
culture.
easyJet operates a Safety Management System using leading software systems to:

« report incidents and identify events;

«+ identify hazards and threats and take appropriate risk-mitigating actions;

« collect and analyse safety data (enabling potential areas of risk to be projected); and

» enable learning from easyJet and industry events/incidents to be captured and embedded into
future risk mitigations. :

.

Timely, credible and refiable information upon which to base operational decisions.

. eésyJet has an emergency response process and performs crisis management exercises.

« A hull, spares and liabilities insurance policy is held.

Security cleared specialists continually review geopolitical developments across the easyJet

network, in particular those countries deemed to be higher risk, and report back to the Board any

areas of concern.

« easyJet maintains an inspection regime of all our airports to ensure the security elements are
being effectively managed.

« easylJet continually reviews and develops its safety management processes.
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Key: 6 Increasing compared to 2021
0 Decreasing compared to 2021

a Stable

Building Europe’s best network @ Transforming revenue

Delivering ease and reliability @ Driving our low-cost model

Safety, security and 6perations (continued)

Significant operational
disruption

Risk owner:

Chief Operating Officer

Change in risk

O

Primary link to strategy

Potential impacts

.

Customer dissatisfaction

EU261 compensation and welfare payable to customers
Inefficient use of crew/aircraft

Negative impact on brand

Share price movement

Adverse media coverage

Reduction in revenue

Operational disruption

M

itigations

Maintaining operational resiience through:

« building appropriate schedule resilience into the flying schedule;

« maintaining aircraft and crew standby;

« reporting on the day of operations, including customer communication;

« monitoring airport performance and strategic supply chain;

« air traffic control system lobbying and flight planning enhancements; and

« the use of data across the operation to predict and manage events and aid decision support.
Mitigating UK cabin crew recruitment, attrition and impact of Brexit through improved T&Cs., early
opening of recruitment for summer 2023 and aligning the schedule to crew supply.

Mitigating pilot recruitment by early opening of recruitment for summer 2023. Training
commences pre-Christmas 2022.

Liquidity buffer to better manage the impact of downturns in business or temporary curtailment
of activities.

Business interruption insurance which provides some cover for very significant shock events such
as extreme weather, air traffic management issues and loss of access to key airports. The poficy
could allow us to claim in the event of a very substantial number of cancellations.

Significant focus on risk mitigation of and preparedness for a destructive cyber-attack, including
running a cyber crisis exercise for the senior Crisis team and the Airline Management Board (AMB).

Pandemic

Risk owner:
Chief Financial Officer

Change in risk

)

Primary link to strategy

Potential impacts

.

.

Suppressed customer demand

Sustained adverse media coverage

Reduction in future revenue

Increased regulatory requirements and scrutiny
Operational disruption

Significant spike in costs

Share price movement

M

itigations

A Biosecurity Standards Group is in place and includes safety and security experts including our
Company doctor and representatives from across the Airline and easyJet holidays. The Group is
responsible for developing and maintaining our single set of easyJet biosecurity standards, which
set out the requirements to ensure a safe and healthy environment for our people, customers and
contractors. Standards are translated into our Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) and
Communications.

Pandemic Playbook, which acts in partnership with our Incident & Crisis Management Playbook and
the Business Continuity Playbook, to manage and coordinate the response to future pandemics,
which includes the following Planning Principles: Precaution, Proportionality and Flexibility.

A Communicable Disease Policy that promotes the incident-reporting process, provides processes
for immediate response actions for dealing with any communicable disease event and supports a
safe and healthy environment.

Governance structure including a Steering Committee (SteerCo) involving the Chief Financial
Officer, Chief Operating Officer, Chief Commercial Officer and Director of Strategy, to manage
pandemic and epidemic events. The SteerCo is responsible for strategic oversight and
communication with the Board. It maintains focus on long-term recovery.

Maintaining balance sheet strength.

Dynamic planning and capacity management process to manage supply and demand fluctuations.
Pandemic Lessons Learned review identified best practices and opportunities for improvement.

62 easyJet plc Annual Report and Accounts 2022



STRATEGIC REPORT

Asset efficiency and effectiveness

Single aircraft type
operations
Risk owner:
Chief Financia! Officer

Change in risk

e

Primary link to strategy

D

.

Potential impacts

.

Schedule reductions/cancellations

Grounding of all/part of the fleet

Reduced customer confidence in aircraft type

Financial impact related to (i) residual value of the asset, (i} costs of modifications/corrections to
address any issues or perceived issues with the type, and (iii) costs of either reducing enterprise
size or providing alternative fleet capacity to maintain enterprise activities

M

.

itigations

There are ¢.8,200 A320 family (A319, A320, A321) aircraft operating, with a proven track record
for safety and reliability.

Introduction of the A320neo in part mitigates this single fleet supplier risk as the aircraft is
equipped with a different engine type.

The continued maturity of the aircraft types since their initial entry into service in part mitigates
this single fleet supplier risk, as the aircraft are subject to continuous improvement to address
learnings during operation and regulatory-imposed airworthiness directives.

easyJet continues to work closely with Airbus to ensure full visibility of the delivery schedule for
new aircraft. If there are material delays, appropriate mitigation is put in place; for example,
short-term wet lease arrangements are used to minimise any operational impact.

easyJet operates a rigorous established aircraft maintenance programme. Maintenance schedules
are approved by the relevant regulatory body.

easyJet regularly reviews the second-hand market and has several different options when looking
at fleet exit strategies. Sale and leaseback facilitate the exit of aircraft from the fleet by
transferring residua! value risk and provide flexibility in managing the fleet size.

easyJet has a firm orderbook agreed with Airbus and CFM, which guarantees continued access to
new fleet inventory up to FY29. This allows the airline to continuously replace older aircraft and
avoids a prolonged service life for aircraft in easyJet's fleet.

Non—delivery_“(_)f
strategic initiatives
Risk owner:

Chief Data and
Information Officer

Change in risk

e

Primary link to strategy

Potential impacts

Business benefits not realised
Financial underperformance
Inefficient use of resource

M

itigations

Complex, large-scale programmes have been initiated and prioritised through the Portfolio
Planning process and are aligned to the corporate strategy.

The Enterprise Project Management Office is in place to oversee delivery of projects and
programmes, ensuring dependencies are managed across the portfolio.

A project management framework, which sets out approval processes, governance requirements
and key ongoing processes and controls, is followed by all projects and programmes, and reviews
are undertaken to ensure continuous improvement in this approach. ’

Each strategic initiative has an executive sponsor and a Leadership 50 lead assigned, as well as its
own steering group which provides oversight and challenge to the project, monitors progress
against programme objectives (including budget, benefit realisation and appropriate resource) -
and ensures that decisions are made at the appropriate level.

Key strategic initiatives are managed by dedicated programme management resource with the
right skills and behaviours, complemented by subject matter specialist resource where
appropriate.

The executive sponsor provides routine updates to the AMB and can use this as an escalation
channel for any issue resolution.

The Board also receives updates on key strategic initiatives including any risks or issues that
threaten achieving the key milestones that enable the achievement of the five-year plan.

The Internal Audit function provides independent programme assurance over our most significant
initiatives, drawing on independent subject matter expertise where appropriate.

The Enterprise Architect Review Board (EARB) provides independent programme assurance over
key technology and strategy decisions, drawing upon independent subject matter expertise
where appropriate.

easyJet.com 63




RISK (CONTINUED)

Key: 0 Increasing compared to 2021
0 Decreasing compared to 2021

& stable

Building Europe’s best network @ Transforming revenue

Delivering ease and reliability @ Driving our low-cost model

Asset efficiency and effectiveness (continued)

Airport infrastructure

Risk owner:
Chief Operating Officer

Change in risk

o

Primary link to strategy

Potential impacts

.

.

Weakened customer proposition

Customer welfare and safety incidents, particularly relating to passengers with restricted mobility
Loss of market share

Inefficient use of crew and aircraft

Significant increase in costs

Slot portfolio pressure in coordinated airports

Loss of crew engagement

Shortage of ground-handling staff (due to shortage of available recruits in the UK) could lead to
delayed performance of the schedule, leading to impact on crew hours and slot compliance
Shortage of airport staff (PRM and security) risks poor passenger handling experience

Mitigations .

.

Where easyJet is affected by industrial action or other service interruption by a key supplier,
resources are deployed to manage this as effectively as possible.

Sophisticated processes and systems to ensure slot transactions are made in an efficient and
effective manner. .

Effective cross-functional governance to ensure optimal business decisions are made.

easyJet closely monitors airport capacity through a dedicated airport development team. The
team works with airports to ensure the development of appropriate capacity for easyJet in a cost
efficient and timely manner.

easy.Jet's Schedule Strategy team monitors slot portfolios at airports and assesses potential
growth opportunities that may arise.

Managing aircraft gauge to improve our ability to grow.

Recruitment of new staff has continued throughout summer and into winter to deliver required
headcount for summer.

Multiskilling of existing staff to provide greater flexibility of existing ground staff.

Continuity of services

Risk owner:
Chief Operating Officer

Change in risk

@

Primary link to strategy

Potential impacts

.

.

System unavailability for customers and/or staff
Inability to access key buildings/facilities
Adverse media coverage

Unavailability of critical staff

Reliance on inadequate supplier recovery plans
Brand/reputation impact

Operational disruption

Mitigations

The four key areas of business resilience (IT and processes, people, premises and suppliers) all
form part of easyJet’s functional business and airport Business Continuity Plans.

Critical IT systems are identified with ongoing efforts to match the business needs with recovery
capabilities. The risk of system unavailability is now mitigated further, thanks to the adoption of
the cloud and the select use of externally hosted systems, in addition to easyJet's two
datacentres.

Crisis Management Framework in place, ensuring all functions and departments understand their
roles and responsibilities in the event of an incident.

Incident Management Teams are in place 24/7 to manage low level IT incidents. If there is a major
incident or an escalation of an incident that has a wider impact on other parts of the business and
stakeholders, then it can be escalated into the Crisis Management Framework via the Network
Duty Manager.

Time-critical staff have been identified via Business Impact Assessments and Business Continuity
Plans, with regularly tested recovery desks allocated at alternate locations, should the usual place
of work be unavailable. An increased provision of laptops and tablets also enables greater mobility
and remote ways of working.

Procurement processes include risk assessments aligned with business objectives. These require
relevant third parties to have their own Business Continuity/Disaster Recovery plans and we are
implementing a process to review a sample of these each year.

Maintain close working relationships with key stakeholders including, but not limited to, airport
authorities and slot coordinators, lobbying where appropriate.
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Legislative and regulatory landscape

Shareholder activism
Risk owner:
Chief Financial Officer

Change in risk

e

Primary link to strategy

@

Potential impacts .

.

Sustained adverse media coverage

Share price movement

Loss of colleague/customer trust

Unable to execute strategy

Inadequate votes to approve decisions recommended by the management team

M

.

itigations

Active shareholder engagement programme.

Regular engagement with easyGroup Holdings Limited alongside other major shareholders.
easyJet has two major shareholders (easyGroup Holdings Limited and Polys Holdings Limited)
which, as a concert party, control approximately 15.27% of its ordinary shares.
Representatives from the Board and senior management take collective responsibility for
addressing issues arising from any activist approach adopted by the major shareholder. The
objective is to address issues when they arise and anticipate and plan for potential future activism.
Quarterly meeting and roadshows of senior representatives from easyJet and our major
shareholders, attended by the Chief Financial Officer.

Programme to monitor and understand our shareholder base.

Changing legal and
regulatory landscape

Risk owner:
Group General Counsel &
Company Secretary

Change in risk

| @

Primary link to strategy

D

Potential impacts

Sustained adverse media coverage
Fines/regulatory sanctions
Reduction in future revenue
Operational disruption

Loss of operating licence
Significant spike in costs

Share price movement

Loss of colleague/customer trust

M

itigations

Policies, procedures and mandatory training programmes. )

easyJet has an in-house team of legal and regulatory experts to advise on legal issues and
developments, and to assist the business in interpreting any formal regulatory requirements.
Where appropriate, this expertise is supplemented with specialist external support relevant to a
specific discipline or jurisdiction.

Panel of external legal advisers, both in the UK and across all easyJet markets, are briefed to
proactively keep easyJet informed of any changes or new legislation and to assist easyJet in
developing appropriate responses to such legislation.

easyJet influences future and existing policy and regulations which affect the airline industry
through several different channels, including working with relevant industry bodies.

easyJet adapts to new legislation and regulation, where possible adapting existing processes (for
example, mandatory training programmes and clear policies and associated guidance).

Brand licence

Risk owner:
Group General Counsel &
Company Secretary

Change in risk

e

Primary link to strategy

Potential impacts

Eventual loss of the brand licence

easyJet does not own its company name or branding, which is licensed from easyGroup Ltd. The
licence includes certain minimum service levels that easyJet must meet to retain the right to use
the name and brand

Cost of rebrand

Reputational issues

M

itigations

Training for new joiners and regular refresh with key teams (brand, marketing, legal. commercial
and operations).

Quarterly meeting of senior representatives from easyJet and our brand licence holder, attended
by the Chief Financial Officer and the Group General Counsel & Company Secretary, to actively
manage brand-related issues as they arise.

Monitoring and reporting against brand licence KPIs.

easyJet makes contributions to the joint brand protection fund.
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Key: 0 Increasing compared to 2021 Building Europe’s best network @ Transforming revenue
0 Decreasing compared to 2021 Delivering ease and reliability @ Driving our low-cost model
@ steble '
People
Talent acquisition Potential impacts
and retention « Sustained inability to deliver key strategic initiatives
Risk owner: » Loss of corporate knowledge
Group People Director « Potential operational disruption and associated costs
Change in risk L. ,
Mitigations
0 » Creation of retention programme co-sponsored by HR Director, M&A and People Development
and Reward Director.
Primary link to strategy + Projects making up the programme include:
‘ + Leadership and Management Capability Development

» Talent Development Programme
« Inclusion and Diversity
« Employee Value Proposition
» Wellbeing Framework
« Recognition Principles
* Reward approach, including:
+ guaranteed bonus for the Management and Administration (M&A) community in FY22 of at
least 5% of basic salary paid in two instalments
» M&A salary adjustment effective 1 July 2022 in response to cost-of-living pressures and
market adjustments given salary freeze within M&A over the past two years
« summer retention incentive for UK cabin crew
« launch of easyJet holidays employee benefit credit across the network.
« Hybrid working across our office-based communities that support new ways of working with the
right policies, processes and technology to improve the employee experience.

,,,,,,,, w o e od e Engagement survey across communities to gain insight on employee sentiment.
Industrial action Potential impacts
Risk owner: » Sustained adverse media coverage
Group People Director « Operational disruption
« Significant spike in costs

Change in risk
ﬁ 9 « Reduction in future revenue

« Share price movement
« Loss of colleague/customer trust

Primary link to strategy

Mitigations
» easyJet seeks to maintain positive working relationships with all trade unions and other
. representative bodies and has a framework in place for consulting and engaging with trade unions

and consuiltative bodies.

« In the event of industrial action or expected disruption, easyJet has processes to mitigate the
impact to our operations. The Operations department also has specific procedures to deal with
such events.
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Environment and sustainability

Climate change
transition

Risk owner:
Chief Financial Officer

Change in risk

o

Primary link to strategy

Potential impacts - - .
+ Increased operational costs driven by regulation relating to the use of Sustainable Aviation Fuel,
withdrawal of free allowances under the ETS, fuel taxes, taxation of non-carbon GHG emissions
and other air travel-related charges
« Suppression of demand driven by changes in consumer preferences
« Increased compliance and reporting requirements
Shareholder activism ‘
Adverse publicity and impact on our reputation/brand
Climate change-related regulatory and legal challenge

Mitigations

» The inclusion in financial modeliing and projections of the increased operational costs arising from
climate regulation.

+ The pathway to net zero provides the framework for easyJet to mitigate the climate change

transition risk with the objective of achieving net zero carbon emissions by 2050.

Contractually committed volumes of Sustainable Aviation Fuel to manage security of supply and

competitive pricing.

Lobbying efforts with competent authorities in the EU and UK to ensure that policies intended to

catalyse decarbonisation of the industry do not disproportionately disadvantage short-haul and/or

low-cost carriers.

« Securing next generation Airbus A320neo and A321neo aircraft which are at least 15% more fuel

efficient than the previous generation CEO aircraft. _

Optimise fuel usage through operational and technological initiatives to reduce emissions and

hence the potential financial impact of carbon and/or GHG emissions, for example ensuring

optimised route planning and climb, descent and landing techniques to improve fuel efficiency.

Collaborating with airlines and trade bodies to develop a lobbying strategy for the modernisation

of airspace across the easyJet network.

« Supporting and influencing, via partnerships with key industry players, research and development
of new zero carbon emission propulsion technologies.

« Exploring and supporting the scaling-up of nascent technologies, through partnering with
appropriate stakeholders, to maximise the likelihood of all decarbonisation levers being available at
scale, for example investing in Direct Air Carbon Capture and Storage (DACCS) to support
development and formal recognition of carbon removal through a partnership with Airbus.

« Ensuring easyJet has credible partnerships with relevant stakeholders that aim to develop
technologies and policies to support aviation's path to net zero. For example, proactively
supporting and investing in relevant hydrogen aircraft development programmes such as with
Rolls-Royce, Airbus and others.

» Appropriate governance and cross-functional working to ensure the management of risks. For
instance, the Sustainability Communications forum and Environmental Policy Group meet regularly
to discuss and assess risk and mitigating actions.

3
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RISK (CONTINUED)

Key: 6 Increasing compared to 2021
a Decreasing compared to 2021

e Stable

Building Europe’s best network @ Transforming revenue

Delivering ease and reliability @ Driving our low-cost model

Technology and digital safety

Failure of critical
technology

Risk owner:
Chief Data and
Information Officer

Change in risk

e

Primary link to strategy

Potential impacts

« Sustained adverse media coverage
« Reduction in future revenue

« Fines/regulatory sanctions

» Operational disruption

« Significant spike in costs

» Share price movement

Mitigations '

« Monitoring and alerting of availability of critical technologies and their inter-dependencies.

+ Security logging and monitoring.

« Vulnerability scanning and penetration testing. )

« |IT Change Management Process embedded to assess risk of all changes to technology including
changes made by third-party providers.

« Critical technologies are either cloud-hosted, hosted across two data centres or at third-party
provider locations with necessary failover protocols and security perimeters in place.

« 1T Major Incident Management team is in place to respond rapidly to any unforeseen critical
technology incidents with defined escalation and communication with the easyJet Crisis
Management Framework as required.

« IT Supplier Relationship Management process to ensure that critical third-party services and
associated risks are regularly reviewed and assessed.

« IT and Digital Safety Policies and Standards that set out the technical and organisational measures
for keeping our data and systems safe, available and performing.

« As an Operator of Essential Services under the Network and Information Systems regulation in the
UK, we have to comply with the requirements laid out in the Cyber Assessment Framework for
Aviation which focuses on critical systems availability.

Significant digital
safety event

Risk owner:
Group General Counsel &
‘Company Secretary

Change in risk

| @

Primary link to strategy

Potential impacts

« Sustained adverse media coverage
» Fines/regulatory sanctions

« Third-party liability/class actions

« Reduction in future revenue

« Operational disruption

« Significant spike in costs

+ Share price movement

« Loss of colleague/customer trust

Mitigations

+ A data and cyber risk governance structure exists to regularly review the data and cyber risk
landscape and determine required action to take place to manage risk effectively.
Dedicated Digital Safety team provides a level of assurance over third parties, proactively
monitors threats and responds to incidents.

Employee education and awareness programme including a network of champions, online training
and awareness campaigns.

External threat intelligence monitoring.

Security logging and monitoring.

Vulnerability scanning and penetration testing.

Digital safety programme to enhance compliance and ensure data control and protection.
Credit card data is protected through PCI DSS compliance as a Level 1 Merchant. This is
revalidated annually by an external body, to which we (and they) attest.

Digital safety is discussed monthly at our AMB and quarterly at our plc Board. Additionally, as part
of our governance processes, the Digital Safety Board meets regularly to discuss matters related
to our cybersecurity.

.

.
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Macro-economic and geopolitical

Competitive
environment

Risk owner:
Chief Commercial Officer

Change in risk’

—

Primary link to strategy

Potential impacts

» Permanent and/or temporary reduction in earnings due to loss of competitive advantage across
multiple and/or singular network points

This is underpinned by:

.

» Loss of scale leadership
« Loss of constraint network position
« Loss of cost advantage

Mitigations

» Established competitor capacity monitoring systems and processes (short and long term).
Visibility of airport infrastructure development plans.

Monitor slot availability.

Monitor and review competitor commercia! pricing behaviour.

« Use data and ongoing surveys to monitor key drivers of customer and market behaviour.
Monitor state aid conditions to ensure fairness in market.

Reactive plans ready for key scenarios including explicit trigger points.

Retain fleet flexibility.

Cohesive lobbying strategy.

» Focus on unit cost to enable low fares.

Product differentiation.

.

.

.

Volatility in financial
markets

Risk owner:
Chief Financial Officer

| Changeinrisk......

@

Primary link to strategy

)

Potential impacts ,

» Insufficient cash to meet financial obligations as they fall due and/or the inability to fund the
business when needed, leading to insolvency.

» Significant increase in costs.

Mitigations

_» The Finance Committee (a committee of the plc Board) oversees the Group’s treasury and

funding policies and activities.

» Treasury Policy sets out plc Board-approved stfategies for market price risk management,
counter-party credit risk management and fiquidity risk management. Monthly reporting on all
treasury activity including reporting on compliance.

+ Maintaining a liquidity buffer supported by cash and undrawn facilities.

» Ability to access diverse sources of funding to support liquidity requirements.

+ Rolling hedging programmes on jet fuel and foreign exchange market price exposure.
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GOING CONCERN AND VIABILITY STATEMENT

DISCLOSURE FOR GOING CONCERN
AND VIABILITY STATEMENT

Assessment of prospects

The Strategic Report on pages 1to 49 sets
out the activities of the Group and the
factors likely to impact its future
development, performance and position.
The Financial Review on pages 50 to 58
sets out the financial position of the Group,
cash flows, liquidity position and borrowing
activity. The notes to the accounts include
the objectives, policies and procedures for
managing capital, financial risk
management objectives, details of financial
instruments and hedging activities, and
exposure to credit risk and liquidity risk.

In,accordance with the requirements of the
2018 UK Corporate Governance Code, the
Directors have assessed the long-term
prospects of the Group, taking into
account its current position and a range of ’
internal and external factors, including the
principal risks. The Directors have
determined that a three-year period is an
appropriate timeframe for this viability
assessment. In concluding on a three-year
period, the Directors considered the
reliability of forecast information, the
duration and impact of Covid-19 and
longer-term management incentives.

Available

funds

As at {drawn and

September 2022 Maturity date undrawn)

Eurobonds February €500m
2023

October 2023  €500m

June 2025 €500m

March 2028 €1,200m

Revolving credit September $400m
facility 2025*

UKEF backed
facility January 2026  $1,770m

* Option to extend to September 2027 at
lender’'s consent

The assessment of the prospects of the
Group includes the following factors:

« The strategic plan — which takes into
consideration market conditions, future
commitments, cash flow, expected
impact of key risks, funding requirements
and maturity of existing financing
facilities.

» The fleet plan ~ the plan retains some
flexibility to adjust the size of the fleet
in response to opportunities or risks.

t

+ Strength of the balance sheet and
unencumbered assets — this sustainable
strength gives us access to capital
markets.

+ Risk assessment — see detailed risk
assessment on pages 59 to 69.

Stress testing

The corporate risk management framework
facilitates the identification, analysis, and
response to plausible risk, including
emerging risks as our business evolves, in
an increasingly volatile environment.
Through our corporate risk management
process, a robust assessment of the
principal risks facing the organisation has
been performed (see pages 59 to 69) and
the controls and mitigations identified.

Both individually and combined, these
potential risks are unlikely to require
significant additional management actions
to support the business to remain viable,
however, there could be actions that
management would deem necessary to
reduce the impact of the risks. The stress
testing scenarios identified show that
there is sufficient liquidity assuming the
refinancing of the existing bonds.

Going concern statement

In adopting the going concern basis for
preparing these financial statements, the
Directors have considered easyJet's
business activities, together with factors
likely to affect its future development and
performance, as well as easyJet's principal
risks and uncertainties through to June
2024.

As at 30 September 2022, easyJet has a
net debt position of £0.7 billion including
cash and cash equivalents and money
market deposits of £3.6 billion, with
unrestricted access to £4.7 billion of
liquidity and has retained ownership of 57%
of the total fleet with 41% being
unencumbered.

The Directors have reviewed the financial
forecasts and funding requirements with
consideration given to the potential impact
of severe but plausible downside risks.
easyJet has modelled a base case
representing management’s best
estimation of how the business plans to
perform over the period. The future impact
of climate change on the business has
been incorporated into strategic plans,

including the estimated financial impact
within the base case cash flow projections
of the future estimated price of ETS
permits, the phasing out of the free ETS
permits from 2024, the expected price and
quantity required of Sustainable Aviation
Fuel usage and fleet renewals.

The business is exposed to fluctuations in
fuel prices and foreign exchange rates.
easyJet is currently ¢.74% hedged for fuel
in H1 of FY23 at c.US$814 per metric tonne,
¢.51% hedged for H2 FY23 at c.US$903 and
¢.25% hedged for H1 FY24 at c.US$922.

In modelling the impact of severe but
plausible downside risks, the Directors have
considered demand suppression leading to
a reduction in ticket yield of 5% and
reduced capacity of 5% as well as
sensitivities on fuel price (increase of $100
per metric tonne), operational costs
(additional inflation assumed on all costs),
reoccurrence of additional disruption costs
(at year ended 30 September 2022 levels)
and delays in the delivery of strategic
revenue initiatives. These impacts have
been modelled across the whole going
concern period. In addition, this downside
model also includes a grounding of 25% of
the fleet for one month in the peak trading
month of August to cover the range of
severe but plausible risks that could result
in significant operational disruption. This
downside scenario resulted in a significant
reduction in liquidity but still maintained
sufficient headroom on externa! liquidity
requirements.

After reviewing the current liquidity
position, committed funding facilities, the
base case and severe but plausible
downside financial forecasts incorporating
the uncertainties described above, the
Directors have a reasonable expectation
that the Group has sufficient resources to
continue in operation for the foreseeable
future. For these reasons the Directors
continue to adopt the going concern basis
of accounting in preparing the Group's
financial statements.
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Viability Statement

Based on the assessment performed, the
Directors have a reasonable expectation
that the Company and the Group will be
able to continue in operation and meet all
liabilities as they fall due up to September
2025. in making this statement, the
Directors have made the following key
assumptions:

1. easyJet has access to a variety of
funding options including capital
markets, aircraft financing and bank or
government debt. The stress testing
demonstrates that the current funding,

’ Risk theme

t Impact on viability

with refinancing of the existing bonds,
would be sufficient to retain liquidity in
both the base and downside cases.

. In assessing viability, it is assumed that
the detailed risk management process
as outlined on pages 59 to 69. captures
all plausible risks, and that in the event
that multiple risks occur, all available
actions to mitigate the impact to the
Group would be taken on a timely basis
and have the intended impact.

. There is no prolonged grounding of a
substantial portion of the fleet greater
than included in the downside risk

Risks considered

scenario. This includes a grounding of
25% of the fleet for one month in the
peak trading month of August to cover
the range of severe but plausible risks
that could result in significant
operational disruption.

The key risks that are most likely to have a
significant impact on easyJet's viability are
shown below along with how the risk has
been considered in the stress testing and
what actions are in place to mitigate
against the identified risk. The principal risks
have continued to be assessed for any
changes in the risk environment.

Management action and Board considerations

Safety, security, and } 1. Significant safety or
operations security incident

2. Pandemic

disruption

3. Significant operational

« Operational disruption and increase of

costs. (1, 2)

Significant media coverage and/or partial
grounding of fleet leading to a reduction in
future revenue of up to 10%. (1.2)
Fines/regulatory sanctions. (1)

Increased EU261 compensation. (3)

easyJet Safety Board meets monthly.
Functional Safety Action Groups in place across
the business. (1,2)

Hull and liability insurance in place. (1.2,3)

A safety policy is published. (1,2)

Biosecurity Standards Group in place. (2)
Operational resilience actions. (3)

Asset efficiency and | 4. Single aircraft type
effectiveness operation

initiatives

% Non-delivery of strategic

€. Airport infrastructure
7. Continuity of services

.

.

Scheduled reductions/cancellations or
partial grounding of fleet leading to a
reduction in revenue of up to 10%. (4.7)
Inefficient use of resources leading to
financial underperformance. (5)

Loss of market share due to increased

competitor capacity. (6.7)

Significant increase in costs. (6)
Operational disruption, modelled by a
downside risk scenario. (4,6,7)

Enterprise Project Management Office in place
to oversee delivery of projects. (5)

Monitoring of airport capacity. (6)

Introduction of A320neo aircraft. (4)

Work closely with Airbus to retain some
flexibility in fleet planning. (4)

Airport business continuity plans in place. (7)

Loss of brand licence. (8)

Sustained adverse media coverage leading
to reduction in revenue of up to 10%.

(8.10)

Significant spike in operational costs. (9)
Fines/regulatory sanctions. {9)

Regular engagement with easyGroup holdings
and proactive management of brand-related
issues. (8)

Corpliance framework in place including
mandatory training. (9)

Use of in-house and externa! legal advisers. (9)
Active shareholder engagement programme.
(10) )

Legislative and 8. Brand licence
regulatory & Changing landscape
landscape 10. Shareholder activism
People . Industrial action

12. Talent acquisition and
retention within the Group

Operational disruption leading to increased
costs and loss of revenue of up to 10%. (1)
Sustained inability to deliver strategic

initiatives by up to 50%. (12)

Positive and ongoing relationship with trade
unions and employee workforce. (11)

Regular employee surveys and action groups to
focus on wellbeing, talent and retention. (12)
Creation of retention programme. (12)

Hybrid working. (12)

sustainability

legislation and
technology

trading scheme

Environment and 13. Climate change transition

a future environmenta!

b. changes to carbon

¢. changing consumer

Increased costs including ETS, SAF,
additional legal and technology costs and
increased cost of maintenance and
replacement of aircraft. (13 a.b.d)
Reduction in revenue of up to 10% due to

customer demand. (13 ¢)

Framework in place — the roadmap to net zero.
(13 a-d)

Contracting for SAF volumes. (13 a)

More fuel efficient A320 and A321neo aircraft.
(13 a)

Investing in hydrogen aviation initiatives. (13 a)

- demand
d. increased taxation
" Technology and 4. Failure of critical
digital safety technologies

18. Significant digital safety

Loss of the website leading to reduction in

revenue of up to 10%. (14)

Significant spike in costs relating to legal

Ongoing monitoring of critical technologies and
interdependencies. {14)
IT major incident management team in place.

markets

competitive advantage. (16)

Modelling excluding uncommitted funding.

(16, 17)

Fuel sensitivities to +$100 MT/tonne on
forecast levels, adverse foreign exchange
rate movement by 10% and fluctuating
carbon prices. Cost inflation estimates

increased up to 10%. (17)

.

event and settlement costs. (15) (15)
« Data and cyber risk governance structure exists
to regularly review data and risk. (15)
» Dedicated Information Security team. (15)
Macro-economic 16. Competitive environment « Reduction in earnings and cash and/or » Strategic planning to ensure flying schedules are
and geopolitical 17. Volatility in financial increase in costs due to loss of responsive to demand. (16)

Competitor monitoring systems and processes
in place. (16)

Consideration of various sensitivities and stress
testing to the forecast presented to the Board
on an ongoing basis. (16,17)

Finance Committee oversees the Group
treasury and funding policies. (17)

Liguidity buffer maintained. (16,17)

Rolling hedging programme in place. (17)
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An intense year has seen the Board focus on
navigating industry-wide challenges from Covid
recovery, while charting a strong longer-term
strategy, positioning easyJet to be an industry
winner in the years ahead.”

Stephen Hester
Chairman

Introduction

| am pleased to introduce this report which
describes the activities of your Board
during the year, along with our governance
arrangements.

This has been an important year for
easyJet and its Board. The first half saw
Covid-19 in full effect across Europe, with
many travel restrictions and associated lack
of flying. Resilience and financial strength
were the overriding priorities. Quicker than
many forecast, economies opened up in
the spring and, across the industry in
Europe, flying has returned very fast. The
industry- and economy-wide challenges of
managing the bounceback have been weli
publicised. The Board has been intensely
focused on working with management to
navigate this as well as possible for
customers, employees and shareholders. At
the same time, a two-year global ‘hiatus’ for
Covid-19, with its associated existential
challenge for aviation, required a careful
re-engagement this year with questions of
easyJet’s strategic positioning going
forward. The Board spent considerable
time on this, reviewing our purpose and
strategic aspiration, the roadmap and tools
to achieve it and confirming our belief that
easyJet is well-positioned to be an industry
winner in the years ahead. All of these
considerations have been underpinned by
our commitment to the highest standards
of corporate governance and a range of
other vital initiatives, not least relating to
sustainability on which major steps forward
were also accomplished.

Activities in the year

Strategy and purpose

The Board allocated a significant amount
of time to reviewing the strategic priorities
in the year, undertaking an iterative
approach in order to explore the risks and
opportunities in detail and ensure that our
purpose and ambition were aligned. This
included in-depth discussions over the
course of several meetings on topics such
as growth, cost, revenue and customers.

As a result of this process, the Board
articulated the refreshed purpose
statement, ‘Making low-cost travel easy’,
and the targeted destination of being
‘Europe’s most loved airline — winning for
our customers, shareholders and people”.
Further information is set out on pages 4
to 7. The Board continues to keep the
strategy under review and will monitor how
the purpose and destination are delivered.

Fleet .

At the same time as these strategic
discussions were taking place, the Board
reviewed the longer-term fleet
requirements. In June, we announced that
we had reached agreement with Airbus to
supply 56 A320neo aircraft for delivery
between FY26 and FY29 and to convert 18
A320neo aircraft for delivery between
FY24 and FY27 into the larger A32Ineo
aircraft. The transaction firmed up the
order book with Airbus and secured a
number of other benefits, continuing the
fleet refresh as older aircraft leave the
business. Although the transaction was
already envisaged when shareholders
approved the 2013 Airbus Agreement,
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in view of its size, it was conditional on
shareholder approval. The Board believes
the aircraft purchase will support positive
returns for the business and the delivery of
our strategic objectives, and we were
pleased with the strong support shown by
shareholders in approving the transaction.
The Board continues to keep the fleet plan
. under regular review.

Operational performance

Delivering a safe and reliable operation for
our customers is easyJet’s highest priority.
While there was positive news in January
with the decision by the UK government to
remove pre-departure testing, which saw a
step change in bookings, the increased
travel restrictions introduced across Europe
at the end of the first quarter in response
to the Omicron variant paused this
momentum. In spite of this, we reduced
our losses over the first half, and the
pent-up demand provided for a strong and
sustained recovery in trading from April
onwards.

Given the unprecedented ramp-up, the
aviation industry across Europe
experienced operational issues in the
second half, including staff shortages in
ground-handling and at airports, supply
chain issues and air traffic contro! delays.
The very tight labour market for the whole
ecosystem including crew, compounded by
increased ID check times, reduced planned
resilience further. This resulted in delays
and cancellations and two of our largest
airports, London Gatwick and Amsterdam
Schiphol, introduced flight caps. We took
decisive action in response, proactively
consolidating a number of flights across
affected airports and revising the schedule
to build additional resilience. The Board has
been mindful of the impact that this
disruption has had on all of our
stakeholders, including customers and our
own people. We were pleased that as a
result of the actions we took the operation
stabilised, with a majority of customers able
to rebook on alternative flights and CSAT
increasing among those travelling during
the summer. However, we also recognise
that all parties, including easyJet, must
aspire to do better in the coming year.

Sustainability and climate change
Sustainability, including the impact of
climate change, has featured heavily on the
Board agenda during the year. In 2019,
easyJet led the aviation industry in

launching its Sustainability Strategy and in
November 2021, we joined the Race to
Zero campaign through which we
committed to set an interim science-based
target to reach 35% carbon reduction by
2035, as well as reach net zero emissions
by 2050.

The Board reviewed sustainability matters,
including the pathway to net zero which is
explained in detail on pages 12 and 13, on
multiple occasions during the year prior to
its launch in September 2022.

People and culture

The Board is always keen to understand
and respond to the views, concerns and
challenges of our people. Last year the
Board took the opportunity to review the
approach to bringing the employee voice
into the boardroom, and our four Employee
Representative Directors regularly updated
the Board on their discussions. You can
read more about this on page 27.

Further details on the Board's activity
during the year can be found on pages 86
to 87.

Board composition

The Nominations Committee keeps the
balance of skills, knowledge and experience
on the Board under regular review and is
mindful of the best practice requirements
under the UK Corporate Governance Code
2018 (the ‘Code’ or ‘2018 Code’). During the
year, the Nominations Committee
conducted a thorough search for three
new Non-Executive Directors, following
which Ryanne van der Eijk, Harald
Eisenacher and Dr Detlef Trefzger were
appointed to the Board with effect from

1 September 2022. They bring extensive
airline and travel industry experience to the
Board's deliberations, with a focus on
operations and logistics, customer
experience, digital and data, combined with
a European outlook, as we are mindful that
50% of our activities are in continental
Europe.

Nick Leeder stepped down from the Board
on 30 September 2022, following his
relocation to Singapore. Andreas Bierwirth
and Julie Southern have decided not to
seek re-election at the Company's next
Annual General Meeting; Andreas, in line
with corporate governance best practice,
having served for nearly nine years, and
Julie having been appointed Chair
designate at RWS Holdings plc. Further

details can be found on pages 94 to 96. As
noted in my introduction to the Annual
Report, we are grateful to Nick, Andreas
and Julie for their significant contributions.

The Board is in the process of recruiting a
new Senior Independent Director, and
expects to meet the increased best
practice guidelines for gender diversity
when this appointment is finalised. The
Board continues to meet best practice
guidelines for ethnic diversity.

All new Board members participate in a
comprehensive induction programme.
Information on the induction progralmme
can be found on page 91.

Board performance

The Board undertakes a formal evaluation
of its own performance, and that of its
Committees and individual Directors, every
year. The evaluation is externally facilitated
every three years in accordance with the
Code. As the 2021 Board evaluation was
undertaken externally, an internal
evaluation was undertaken during 2022.

| am pleased that the Board was found to
operate effectively. Details of the process
followed, the outcomes and the proposed
actions can be found on pages 92 to 93.

Stakeholders

The Board takes account of the impact of
its decisions on all our stakeholders, be
they customers, employees, suppliers,
shareholders, the communities we operate
in or regulators, while taking steps to
secure the Group's longer-term success.

Details of how we have engaged with all
our stakeholders to understand their views
can be found on pages 26 to 29.

A statement on how the Directors have
had regard to the matters set out in
section 172 of the Companies Act 2006
can be found on page 27.

The following pages sét out details of the
composition of our Board, its corporate
governance arrangements, processes and
activities during the year, as well as reports
from each of the Board's Committees, and
| hope it provides a useful insight.

Stephen Hester
Chairman
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

AN EXPERIENCED BOARD

s e g e s e

Stephen Hester Julie Southern Johan Lundgren
Chairman Senior Independent Non-Executive Chief Executive Officer
Director
Nationality: Appointed: Nationality: Appointed: Nationality: Appointed:
British September 2021 British August 2018 Swedish December 2017

Contribution to the Board:

« Strategic and successful leader with more
than 35 years of wide-ranging business
experience, including significant experience
leading major international businesses in i

i regulated industries.

» Brings strong track récord of value creation Z
and listed company experience to the Board.}

f

_J

Contribution to the Board:

« in-depth commercial and financial expertise
from a varied executive and non-executive
career, including in aviation.

» Extensive experience in finance-oriented
roles, making her ideally suited for her role as
Chair of the Audit Committee.

I

Experience

Stephen served as a Chief Executive of
RSA Insurance Group plc from February
2014 to May 2021, and prior to this as Chief
Executive of Royal Bank of Scotland Group,
Chief Executive of British Land plc and
Chief Operating Officer of Abbey National
plc, as well as holding a number of senior
executive roles at Credit Suisse First Boston
in London and New York. He has also held
senior non-executive positions as deputy
chairman of Northern Rock and Senior
independent Director of Centrica plc.
Stephen holds a BA (Hons) in Politics,
Philosophy and Economics from Oxford
University.

Current external appointments
Lead Independent Director of Kyndryl
Holdings, inc. and Chairman of Nordea
Bank Abp.

Experience

Julie served as Chief Commercial Officer of
Virgin Atlantic Limited from 2010 to 2013,
and prior to this was Chief Financial Officer
of Virgin Atlantic Limited for 10 years. Julie
was previously Group Finance Director at
Porsche Cars Great Britain and Finance and
Operations Director at WH Smith — HJ
Chapman & Co. Ltd. She was previously a
Non-Executive Director of Stagecoach
Group plc, Gategroup AG, Cineworld plc
and DFS Furniture plc. Julie holds a BA
(Hons) in Economics from the University of
Cambridge and is a qualified chartered
accountant. :

Current external appointments
Non-Executive Director and Chair
Designate of RWS Holdings plc, Non-
Executive Director and Chair of the Audit
Committees of Rentokil Initial plc, NXP
Semi-Conductors N.V., and Ocado Group
plc.

Contribution to the Board:

« Proven experience in European travel
with more than 30 years' experience in the
travel industry.

» Experienced leader who is strategic yet
operationally focused, having designed and
implemented a number of easyJet's key
strategic initiatives since his appointment,
including the relaunch of easyJet holidays,
our Sustainability Strategy and our pathway
to net zero emissions which demonstrates
his desire to lead the decarbonisation of
aviation,

Experience

Prior to joining easyJet, Johan was the
Group Deputy Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Executive Officer of Mainstream
Tourism at TUI AG. He was the Managing
Director for the Northern Region at TUI
Travel plc from 2007 until 2011. From 2003
until 2007, he was the Managing Director
and Chief Executive Officer of TUI Nordic.
Johan led MyTravel's businesses out of
Canada and Sweden between 1999 and
2003, prior to which he was Managing
Director of Always Tour Operations from
1996.

Current external appointments
Senior Adviser, Blackstone (private equity
group).
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Board Committees key

O Committee Chair
0 Audit Committee
@ Finance Committee

Kenton Jarvis
Chief Financial Officer

0 Nominations Committee
e Rermuneration Committee

e Safety Committee

Dr Andreas Bierwirth
Independent Non-Executive Director

Catherine Bradley CBE
Independent Non-Executive Director

Nationality:
British

Appointed:
February 2021

Contribution to the Board:

« Brings extensive experience of the travel
and aviation sector to the Board having
held senior group and divisional finance
roles at TUI and Airtours Holidays.

Appointed:
July 2014

Contribution to the Board:

» Brings a valuable European perspective to
Board deliberations.

« Active commercial pilot which, combined
with his experience as an executive at
Germanwings, means he brings considerable
airline experience to the Board and to his role
as Chair of the Safety Committee. !

+ Andreas is also one of the Board's nominated
Employee Representative Directors.

Nationality:
German

{ Nationality:
French and British

Appointed:
January 2020

Contribution to the Board:

« Extensive financial expertise gained across
senior finance roles in investment banking
and M&A over 33 years, along with an
in-depth understanding of corporate
governance and regulatory matters.

« Her experience in financial and capital

markets makes her ideally suited as Finance

Committee Chair.

Catherine is also one of the Board's

nominated Employee Representative

Directors.

.
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Experience

Before joining easyJet, Kenton was
previously CEO of Aviation, and Business
improvement Director — Markets, at TUI
Group, having held a number of senior
group and divisional finance roles at TUI
since 2003. Kenton holds a BSc (Hons) in
Biochemistry from the University of
Manchester. Before joining TUI, Kenton was
the Finance Director of Airtours Holidays
and held a number of commercial finance
roles at Adidas, prior to which he qualified
as a chartered accountant with PwC.

Current external appointments
None.

Experience

Andreas previously served as Chief
Executive Officer of Magenta Telekom
(formerly T-Mobile Austria), and as a
Director and Chief Commercial Officer at
Austrian Airlines AG. Andreas also served
as Vice President of Marketing at Deutsche
Lufthansa AG (Frankfurt) and Chairman of
the Supervisory Board at T-Mobile Polska
SA. Prior to this, Andreas was Deputy
Managing Director and later Managing
Director at Germanwings.

Current external appointments

Chief Retail Officer of Erste Group Bank AG
and Chairman of the Supervisory Board of
Do&Co AG.

Experience

Catherine began her career with Merrill Lynch
in the US and finished the executive phase of
her career as Head of Advisory Global
Markets with Societe Generale in Asia.
Catherine then served as a Non-Executive
Director of the UK Financial Conduct
Authority and Chair of its Audit Committee
from 2014 to July 2020, and of WS Atkins
plc from 2015 until its delisting in 2017.
Catherine was also a member of the
Supervisory Board and Chair of the Finance
and Audit Committee of Peugeot S.A. from
2016 to 2021. Catherine graduated from HEC
Paris with a major in Finance and International
Economics.

Current external appointments
Senior Independent Director of Kingfisher
plc. Non-Executive Director of Johnson
Electric Holdings Limited and a Non-
Executive Director of abrdn plc and Chair
of their Audit Committee.
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Board Committees key

O committee Chair
e Audit Committee

@ Finance Committee

m Nominations Committee
Q Remuneration Committee

@ Safety Committee

Ryanne van der Eijk
Independent Non-Executive Director

Harald Eisendcher
independent Non-Executive Director

Moni Mannings
Independent Non-Executive Director

Nationality:
‘Dutch

Appointed:
September 2022

Contribution to the Board:

« Brings in-depth airline and custormer
services experience, along with a
valuable European perspective to
Board deliberations.

+ Ryanne is one of the Board's
nominated Employee Representative
Directors.

Appointed:
September 2022

Nationality;
German

Contribution to the Board:

+ Brings extensive travel and aviation
sector experience as well as a deep
knowledge of digital and data driven
businesses, combined with a European
outlook.

Nationality:
British

Appointed:
August 2020

Contribution to the Board:

« Experienced non-executive who brings
extensive legal and corporate finance
experience to the Board.

« Deep knowledge of executive remuneration
as an experienced Remuneration Committee
Chair means she is well placed as Chair of
the Remuneration Committee.

« Moniis also one of the Board's nominated
Employee Representative Directors,

Experience

Ryanne has extensive airline operations and
customer service experience, having had a
20-year career with KLM, her last role being
as Chief Experience Officer. Her previous
senior executive appointments also include
Chief Operating Officer for Dubai Airports
and Chief Experience Officer for Ras Al
Khaimah Economic Zone in the UAE.

Current external appointments

Chief Operating Officer of Mentaal Beter
and Chair of Advisory Board, Child
Protection Research Centre, UAE.

Experience

Harald brings significant experience of the
travel and aviation industry, having held
senior executive positions with Lufthansa
and Sabre Travel Network. He most
recently served as Chief Commercial
Officer for Infare, the leading provider of
competitor air travel data based in
Denmark. He has previously held senior
positions with Deutsche Telekom, eBay and
Hoechst and served as a non-executive
director of Groz-Beckert SE (2007 to 2021)
and Ifolor AG (2013 to 2019).

Current external appointments
Member of the Supervisory Board of Infare
A/S and Advisory Board of Solytic GmbH.

Experience

From 2000 until 2016, Moni was a Partner
and Head of the International Banking and
Finance Division of Olswang LLP, before
which she held senior positions with Dewey
& LeBoeuf LLP, Simmons & Simmons and
Clifford Chance LLP. Until 2017, Moni was
Chief Operating Officer of Aistemos Limited.
Moni has also held a number of non-
executive positions, including as a Board
member of the Solicitors Regulation
Authority (chairing its Equality, Diversity and
Inclusion Committee) and at Cranfield
University. Moni has also served as a
Non-Executive Director of Polypipe Group
plc (2014 to 2019), Dairy Crest Group plc
(2017 until their acquisition and delisting in
2019) and Breedon Group plc (2019 to 2021).

Current external appointments
Non-Executive Director of Hargreaves
Lansdown plc and Investec Bank plc,
Non-Executive Director and Chair of the
Remuneration Committee of Cazoo Group
Ltd.
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David Robbie
Independent Non-Executive Director

Changes to the Board
during the year and up to
29 November 2022

» Ryanne van der Eijk, Harald Eisenacher
and Dr Detlef Trefzger were appointed
with effect from 1September 2022.

« Nick Leeder stepped down on 30
September 2022,

Dr Detlef Trefzger
Independent Non-Executive Director

Appointed:

Nationality:
British- November 2020
Contribution to the Board:

« Brings strong financial, risk
management and corporate finance
experience to the Board.

» His international and strategic outlook,
combined with over 20 years serving as
a director on FTSE boards, provides a
valuable perspective in Board and
Committee discussions.

Experience

David was Finance Director of Rexam plc
from 2005 until 2016. Prior to his role at
Rexam, David served in senior finance roles
at Invensys plc before becoming Group
Finance Director at CMG plc in 2000 and
then Chief Financial Officer at Royal P&O
Nedlloyd N.V. in 2004. He served as interim
Chairman, Senior Independent Director and
Chair of the Audit Committee of FirstGroup
plc from 2018 to 2021, and Non-Executive
Director and Chair of the Audit Committee
for the BBC between 2006 and 2010.
David qualified as a chartered accountant
at KPMG and holds an MA in English
Literature from St. Andrew's University.

Current external appointments
Senior Independent Director and Chair of
the Audit Committee at DS Smith plc.

Nationality:
German

Appointed:
September 2022

Contribution to the Board:

» Brings recent and in-depth experience
of global logistics and commercial
strategy, along with a European
outlook.

« Broad experience of technology
enabled and data supported business
transformation.

e e

Experience

Detlef brings significant transportation and
logistics experience, having served as Chief
Executive Officer of Kuehne + Nagel
International AG, the global transport and
logistics company based in Switzerland,
from March 2013 to July 2022. Prior to this
he held senior positions with DB Schenker
and Roland Berger.

Current external appointments
Non-Executive Director of Accelleron
Industries AG, Founder and Chair of Larix
Equity AG.
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BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board continues
to meet best practice
guidelines for
independence and
ethnic diversity and
keeps the balance of
skill, knowledge and
experience on the
Board under regular

Independence Tenure

O Chairman: 1 O 0-3 years: 8
review. © Executive: 2 © 3-6 years: 2
O Non-Executive Directors: 8 O 6-9 years: 1
Ethnicity Gender
\
//
O White: 10 O Male: 7
O Asian: 1 O Female: 4
SKILLS AND EXPERIENCE
Safety/ Commercial/
Airline/Travel Finance Strategy Sustainability Consumer  Digital/Marketing Ex CEO/CFO
Stephen Hester o o ) o o °
Johan Lundgren © o o ° o
Kenton Jarvis ° o o o
Catherine Bradley CBE o o o
Dr Andreas Bierwirth o o o ° ° °
Ryanne van der Eijk ° ° ° -] °
Harald Eisenacher o ° °
Moni Mannings °
David Robbie o ° o °
Julie Southern o o ° ° ° e
Dr Detlef Trefzger ° ° ] ° °
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A FOCUSED

MANAGEMENT TEAM

Ella Bennett
Group People Director

Robert Birge
Chief Customer & Marketing Officer

Stuart Birrell
Chief Data & Information Officer

Nationality:
British

Appointed:
May 2018

Key areas of expertise:
« People, reward and digital
transformation.

Appointed:
August 2022

Key areas of expertise:
« Customer, marketing.

Nationality:
American

Experience

Elia is a skilled Group HR Director with
strong experience in the UK and
internationally in lean and digital
transformation, large-scale change as well
as talent development and reward. Ella
joined easyJet from Sainsbury's Argos,
where she led the integration of their
non-food business to create a multi-
product, multi-channel business with fast
delivery networks. Ella was also Group HR
Director at Home Retail Group, leading the
people aspects of Argos' digital
transformation. Prior to this she was a
member of the executive management
team at Fujitsu. She holds a BA (Hons)
degree in English Literature from the
University of Bristol and Master's degree
from the University of London.

Experience

Robert is a highly experienced consumer
marketing and general management leader
with a track record of driving growth,
building brands and leading winning teams
across ecommerce, travel, online apparel,
wireless and consumer goods for both
large companies and start-ups. Before
joining easyJet, Robert was Chief Growth
Officer at ASOS in a role that encompassed
marketing, end-to-end customer
experience, data insight and media
publishing, increasing revenue growth from
13% in 2019 to 21% in 2021. Previously
Robert spent six years as CMO at KAYAK,
establishing it as a leader in the travel
industry, leading to public listing. He was
also part of the original start-up team that
created US online travel agency Orbitz.

f Nationality:
British

Appointed:
November 2020

Key areas of expertise:
« Data and information technology.

Experience

Stuart spent five years as Director and
Chief Information Officer at Heathrow
Airport Ltd before joining easyJet. He
previously held the role of CIO at Formula
1's McLaren Technology Group where he
worked in the high-performance
environment building a team of in-house
experts and specialist suppliers. Prior to
that he spent three years at Gatwick
Airport where he successfully separated
the airport systems from BAA and brought
improvements to complex IT foundations
and transformation processes. Stuart brings
with him significant experience and
expertise in IT security, cloud-based
solutions, big data sets and technology to
support business expansion.
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e i g

Maaike de Bie
Group General Counsel &
Company Secretary

Sophie Dekkers
Chief Commercial Officer

4
Thomas Haagensen
Group Markets Director

Nationality:
Dutch and British

Appointed:
June 2019

Key areas of expertise:
« Legal, compliance and regulatory.

Nationality:
British

Appointed:
December 2020

Key areas of expertise:
» Aviation and strategy.

Nationality:
Danish

Appointed:
May 2018

Key areas of expertise:
+« Commercial and operations
management.

Experience

Maaike is an experienced international
lawyer with over 25 years’ practical
experience in a variety of sectors. Maaike
joined easyJet in June 2019 from Royal Mail
plc where she was Group General Counsel,
accountable for all legal, compliance, claims
management, security and information
governance matters. Prior to Royal Mail,
Maaike was a Legal Director and part of the
governance body of EY LLP. Maaike also
spent six years with General Electric, five
years as General Counsel for one of its
Capital companies in EMEA and then
promoted into the HQ office of GE Capital
in Europe to lead the improvement of
enterprise risk management and corporate
governance across EMEA. She has also
held senior international legal positions at
the European Bank for Reconstruction and
Development LLP in London and White &
Case LLP in New York. She obtained her
legal degrees in the Netherlands (in
Amsterdam) and Canada (McGili in
Montreal) and is qualified to practise as a
solicitor in both New York and the UK.
Maaike is also a trustee for Blueprint for
Better Business which is an independent
charity that helps business be inspired and
guided by a purpose that respects people
and contributes to a better society.

Experience

Before joining the Airline Management
Board, Sophie held the role of Customer
Director for easyJet. Prior to this she was
Director of Scheduling for the airline,
implementing systems and process
improvements. She has also led easyJet in
the UK as Country Director for five years,
where she was responsible for driving the
arrline’s commercial success and strategic
direction in the UK as well as representing
aviation at both House of Lords and House
of Commons Select Committees. Previous
roles in the airline include Head of Change
Management and Customer Insight, with a
background in customer insight, working
with a range of brands from Jaguar Land
Rover to Mars, Unilever and Vodafone.
Sophie was also Non-Executive Director for
Airport Co-ordination Limited from 2017 to
2021 and sat on their Remuneration and
Nomination Committees. Sophie is
easyJet’s business lead on diversity and
inclusion, a qualified MindGym coach,
business mentor, and a founding member
of easyJet's Women's Network.

.

Experience

Thomas has over 20 years' experience in
operations management built in a variety of
roles across Europe. Danish, born and
educated in Switzerland, Thomas began his
career with Tetra Pak, working his way up to
Regional Manager of the East Med where he
developed and succeeded in implementing
ambitious growth and profitability
improvement plans. Since joining easyJet in
2008 Thomas has significantly grown the
Swiss market, developed easyJet’s market
entry strategy for Germany and developed
the business traveller segment in Northern
Europe. Most recently he was appointed
Managing Director of easyJet Europe,
establishing the Company's Austrian AOC, a
key part of its Brexit migration plan, and
managed the transition of 100 aircraft to
easyJet Europe. Thomas holds a degree in
Business Administration with a focus on
management and marketing from University
of Lausanne.
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L. ‘ -
David Morgan
Chief Operating Officer

Appointed:
July 2022

, Nationality:
* British
Key areas of expertise:
« Flight operations,

Experience

David joined easyJet in September 2016 as
the airline’s Chief Pilot, and in December
2017 took up the position of Director of
Flight Operations, taking responsibility for
the safe and efficient operation of the
airline’s flights across Europe. David
previously served as interim COO in 2019,
when he oversaw operations across the
airline and delivered significant
improvements in operational performance.
David and his operations team focus on
safe, efficient and sustainable operations in
an increasingly complex and challenging
environment. Prior to joining the airline
David was Chief Flight Operations Officer
at Wizz Air. His long career in aviation has
taken him around the world including
Australia and the Middle East. He is a
graduate of the Royal Military Academy,
Sandhurst.

Garry Wilson
Chief Executive Officer, easyJet
holidays

Nationality:
British

Appointed:
November 2018

Key areas of expertise:
« Travel, business transformation and
global markets.

Experience

Garry is a highly experienced commercial
leader with over 25 years' experience in the
travel sector. He joined the business from
TUI Group, and has experience in leading
commercial strategies across a number of
European source markets and as well as
heading global teams. Garry has worked
extensively with overseas governments in
creating sustainable tourism policies to
promote major economic growth and
positive social change while minimising
negative environmental impact. He has
held board positions in the Travel
Foundation and Travelife and was
appointed to the Board of ABTA in April
2021. He holds a BCom (Hons) degree in
Business Management and Languages
from the University of Edinburgh.

Johan Lundgren
Chief Executive Officer

See Board of Directors’ profiles on page 74.

Kenton Jarvis
Chief Financial Officer

See Board of Directors’ profiles on page 75

Changes to the Airline

Management Board during the

year and up to 29 November 2022:
« David Morgan was appointed interim
Chief Operating Officer on 1 July 2022,
replacing Peter Bellew, and was
subsequently made permanent COO.

« Robert Birge was appointed Chief
Customer & Marketing Officer on 15
August 2022.
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Chairman — Stephen Hester,
Responsible for leadership of the Board and ensuring effectiveness in all aspects of its role.
Responsible for setting the Board's agenda and ensuring adequate time is available for discussion of aII agenda |tems including
strategic issues.
Responsible for encouraging and faculltatlng active engagement by and between all Directors, ensunng a culture of openness
is maintained and drawing on each of their extensive skills, knowledge and experience.
Ensures effective engagement between the Board, its shareholders and key stakeholders.

Chnef Executive Officer — Johan Lundgren

. Respongble for recommending the Group’s strategy to the Board and for delivering the strategy once approved.

» Together with the Chief Financial Offlcer monitors the Groups operatnng and financial results and directs the day-to-day
business of the Group.

 Responsible for recruitment, leadership and development of the Group's executive management team below Board Ievel

» Keeps the Chair and the Board appraised-of important and strategic issues facing the Group.

Semor lndependent Dlrector — Julie Southern

» Acts as a sounding board for the Chairman and as an intermediary for the other Directors when necessary.

» Responsible for addressing shareholders’ concerns that have not been resolved through the normal channels of
communication with the Chairman, Chief Executive or Chief Financial Officer.

» Responsible for evaluating the performance of the Chairman in consultation with the other Non-Executive Directors.

Chlef Fmancual Officer — Kenton Jarvis
Supports the Chief Executive Officer in developing and implementing strategy.

« Provides financial leadership to the Group and alignment between the Group's business and financial strategy, including
developing the Group's annual budget prior to the formal agreement of the Board.

Non-Executnve Dlrectors
Provide an external perspective, sound Judgement and objectivity to the Board's deliberations and decision making.

i Use their diverse range of skills and expertise to support and constructively challenge the Executive Directors, and monitor and
scrutinise the Group's performance against agreed goals and objectives.
Responsible for determining appropriate levels of éxecutive remuneration, appointing and removing Executive Directors, and
succession planning through their membership of the Remuneration and Nominations Committees.
Review the integrity of financial reporting and that financial controls and systems of risk management are robust..

Employee Representative Directors — Andreas Bierwirth, Catherine Bradley, Moni Mannlngs
Ryanne van der Eijk
« Provide the mechanism for the Board to engage with the workforce in liné with the Code

+ Responsible for meeting the Company’s European Works Council (EWC) and Management & Administration Consultatlve
Group (‘MACG)) at least once a year, and other works councils on a periodic basis, along with other informal engagement.
« Provide regular updates to the Board to ensure employee voice is clearly reflected in the boardroom.

Company Secretary — Maalke de Bie
« Supports and works closely with the Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer and the chalrs of the Board committees in setting
agendas for meetings of the Board and its committees.
« Supports the provision of accurate, timely and clear information flows to and from the Board and the Board committees, and
between Directors and senior management in order to ensure that the Board has the information and resources it needs in
order to function effectively.
« Supports the Chairman in designing and delivering Directors’ induction programmes and the Board and Committee
performance evaluations.

+ Advises the Board on corporate governance matters and Board. procedures and is responsible for adm|n|stenng the Share
Dealing Code and the AGM.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

OUR GOVERNANCE

Principles of the UK
Corporate Governance Code

Board leadership and 84
company purpose

Division of responsibilities 89

Composition, succession 90
and evaluation

Audit, risk-and internal 98
control (Audit
Committee report)

Remuneration 106
(Remuneration
Committee report)

0000

easyJet follows the principles of the 2018
Code which sets out the standards of good
practice in relation to how a company
should be directed and governed. The full
text of the Code is available at www.frc.
org.uk. The Board is pleased to confirm
that the Company has applied the
Principles of the Code and complied with all
the Provisions of the Code throughout the
year. Our compliance with key areas of the
Code is summarised in this section,
together with cross references, where
applicable, to the relevant sections of this
report where more information can be
found (together with the Directors’
Remuneration Report on pages 106 to 121
and the Directors’ Report on pages 122 to
125).

Board leadership and
company purpose

Role of the Board

The Board is collectively responsible for
promoting the long-term sustainable
success of the Group, generating value for
shareholders as a whole and contributing
to wider society by fulfiling its purpose. In
exercising this responsibility, the Board
takes into account all relevant stakeholders
including customers, employees, suppliers,
shareholders, the communities we operate
in, regulators and governments, and the
effect of the activities of the Group on the
environment. The Board provides effective
leadership by setting the strategic priorities
of the Group and overseeing
management’s execution of the strategy in
a way that enables sustainable long-term
growth, while maintaining a balanced
approach to risk within a framework of
prudent and effective controls. Our robust
governance framework is also instrumental
in ensuring our strategy is delivered
successfully. Our governance framework is
summarised on page 82.,

Our purpose

During the year the Board allocated a
significant amount of time to review the
strategic priorities in the year along with
easyJet’s purpose and aspiration. As a
result of this process, the Board articulated
the refreshed purpose statement, "Making
low-cost travel easy”. Our refreshed
purpose explains why we exist and guides
our decision making. We want to make
low-cost travel a positive and hassle-free
experience and aim to provide simple,
convenient travel at a competitive price.

We seek to deliver this purpose through
our strategy, by leveraging the low-cost
airline business mode! and combining this
with network and service differentiation, as
well as introducing strategic objectives that
help us achieve our destination, which is to
be ‘Europe’s most loved airline — winning
for our customers, shareholders and
people’. Further information is set out on
pages 20 to 21.

Further information on the way that
easyJet uses its resources to fulfil this
purpose and create sustainable value is set
out in our business model on page 8.

Our stakeholders

As set out in the Code, the Board
recognises the importance of identifying its
key stakeholders and understanding their
perspectives. Through regular dialogue and
communication, the Board is mindful of all
stakeholders when planning or making
decisions of strategic significance.

The Board has continued to utitise the
employee voice mechanism which was
reviewed in the previous financial year.and
set out in the 2021 Annual Report. The four
Employee Representative Directors have
met individually with the Company’s
European Works Council (EWC’) and
Management & Administration Consultative
Group ((MACG’) and other works councils
on a periodic basis, as well as informal
engagement where possible.

Details of engagement with our
stakeholders are set out on pages 26 to 29
and in the summary of the Board's activity
in the year on pages 86 to 87.

An example of how the Board considered
stakeholders in its decision making is
described on page 85.
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CASE STUDY: STAKEHOLDERS IN DECISION MAKING

Decision:

Aircraft Purchase: 56 Airbus A320neo family aircraft and
conversion of 18 A320neo family aircraft to 18 A32Ineo aircraft
with related CFM engine arrangements.

Stakeholders:
Investors, suppliers, customers, community.

Rationale:

The transaction sought to firm up easyJet's order book with
Airbus through to 2028, continuing the Company's fleet refresh
as the 156-seat A319s and older A320s (180 and 186-seat) were
leaving the business to be replaced with new A320 (186-seat)
and A32Ineo (235-seat) aircraft (‘Aircraft Purchase’). The Board
believed the Aircraft Purchase would support the delivery of
easyJet's strategic objectives and help build strong shareholder
returns with the following rationale:

« Secured certainty of aircraft supply: Airbus delivery slots are
increasingly scarce, with no slots being available until 2027.
By securing delivery slots with the transaction, easyJet would
secure deliveries between FY26 and FY29 to replace aircraft
leaving the fleet.

« Maintains operational scale: The new aircraft will be used to
replace older aircraft as they reach the end of their useful life.
These aircraft will become economically unviable for our
high-intensity low-cost operation and will need replacement
if easyJet was to maintain the current scale of its business.

« Agreement: The new aircraft will be purchased under the
2013 Agreement, meaning the Company will continue to
benefit from the highly competitive pricing and flexibility
rights in this agreement. The aircraft are priced very
substantially below the Airbus list price, and benefit from
attractive price escalation protection. In addition, the Aircraft
Purchase continues to offer flexibility with respect to delivery
dates and the ability to convert A320neo aircraft to A32Ineo
aircraft.

« New generation technology: The new aircraft will deliver
between a 15% and 25% unit cost fuel-efficiency
improvement (depending on which aircraft they replace).
This will significantly reduce easyJet's fuel costs and therefore
improve its overall cost base. It will also reduce the costs of
compliance with various environmental regulations. The costs
of carbon emissions will increase significantly over the next
few years, and increased fuel efficiency will lead to a
proportional reduction in carbon emissions.

« Increased aircraft gauge: The new aircraft will also facilitate
further up-gauging of the fleet, increasing the average seat
count per aircraft. This will result in further improvements in
cost efficiency, with the cost of each flight spread across a
greater number of passengers. The A32Ineo is a highly
cost-efficient aircraft, well suited to higher demand or longer
sector length parts of the Company’s network.

« Sustainability: The new aircraft are aligned with easylJet's
Sustainability Strategy, with the adoption of the more
efficient new technology aircraft being a core component of
easyJet's path to net zero emissions. Alongside this, the new
aircraft are significantly quieter, with half the noise footprint
of the older aircraft they are replacing.

Consideration of stakeholders and the factors

under s.172;

s The Board considered that the Aircraft Purchase was likely
to promote the success of the Company in the long term:
The Company'’s ability to maintain desirable slots and sustain
its route network depends on the timely delivery of aircraft.

Given constraints on Airbus delivery slots, if the Aircraft
Purchase had not been completed, easyJet would not have
a secure supply of aircraft between FY26 and FY29 and
would therefore need to either decrease its fleet size or
source alternative new generation aircraft with higher
ownership costs. If easyJet had to source aircraft from the
secondary market, it would require easyJet to use older
technology, increasing exposure to fluctuating fuel prices
and carbon-related taxes and easyJet would be competitively
disadvantaged relative to the more modern fleets operated
by its competitors. easyJet would also be delayed in
achieving its sustainability and net zero emissions objectives.
Additionally, the Board considered the longer-term funding
requirements, noting that the Aircraft Purchase would be
financed over a number of years through a combination of
easyJet’s internal resources, cash flow, sale and leaseback
transactions and debt.

« The transaction also helped to foster the Company's
business relationships with suppliers, customers and
others, and takes account of the Company's impact on
communities and the environment: The Board noted that
customers would benefit from the Company investing in
new technology in order to maintain a reliable and efficient
fleet, helping to protect the cost base due to the new
aircraft delivering unit cost fuel efficiency improvements.
The reduction in fuel costs and costs of compliance with
various environmental regulations would therefore help
mitigate any increase to the cost base.

Additionally, the Board was mindfu! that the new aircraft are
aligned with its Sustainability Strategy, which customers and
investors are increasingly engaged with, and the adoption

of more efficient new technology aircraft was a core
component of the path to net zero emissions. Alongside
this, the new aircraft are significantly quieter than the
aircraft they replace.

The Board also considered that Airbus and CFM, as suppliers,
would have certainty from the transaction by having clarity
over the commitments under the remainder of the contract
with easyJet committing to aircraft and engine delivery slots.
They would therefore be able to undertake their own
strategic and long-term planning as a resuit.

« The transaction was conducted with an appropriate
governance framework, maintaining the Company’s
reputation for high standards of business conduct: A cross
functional working group was established to ensure the
transaction was undertaken with appropriate governance
and regulatory oversight and engaged its sponsor and legal
advisers to ensure they were appropriately advised.
Shareholders were able to vote on the transaction: The
Aircraft Purchase constituted a Class 1 transaction under the
Listing Rules, and was therefore conditional on shareholder
approval at a general meeting. In advance of the general
meeting, the Company's major shareholders were consulted
to ensure they had the opportunity to discuss the transaction
with management. All shareholders were also able to submit
questions on the transaction in advance of, and during, the
general meeting.

Outcome

The Board approved the transaction and put it to shareholders
for approval at a General Meeting held on 20 July 2022. The
transaction was subsequently approved with 99.95% of votes
received in favour.
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Our activity in the year

The Board meets regularly and held 11
scheduled meetings and two ad hoc
meetings during the year. Each Board
meeting follows a carefully tailored agenda
agreed in advance by the Chairman, Chief
Executive Officer and Company Secretary.
A typical meeting will comprise: an
Operations & Trading update, which
includes reports from the CEO and CFO,
updates on current trading and operations,
a safety update, and periodic investor
relations updates; a Strategic Matters
update which allows for ‘deep dives’ into

Q] Board activity

areas of particular strategic importance;
and a Governance update for matters
requiring review and approval. The Board
also receives regular reports from the
Chairs of the Safety, Nominations, Audit,
Finance and Remuneration Committees.
Some, but not all, of the main activities of
the Board during the year are highlighted
below.

The Board actively seeks engagement with

investors and major institutional
shareholders and shareholder
representative bodies. Understanding the

views of our shareholders, and acting fairly

between them, has been a priority for the
Board during the year. The Chairman, CEO
and CFO have updated the Board on the
opinions of investors regularly and the
views of shareholders and market
perceptions are also communicated to the
Board via presentations from the Director
of Investor Relations at least every quarter,
and engagement with the brokers and
other advisers.

Stakeholder engagement
and section 172 considerations

© November

¢ December

02

© January
© February
© March

Discussion of Board evaluation outcomes
Budget

Sustainability and net zero

Full-year results

Annual Report and Accounts, including principal

and emerging risks, risk appetite, going concern and viability

Inflight retail relaunch update and approval of
related contracts

Investor relations update

Safety update: Summer 22 ramp-up

Review of the Board forward agenda to ensure appropriate
time allocated to Strategy, Customer, Brand, ESG, People
and Risk

Strategy: deep dive on historical position

Approval of Annual General Meeting matters including new
Restricted Share Plan proposal, Director re-elections, Notice
of Meeting

Employee Representative Director {(ERD) update

Board activity

tmpact of Omicron
Budget review
Q1 Trading Statement

Annual General Meeting

Investor relations update

Strategy: deep dives on growth and cost
EMTN increase and refresh

ERD update

Current affairs update: Ukraine

Sustainability and net zero

Fleet plans

Strategy: deep dives on revenue, customers and purpose/
ambition

Approval of Tax Strategy

Approval of Modern Slavery statement

ERD update
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2022 Annual General Meeting

The Annual General Meeting (AGM) allows

shareholders the opportunity to

- communicate directly with the Board.
Shareholders are given the opportunity to
raise issues formally at the AGM or .
_informally with Directors after the meeting.
All Directors attend the AGM where -
possible and the Chairs of the Committees
are available to answer questions. The
-Company’s 2022 AGM was held on 10

" February 2022, and shareholders had the
opportunity to ask questions in advance of
the meeting-or during the meeting, in-
person and electronically. )

_ All resolutions put to the meeting were
° passed, however the Board noted that .
Resolution 2 (Remuneration Policy),
Resolution 15 (Poﬁtical Donations),
' Resolution 16'(Authority to Allot Shares)
~ and Resolution 17 (Restricted Share Plan)’
‘received less than 80%.in favour. In
accordance with the Code, the Board
- .~ continuéd its engagement with
" shareholders to discuss their concerns on
- "the resolutions. Engagement with )
shareholders throughout the year was
carried ‘out by the Chair and Committee . -
-chairs where appropriate, as well as the
" " executive:directors. e

© > continues to believe that the updated

. ‘Resolutions 2 and 17

In advance of the AGM, the Remuneration
Committee undertook a thorough review
of remuneration arrangements, including
extensively consulting with major
shareholders and employee

- representatives. As a result of that

consultation the Committee noted that the
majority of shareholders were supportive of
the revised Remuneration Policy, but-also
reflected on the views of those
shareholders who had different _
expectations on award levels, vesting. -

. periods and underpins.. Certain .

amendments were made to the proposals

to reflect feedback. The Committee

concluded that on balance, replacing the
Long Term Incentive Plan with a Restricted
Share Plan and the structure proposed was
the best approach for the Company going -
forward. While the Committee understood
the rationale for certain shareholders voting ‘
against the resolutions, it contacted them .

" again following the AGM and offered

further engagement on the Company’'s "
approach to remuneration. The Board

Remuneration Policy not only supports

" long-term strategic decision making and -

helps retain and motivate management to

" drive the performance.of the business as
we continue to recover from the pandemic,
but also supports the longer-term :
performance of the business including
delivering sustainable shareholder value.

Resolutions 15 and 16 -

. Resolution. 15 sought authority for the

Company to make political donations and

~ incur political expenditure. The definitions

of political donations and political ~
expenditure used in the Companies Act

2006 are very wide. In line with UX market

practice, the authority under Resolution 15’

is therefore sought only as a precautionary

measure to ensure that easyJet and its

subsidiaries do not inadvertently breach the )

relevant provisions of the legislation. The
Company does not make and does not
intend to make political donations or to .

Jncur political expenditure. Resolution 16
sought a routine authority to allot shares in

accordanc;é with the Investment
Association share capital management
guidelines. The Directors do not have any

.. present intention to exercise this authority,
- “however they consider it appropriate to.

maintain the flexibility that this authority .

provides... |

Y
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Since the AGM we have engaged with
shareholders and provided the opportunity
for them to raise any issues concerning the
above resolutions. We are aware that some
institutional investors, including those
outside the UK, have policies that mean
they do not support allotment authorities
at the level sought at the AGM. We also
note that certain shareholders did not feel
they could support further allotment
authorities following the Company's rights
issue. However we note that the level of
allotment authority continues to be
supported by the majority of our
shareholders and is in line with the
Investment Association’s share capital
management guidelines applicable to UK
listed companies.

A circular for the Company's next AGM,
comprising a letter from the Chairman,
Notice of Meeting and explanatory notes
on the resolutions proposed, will be issued
separately at the appropriate time and will
also be published on easyJet's corporate
website at https://corporate.easyjet.com/
investors.

Division of
responsibilities

Independence

The Board consists of 11 Directors — the
Chairman, two Executive Directors and
eight independent Non-Executive Directors.
Over half of our Board (excluding the
Chairman) are Independent Non-Executive
Directors and the composition of all Board
Committees complies with the Code.
Additionally, the Chairman was considered
independent on appointment. More
information about the Board members is
available on pages 74 to 77.

The independence of the Non-Executive
Directors is considered by the Board and
reviewed on an annual basis. The Board
considers factors such as length of tenure
and relationships or circumstances that are
likely to affect, or appear to affect, the
Directors’ judgement, in determining
whether they remain independent.
Non-Executive Directors do not participate
in any of the Group's share option or bonus
schemes. The Non-Executive Directors
together with the Chairman meet regularly
without any Executive Directors being
present.

Following this year's Board effectiveness
review, the Board concluded that all of the
Non-Executive Directors continue to remain
independent in character and judgement
and are free from any business or other
relationships that could materially affect
the exercise of their judgement. The Board
and Nominations Committee also review
Committee membership annually to ensure
that undue reliance is not placed on any
individual.

Raoles

The Board has a formal schedule of
matters reserved for its decision. Certain
governance responsibilities have been
delegated by the Board to Board
Committees, to ensure that there is
independent oversight of internal control
and risk management and to assist the
Board with carrying out its responsibilities.
The Board Committees comprise
Independent Non-Executive Directors and,
in some cases, the Chairman. Each
individual Committee Chair reports to the
Board on matters discussed at Committee
meetings and highlights any significant
issue that requires Board attention. For a
summary of the roles of each Committee
see the governance framework on page
82. The matters reserved for the Board and
the terms of reference of the Board
Committees are available in the
Governance section of easyJet's corporate
website at https://corporate.easyjet.com.

The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive
are set out in writing, clearly defined and
approved by the Board. These are also
available on easyJet's corporate website at
https://corporate.easyjet.com.

Further information on each of the Board
members’ roles is set out on page 83.

Board attendance

A summary of the Board's key activities
during the year is set out on pages 86 to
87. The Directors’ attendance at the Board
and Committee meetings held during the
year can be found on page 90. In addition
to the regular Board meetings, and to
provide opportunities for the Board to
engage with senior management to discuss
key elements of the business, a number of
Board dinners and lunches were held.

The core activities of the Board and its
Committees are covered in scheduled
meetings held during the year. Additional
ad hoc meetings are also held to consider
and decide matters outside of the
scheduled meetings. Non-Executive
Directors are encouraged to communicate
directly with each other and senior
management between Board meetings.

Directors are encouraged and invited to
attend all Board and Committee meetings,
but in certain circumstances meetings are
called at short notice and, due to prior
business commitments and time
differences, Directors may not always be
able to attend.

Even if a Director is unable to attend a
meeting because of exceptional
circumstances, they continue to receive
the papers in advance of the meeting and
have the opportunity to discuss with the
relevant Chair or the Company Secretary
any matters on the agenda which they
wish to raise. Feedback is provided to the
Directors not able to attend on the
decisions taken at the meeting.

In addition, and in line with the Code, the
Chairman holds meetings with the
Non-Executive Directors without the
Executive Directors present. There is a
standing agenda item at the end of each
Board meeting for the Non-Executive
Directors to meet without the Executive
Directors.

For further information regarding when
Board members joined or stepped down
from Committees during the financial year,
please refer to the ‘Committee changes’
sections in the relevant Committee reports
(pages 94 to 121).
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Meeting attendance

Board Board

(scheduled) (ad hoc) Audit Finance Norminations Remuneration Safety
Number of meetings n 2 5 - 5 6 6 4
Executive Directors
Johan Lundgren wm 2/2 - - - - -
Kenton Jarvis wn 2/2 - - - - -
Non-Executive
Directors
John Barton! 14 - - - n - -
Stephen Hester wn 2/2 - - 6/6 - -
Catherine Bradley CBE wn 2/2 5/5 5/5 6/6 - -
Or Andreas Bierwirth? m 0/2 - 4/5 - - 4/4
Ryanne van der Eik? n - - - - - -
Harald Eisenacher? n - - n - - -
Nick Leeder34 wn V2 - - 5/6 - 4/4
Moni Mannings® wi 2/2 - + n 6/6 -
David Robbie w 2/2 5/5 5/5 - 6/6 -
Julie Southern w 2/2 5/5 - 6/6 6/6 4/4
Dr Detlef Trefzger? n - n - - - -

Notes:

1. John Barton stepped down from the Board on 1 December 2021.

2. Ryanne van der Eilk, Harald Eisenacher and Dr Detlef Trefzger were appointed to the Board on 1 September 2022.

3. Nick Leeder stepped down from the Board on 30 September 2022.

4. Absences were due to meetings being arranged at short notice or unavoidable prior commitments. Direclors who are unable to attend meetings continue
to receive the papers in advance of the meeting and have the opportunity to discuss with the relevant Chair or the Company Secretary. Feedback is

provided on the decisions taken at the meeting.

5. Moni Mannings joined the Nominations Committee on 1 September 2022.

Time commitment and external

appointments

The expected time commitment of the
Chairman and Non-Executive Directors is
agreed and set out in writing in the Letter
of Appointment, standard terms and
conditions of which are available in the
Governance section of easyJet's corporate
website at https://corporate.easyjet.com.
The Board has considered the individual
Directors’ attendance, their contribution,
and their external appointments, and is
satisfied that each of the Directors is able
to allocate sufficient time to the Group to
discharge his or her responsibilities
effectively. As evidenced by the
attendance table above, the attendance
remained high and demonstrates the
Directors’ ability to devote sufficient time to
their role.

Executive Directors and the AMB are
permitted to take up non-executive
positions on the Board of one other listed
company as long as this is not deemed to
interfere with the business of the Group.

In line with the Code, Directors are required
to seek Board approval prior to taking on
any additional significant external
appointments and the following were
approved during the year in line with this
requirement:

« Catherine Bradley's appointment as a
Non-Executive Director of abrdn plc.

« Stephen Hester's appointment to Nordea
Bank Abp and Kyndryl Holdings Inc.

» Julie Southern's appointment as Chair
Designate of RWS Holdings plc.

Prior to these appointments, the Board
considered the time required, including
whether the role would impact the
Director's ability to devote sufficient time to
their current role, and concluded that the
appointments would not interfere with their
roles with the Company.

The Board is comfortable that all Directors
continue to devote sufficient time to
discharge their duties, as can be seen in
the high attendance rates set out in the
table above.

Information and support

All members of the Board are supplied with
appropriate, clear and accurate information
in a timely manner covering matters which
are to be considered at forthcoming Board
or Committee meetings. The papers for
each meeting are made available via an
electronic Board portal along with
supporting and reference material at least
one week in advance of the meeting to
allow for sufficient time for detailed review
and consideration prior to the meetings.

The Company Secretary acts as the
Secretary of the Board and its committees
and attends all meetings. The Company
Secretary is responsible for advising the
Board on all governance matters and
ensuring that Board procedures are
complied with. Where Directors deem it
necessary to seek independent legal advice
about the performance of their duties with
the Group, they are entitled to do so at the
Group's expense.

The Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
meet regularly to discuss the current
environment and its impact on the business
of the Company. The Chairman regularly
visits different bases across Europe and the
Board as a whole aims to visit the Group
operations at least annually to meet and
engage with the local team and to ensure
better understanding of the business.

Composition, succession
and evaluation

The Nominations Committee leads the
process for appointments to the Board and
ensures plans are in place for the orderly
succession to both Board and senior
management.
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Appointments to the Board

The Board ensures that appointments are
rmade on merit against objective criteria to
ensure Non-Executive Directors can apply
their wider business skills, knowledge and
experience to the oversight of the Group,
and provide input and challenge in the
boardroom to assist in the development
and execution of the Board's strategy.
Similarly, Executive Director appointments
are made to ensure the effective
formulation and implementation of the
Group's strategy.

The Nominations Committee, on behalf of
the Board, reviews the skills of Board"
members at least annually, identifying any
areas of skills, experience and knowledge
that can be strengthened further. Due
consideration is given to all aspects of
diversity, including gender, social and ethnic
backgrounds and personal strengths. All
Director appointments are made by the
Board and are subject to a formal, rigorous
and transparent process.

A number of changes to the composition
of the Board and its Committees were
made during the year. In making these
changes, the Nominations Committee and
Board took into account various -
considerations including Board diversity,
independence and the combination of -
skills, knowledge and experience of the
Directors:

« Harald Eisenacher was appointed to the
Board and as a member of the
Remuneration Committee with effect |
from 1September 2022.

« Ryanne van der Eik was appointed to
the Board and as a member of Safety
Committee with effect from 1 September
2022.

» Dr Detlef Trefzger was appointed to the
Board and as a member of the Audit
Committee and Safety Committee with
effect from 1 September 2022.

« Moni Mannings became a member of
the Nominations Committee with effect
from 1 September 2022.

+ Nick Leeder stepped down from the
Board on 30 September 2022 due to
his relocation to Singapore.

In addition to the above changes,
Andreas Bierwirth will not be seeking re-
election at the Company’'s next AGM in
2023 after nearly nine years on the
Board and in fine with corporate
governance best practice.

Julie Southern has also indicated she
will not be seeking re-election at the
Company's next AGM following her
appointment as Chair Designate of
RWS Holdings plc. The Board has
therefore commenced the recruitment
process for a new Senior Independent
Director.

The activities of the Nominations
Committee, Board appointments and
induction, succession planning and a
description of the Board's policy on
diversity, inclusion and wellbeing are set
out in the Nominations Committee
report on pages 94 to 96.

|

INDUCTION PROGRAMME 2022

Ryanne van der Eijk, Harald Eisenacher and Dr Detlef Trefzger,
who were appointed during the year, are following a tailored
induction programme covering a range of key areas of .the
business, a sample of which-is given below. They were given a
Board induction pack containing Company and Board
information to assist with building an understanding of the
nature of the Group, its business, markets and people, and to
provide an understanding of the Group’s main relationships. The
pack included information to help facilitate a thorough
understanding of the role of a Director and the framework
within which the Board operates. In addition, they are meeting
with key colleagues across the business to better understand
the areas of the business.

Safety and operations

« Attended a session hosted by the Director of Safety, Security
& Compliance which included briefings on the regulatory
framework, safety management system, AOC structures,
safety governance, compliance monitoring and current risks
and priorities. R

« Met with the Interim Chief Operating Officer to discuss the
Summer 22 readiness programme framework.

Governance, legal and remuneration ‘

+ Attended a briefing session with the Group People Director
and Director of Reward to discuss easyJet’s approach to
reward and our remuneration policy.

« Attended a briefing session with the Group People Director
to discuss easyJet's five-year People Strategy, our inclusion
and welliness strategy and industrial relations landscape.

* Meeting with ‘the Chair of the Remuneration Committee to
understand the remuneration framework and received a brief
introduction to the work of the Remuneration Committee.

+ Meeting with the Group General Counsel & Company
Secretary to discuss and understand the Board and
Committee procedures, compliance with the Market Abuse
Regulations, legal risk, and EU261 amongst other matters.

+ Meeting with the Chief Information Security Officer to discuss
cyber risk and the digital safety programme.

Finance and audit

» Attended briefing sessions on easyJet's trading performance,
budget, cash burn, liquidity forecast, cost efficiency
programme and financial controls with the Director of
Financial Planning & Analysis.

Attended a briefing session with the Director of Risk &
Assurance to understand easyJet's risk management
framework and internal audit structure.

Met with the Chair of the Audit Committee to understand
the role of the Committee.

»

.

Board and senior management

» Met separately with the Chairman and Senior Independent
Director to understand the role of the Board and the
individual contribution required.

+ Met separately with the Chief Executive Officer and other key
members of the Airline Management Board, including the
Chief Financial Officer, Chief Commercial Officer, Group
Markets Director and Chief Data & Information Officer.

Business and functions

» Met with the Director of Sustainability to understand the
Sustainability Strategy and the net zero roadmap.

» Met with the Director of Treasury to understand easyJet’s
capital structure and funding obligations.

« Met with the Strategy Director to gain a deeper
understanding of easyJet's five-year plan and fleet overview.

« Met with the Director of Investor Relations to understand
relationships with major shareholders and the market
environment.

+ Met with the Company’s brokers to understand easyJet from
a market and brokers’ perspective.

« Met with the Director of Government Affairs to understand
policy.positions and lobbying activity.
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Election and re-election.

All Board appointments are subject to
continued satisfactory performance
following the Board's annual effectiveness
review. The Company's Articles of ~
Association require the Directors to submit
themselves for election or re-election by
shareholders at every AGM. All continuing
Executive and Non-Executive Directors will
stand for election or re-election at the
Company's next AGM.

Training and development

Directors' training and development needs
are of key importance in order to discharge
their duties effectively. Directors are
encouraged to highlight specific areas
where they feel their skills or knowledge
would benefit from further development as
part of the annual Board evaluation
process. Training opportunities are
provided through internal meetings,
workshops, presentations and briefings by
internal advisers and business heads, as
well as external advisers.

Our Directors also receive training on their
duties (including under section 172(1) of the
Companies Act) as part of their induction
and annually to ensure they are aware of
their duties to promote the long-term
success of the Company for the benefit of
its key stakeholders.

2021 findings and actions

In addition, they also receive training on the
UK Market Abuse Regulation and the rules
around identifying, managing and
disclosure of inside information and
Directors’ shareholdings.

On joining the Board, all newly appointed
Directors receive a full, formal and tailored
induction, which is organised by the
Company Secretary. The induction
programme covers a range of key areas of
the business including, amongst other
things, the business and functions of the
Group, their legal and regulatory
responsibilities as Directors, briefings and
presentations from relevant executives, and
opportunities to visit and experience
easyJet’s business operations. Further
details are set out on page 9.

Conflicts of interests

Directors have a statutory duty to avoid
situations in which they have, or may
have, interests that conflict with those of
easyJet, unless that conflict is first
authorised by the Board. The Company
has in place procedures for managing
conflicts of interest. The Company's
Articles of Association also contain
provisions to allow the Directors to
authorise potential conflicts of interest
so that a Director is not in breach of his
or her duty under company law.

Should a Director become aware that he or
she has an interest, directly or indirectly, in
an existing or proposed transaction with
easyJet, they should notify the Board in line
with the Company’s Articles of Association.
If a conflict does arise, the Director is
excluded from discussions. Directors have a
continuing duty to update any changes to
their conflicts of interest.

Board evaluation

In line with the Code, the Board undertakes
a rigorous annual evaluation of the
performance of the Board, its Committees,
the Chairman and individual Directors. The
evaluation aims to identify the Board's
strengths and any opportunities for
improverment, as well as highlighting any
training and development needs.

2021 Board evaluation

The Board follows a formal three-year
cycle for an externally facilitated annual
evaluation. The 2021 evaluation was
externally facilitated by Manchester Square
Partners following the process set out in
last year's Annual Report. The evaluation
identified @ number of focus areas which
the Board addressed during 2022 which
are set out below.

Areas

Actions

} Exploring opportunities to allow more open-ended discussions

and collaboration on strategic matters.

The Board forward agendas were reviewed to ensure that
regular, structured and iterative strategy discussions took place
throughout the year, including more days dedicated to
discussing strategic matters.

! Increasing time spent together, formally and informally, to
continue to build relationships with newer members of the Board
and management, and review the evolution of the Board over
time.

With the lifting of many of the pandemic restrictions, the Board

has been able to hold a number of in-person meetings. Regular

NED-only sessions continue to be held, including dinners, to help
build relationships amongst Board members. '

The Directors also met management for lunches and dinners to
facilitate informal time together. Key members of the
management such as the Chief Operating Officer and Chief
Commercial Officer regularly attend Board meetings to discuss
operations and trading matters. Other members of the AMB
also present to the Board on their specific areas at periodic
intervals.

Rebalancing the Board forward agenda, with a return to a more
normal forward-looking and strategic agenda incorporating
forward-looking matters, including strategy; stakeholders;
sustainability; brand and marketing; talent, succession, culture,
diversity and inclusion.

Enhancing discussions around risk and risk appetite as the Board
looks to the post-pandemic recovery phase.

The Board forward agendas were reviewed to ensure all
appropriate areas were covered at the right time in the year,
with input sought from all Board members. The forward agenda
is kept regularly updated and the Board's activities in the year,
including around risk, can be found on pages 86 to 87.

Reviewing the remit and membership of the Board's Committees
to ensure the Board is focused on value add.

The membership of the Committees has evolved in line with the
changes made to the composition of the Board. Further work is
underway to review the remit of the Committees.

Continued focus on Board composition and succession, with a
view to enhancing European and aviation experience on the
Board.

The Nominations Committee continues to keep the
composition, skills and experience of the Board under review,
and execute against succession plans, as can be seen in the
appointment of Ryanne van der Eijk, Harald Eisenacher and Dr
Detlef Trefzger.
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2022 Board evaluatlon ' : : ‘
The 2022 performance evaluatron was undertaken by the Nommatuons Committee and in reIatlon to the Chair's performance the Senlor
_Independent Director. The review extended to all aspects of Board and Committee performance mcludmg composrtlon and dynamics,
the Chair's leadership, agenda.and focus; time management, strategic overS|ght overview of risk, succe55|on plannlng and priorities for
) change The evaluation process undertaken is explamed below ’ . .

" 2022 findings and actions
" The evaluation concluded that the Board continued to operate effectlvely with the Board's deliberations, number and Iength of

meetings, information presented by management, and the composition of the Board all rated positively. The'iterative deep dives on the
strategy had been well received, and the-transition to a new Chair had been well managed The relationships between Board members
were also viewed posntlvely The key focus areas identified are set out below.

" Areas o ’ Actions to be taken ,’ B .

The Nominations Committee and Board will continue.to review succession
planning and talent pipelines for the AMB and their functions, along with
keeping the composition of the Board under revrew A deep dlve will be
added to the Board agenda. :

The Board forward agenda will be desngned to ensure all areas |dent|f|ed are
covered at the right time in-the Board calendar, with input sought from
management and all Board members on any additional topics.

‘Work is underway to review the work of the Committees, their terms of
reference, and composition following the changes to the composmon of the
Board. .. ) Sl

The Board has been able to meet regularly in person and will continue to do -
" s0in the coming year. Meetings are planned to be held around the easyJet’
network, including.in Milan, and opportunities provided to experience other
parts of the business. Regular NED-only sessions will be held, mcIudmg
dinners, to help build relatlonsh|ps amongst Board members which is
' partxcularly mportant glven the new members.

Members of the AMB attend Board meetings for SDECIfIC updates and i
. opportunltxes will be identified for the Board to meet a wider- group of senior
management and key talent during the year.

Review of the Chanrman s performance P : R ' "

- The evaluation of the Chair was led by the Senior Independent Dlrector who gathered performance feedback through separate meetlngs ’
with each of the Non-Exécutive Directors, with supplementary views from the Executive Directors. The findings confirmed that Stephen

Hester had Been successful in his first year as Chair and the focus on the iterative strategy process had been well received. He also

B encouraged collegrate duscussron his chanrmanshrp of Board meetlngs was effectuve and he contlnues to devote sufﬁcxent t:me to the role. '_

ty i .
A © . . . .o
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

BOARD COMMITTEES

NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE REPORT

s

Membership, meetings
and attendance

"¢"Stephen Hester (Chair

(from 1 December 2021)

= John Barton (Chair)
(until 1 December 2021)

« Julie Southern

» Catherine Bradley CBE

« Nick Leeder (until 30 September
2022)

« Moni Mannings (from 1 September
2022)

The Committee consists of the Chair
of the Board and the Independent
Non-Executive Directors listed above.
All members of the Committee are
independent Non-Executive
Directors. Member biographies can
be found on pages 74 to 77.

The Chairman of the Board acts as
Chair of the Committee with
members of the executive
management invited to attend
meetings. The Company Secretary
acts as Secretary to the Committee.

The Committee met six times in the
year. Meeting attendance can be
found in the table on page 90.

The Committee’s terms of
reference can be found on
the Company's website at
https://corporate.easyjet.com

1

The Committee facilitated effective
succession planning and the
development of a diverse and
effective Board in the year.”

Stephen Hester
Chair of the Mominations Committee

| am pleased to present an overview of the
Nominations Committee’s activities during
the year. The main purpose of the
Committee is to ensure plans are in place
for orderly succession of Board and senior
management positions while maintaining
an appropriate balance of skills, experience,
independence and diversity. The
Committee regularly reviews the structure,
size and composition of the Board and
makes recommendation to the Board with
regard to any changes.

During the year the Committee led the
process to identify three new Non-
Executive Directors for appointment to the
Board and undertook an internal evaluation
of the Board's performance following the
external review carried out in the prior year.
The Committee also reviewed the
Company's talent and succession plans for
the executive management and FY22
talent development and retention
strategies. Further details are set out in this
report.

Stephen Hester
Chair of the Nominations Committee

Key activities during the year
Non-Executive Director

appointments

The Committee is responsible for the
orderly succession of both the Board and
senior management positions and oversees
the development of a diverse pipeline for .
succession. It is also responsible for
maintaining a formal, rigorous and
transparent procedure for Board
appointments based on merit and objective
criteria. As part of this responsibility, the
Committee identifies and nominates
candidates for approval by the Board. The
Committee also considers the succession
plans for the Board as well as senior
management below the Board level.

As the longer-serving members of the
Board have stepped down in recent years,
and the composition of the Board has
evolved, the Committee has been
executing its succession plans and
identifying suitable candidates for
appointment to the Board to maintain an
appropriate balance of skills and
experience.

During the year, and in anticipation of Dr
Andreas Bierwirth reaching nine years of
service in 2023, the Committee reviewed
the current composition of the Board and
identified the skills and experience it would
like to enhance on the Board, specifically
candidates with a European outlook and
airline experience. The Committee engaged
search consultants Egon Zehnder (EZ) to
help define the role profile and identify
suitable candidates and the appointment
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process is described in more detaitl below.
EZ are signatories to the Code of Conduct
for Executive Search Firms. EZ do not have
any other connection with the Company
nor individual Directors, except where they
may have liaised with them as prospective
candidates for other board positions. The
strength of the shortlist identified allowed
the Committee to recommend three of the
candidates for appointment by the Board,
being Ryanne van der Eik, Harald
Eisenacher and Dr Detlef Trefzger.

With Nick Leeder stepping down at the end
of September 2022 and Andreas Bierwirth
and Julie Southern indicating that they
would not seek re-election at the next
AGM, the Committee felt that the
appointment of three new Non-Executive
Directors suitably rebalanced the Board.

‘Non-Executive Director

I appointment process

et e S o . o a3 Al

« Independent search consultants EZ
engaged to develop the role profile
and identify suitable candidates for a
longlist,

e

« EZ canvassed the view of the Board to
refine the desired skills and experience
in the new Non-Executive Directors. i

@ i
”\\ s
™

» EZ compiled a Iongli.s_i'of candidates
for review by the Committee.

oot o, ot e

-«.._‘_“w‘/,w'

o, e, Wy ——y

o

« The Committee discussed the longfist
and considered the balance of skills,
knowledge, independence, diversity
and experience of the Board, together
with an assessment of the time
commitment expected, and created a

shortlist.
_ -*'*-..,‘_N /"“""" T A——

» Interviews were held between
candidates and Board members, the
Group People Director and Group
General Counsel & Company Secretary.

e o

+ The Committee discussed the shortlist
and Ryanne van der Eik, Harald
Eisendcher and Dr Detlef Trefzger
were identified as leading candidates
who would strengthen the Board with
diverse mix of skills and experience.

e e

e g

P

« The appointments were recommended
to and approved by the Board.

Biographical details of the new Non-
Executive Directors are set out on pages 76
to 77 and details of their induction
programme are set out on page 91

Board Committee membership
Following the changes to the Board during
the year and to ensure that the Board
Committees retain the correct batance of
skills and experience, the Committee
reviewed the overall composition and
membership of each of the Board
committees. As a result, a number of
changes to the membership of Board
committees were recommended to and
approved by the Board with effect from 1
September 2022:

« Harald Eisenacher joined the
Remuneration Committee and
Finance Committee.

» Dr Detlef Trefzger joined the Audit
Committee and Safety Committee.

+ Ryanne van der Eik joined the Safety
Committee and became one of the
Board's Employee Representative
Directors (ERD). Ryanne was felt to be
an appropriate candidate for being an
ERD due to her previous experience
within an airline and her European
location.

« Moni Mannings joined the
Nominations Committee.

The Committee is reviewing the changes
that need to be made to the Committees
when Julie Southern and Andreas Bierwirth
stand down in 2023.

Talent and succession planning

The Board continues to review plans for
the orderly succession for appointments to
the Board so that the right balance of
appropriate skills and experience is
represented, building on the work
previously undertaken. During the year, the
Committee reviewed the balance of skills,
experience, diversity and independence of
Board members to ensure appropriate
succession plans were in place.

The Committee also recognises that
building a broader talent pipeline for
executive succession, the AMB and the
Executive Leadership Team (ELT) is a key
priority to lead the growth of easyJet's
business. During the year, the Committee
reviewed the Group's senior management
talent pipeline and succession plans, as well
as the Talent and Development framework.
With higher attrition rates, a challenging
recruitment market, and a number of
internal promotions, it was noted that
further work was required to address
succession planning for senior
management and would be a priority.

In the succession planning process, each
leadership team role, along with other
critical roles, is evaluated against whether
there are successors ready now, in the
short term or medium term, as well as
whether emergency successors for those
roles have been identified. For those
identified as successors, we carry out a
targeted development assessment and
planning process where we identify
strengths and skills gaps. We use the
information from this to help create
effective development plans.

Election and re-election of Directors
In line with the provisions of the Code and
the Company’s Articles, each Director is
required to seek election or re-election
annually at the Company’s AGM. The
effectiveness and commitment of each of
the Non-Executive Directors is reviewed
annually as part of the Board evaluation.
The Committee has satisfied itself as to the
individual skills, relevant experience,
contributions and time commitment of all
the Non-Executive Directors, taking into
account their other external appointments
and interests held.

The Board is therefore recommending the
election or re-election of all continuing
Directors at this year's AGM. Details of the
service agreements for the Executive
Directors and letters of appointment for
the Non-Executive Directors, and their
availability for inspection, are set out in the
Directors’ Remuneration Report on page
9.

Inclusion and diversity

The Committee and Board are committed
to ensuring that together the Directors
possess the requisite diversity of skills,
experience, knowledge and perspectives to
support the long-term success of the
Company. In this regard, the role of
diversity in promoting balanced and
considered decision making which aligns
with the Group's purpose, values and
strategy is fully recognised. All Board
appointments are made on an objective
and shared understanding of merit, in line
with required competencies relevant to the
Company as identified by the Committee,
and consistent with the Company's
Diversity and Inclusion Policy. .
The Committee reviewed the Policy in the
year and no changes were recommended.
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Diversity and Inclusion Policy
The Policy covers diversity and inclusion
across the Company, but in relation to
the Board it specifically notes that:
‘easyJet recognises the importance of a
diverse Board, bringing together an
appropriate mix of skills and experience
to ensure the future success of our
business. We understand the richness a
diverse Board brings in providing the
range of perspectives, insight and
challenge needed to support good
decision making and create a positive
culture in the organisation.’

When considering the optimum
make-up of the Board, all aspects of
diversity will be appropriately reviewed
and balanced where possible.

The diversity of the Board will typically
be reviewed on an annual basis as part
of the annual performance evaluation.

New appointmenté to the Board will be
made on merit, in the context of the
requirements of the Board at that time.

The Nominations Committee will identify
suitable candidates based on merit
against objective criteria and with due
regard for the benefits of diversity on
the Board including social and ethnic
background, cognitive and personal
strengths as well as diversity of gender.
Where there is a known requirement to
improve the diversity of the Board, the
Nominations Committee will ask to see
a higher proportion of candidates fitting
the diversity criteria. However, the final
selection will, as stated, always be on

merit.

The new appointments to the Board were
made with consideration given to the
policy. When making these appointments,
the Committee also considered the
recommendations set out in the FTSE
Women Leaders Review (which
recommends that at least 40% of board
and executive committee members of
FTSE 350 companies should be female),
and the Parker Review (which recommends
at least one director from an ethnic
minority background for Boards of FTSE
100 companies).

At the year end, female representation on
the Board was 37% (four out of 11). The
Committee is mindful of both the FTSE
Women Leaders Review and the FCA's
diversity targets at Board level (which will
apply for the next financial year) that at
least 40% of the Board should be female,
and one of the Chair, CEQ, CFO and SID
should be female. It is anticipated that the
proportion of female representation on the
Board will meet this requirement when the
appointment of a new Senior Independent
Director is finalised, and both Julie and
Andreas Bierwirth step down from the
Board at the AGM. We also continue to
have one Director from an ethnic minority
background in line with the Parker Review
recommendations.

The Nominations Committee also oversees
the development of a diverse pipeline for
future succession to Board and senior
management appointments, including
reviewing the gender balance of senior
rmanagement and its direct reports. Where
there is a known desire to improve diversity
at a certain level or in a certain function in
the organisation, the recruiting team will
ask to see a higher proportion of
candidates fitting the diversity criteria.
However, the final selection will always be
on merit.

As at 30 September 2022, the AMB (which
represents the first layer of management
below Board level and includes the
Company Secretary) has 30% female
representation, and among their direct
reports, female representation is 22%.

Further detail on the approach being taken
to diversity and inclusion, and the
implementation of the policy across the
Group, is set out on pages 24 to 25.

Board evaluation

During the year the Committee undertook
an internally facilitated evaluation of the
Board, its Committees, the Chairman and
individual directors. Further details can be
found on pages 92 to 93.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

FINANCE COMMITTEE REPORT

Membership, meetings
and attendance

« Catherine Bradley CBE (Chair)
_+ Dr Andreas Bierwirth
« David Robbie
+ Harald Eisenacher
(from 1 September 2022)

The Committee consists of the
Independent Non-Executive Directors
listed above. All members of the
Committee are Independent
Non-Executive Directors. Member
biographies setting out their skills
and experience can be found on
pages 74 to 77. The Company
Secretary acts as Secretary to the
Committee and members of the
executive management are invited to
attend meetings.

The Committee met five times
during the year. Meeting attendance
can be found in the table on page
90.

The Committee’s terms of
= reference can be found
on the Company's website

at https://corporate.
easyjet.com

1

The Committee monitored treasury policies
and hedging strategies to ensure easyJet
responded appropriately to challenging -
financial market conditions.”

Catherine Bradley CBE
Chair of the Finance Committee

| am pleased to present the Finance
Committee report for the year ended 30
September 2022.

The Committee's key role continued to be
the review and monitoring of the Group's
treasury policies, trcasury operations and
funding activities along with associated
risks. The Committee is also responsible for
providing approvals in relation to International
Swaps and Derivatives Association (ISDA)
arrangements, and guarantees.

During the year, the Committee’s focus
continued to be monitoring liquidity, debt,
fuel and currency hedging along with
oversight of hedging strategies to ensure
easyJet responded appropriately to
challenging financial market conditions.
The Committee also oversaw the proactive
transition of hedging strategies providing
the Company with improved cashflow
certainty as it emerged from the pandemic.

" After each Committee meeting, | presented

an update to the Board on the key issues
discussed during our meetings.

e i

Catherine Bradley CBE
Chair of the Finance Committee

Key activities during the year
Liquidity and debt

The Committee continued to monitor the
Company's liquidity during the year,
including how cash balances were held.
easyJet had liquidity in excess of its liquidity
policy throughout the year to ensure it was
able to manage volatile financial markets
and to protect the Company against
macro-economic and geopolitical shocks.

The Committee also approved the refresh
of the Group's Euro Medium Term Programme
(EMTN), along with an increase in size to
£4 billion, to provide flexibility around debt
refinancing. The Committee also set a new
interest rate policy during the year.

Hedging

The Committee monitored hedging activity
and reviewed easyJet’s jet fuel and USD
hedging policies in order to set the level of
cash flow protection the hedging
programme provided, and to ensure
hedging policies were benchmarked
appropriately. Counterparty credit risk
exposures were monitored throughout the
year with no significant issues or losses
occurring. Counterparty credit limits were
also assessed and amended during the year.

The Committee approved the execution of
cross currency interest rate swaps in order
to mitigate the impact of FX retranslations
and approved the restart of the EUR and
CHF hedging programmes as revenues
increased during the year.

The Committee also approved restarting
the easyJet holidays hedging programme
and continued to monitor its effectiveness.
easyJet holidays is exposed to a
predominantly EUR currency cost base,
whereas the majority of its revenue are in
GBP.

Treasury risk

During the year the Committee reviewed
the Treasury Risk Management Strategy,
which sets out the key principles of
easyJet's treasury activities, business
context, risks and responsibilities and
overall approach to treasury management.
The treasury risks and controls were
reviewed twice in the year.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

The Committee continues to play a key
role in helping the Board fulfil its

oversight responsibility.’

Julie Southern
Chair of the Audit Committee

Membership, meetings
and attendance

« Julie Southern (Chair)
» Catherine Bradley CBE
+ David Robbie

o Dr Detlef Trefzger
(from 1 September 2022)

The Committee consists of the
Independent Non-Executive Directors listed
above. All members of the Committee are
Independent Non-Executive Directors as
required by the Code. Member biographies
j can be found on pages 74 to 77.

i

The Board has confirmed that it is
satisfied that Committee members have
recent and relevant financial experience
and offer a depth of financial and
commercial experience including the
travel sector in which the Company
operates. The Board also confirmed that
Julie Southern and David Robbie have
recent and relevant financial experience.

The Committee met five times during the
year, with members of senior
management required to attend as and
when appropriate. Meeting attendance
can be found on page 90. The
Committee also met with the external

auditors and Director of Risk and
Assurance separately after each meeting.
In addition, the Committee Chair holds
regular private sessions with the Chief
Financial Officer, the senior finance team,
the Director of Risk and Assurance and
the external audit team, to ensure that
open and informal lines of communication
exist should they wish to raise any
concerns outside formal meetings.

The Committee’s terms of
reference can be found on
the Company's website at
https://corporate.easyjet.com

| am pleased to present the Audit
Committee report for the year ended
30 $eptember 2022.

The Committee continued to play a key
role in assisting the Board in its oversight
responsibility and monitoring the integrity
of the financial information for the benefit
of our shareholders. This has included
challenging management on the significant
accounting judgements made in our
financial reporting, as well as reviewing the

- analysis behind our going concern and
viability statements and considering the
processes that underpin the production of
the Annual Report and Accounts.

The Committee continued to oversee the
programme of financial control
improvements that had begun in the
previous financial year, receiving regular
updates on the progress of key initiatives
such as improving the documentation of
the basis for judgemental decision n’\aking,

We have also spent time this year
reviewing the development of the

corporate risk management framework,
ensuring that current and emerging risks
are appropriately identified, assessed and
have effective mitigations in place, and that
the Board is able to undertake a robust
assessment of principal risks. This has
included evaluating climate change risk.

We continue to receive regular updates at
each meeting from the Risk and Assurance
function, covering internal audit,
whistleblowing, business integrity and fraud
matters. In addition to improving processes,
we have also continued our focus on
people. To strengthen our compliance and
assurance function in FY23, the Committee
supported the decision to create a central
role which will coordinate the activities of
existing compliance work. We also continue
to strengthen the wider finance team,
albeit against a challenging recruitment
market given wider macro-economic
pressures.

After each Committee meeting, | provided
an update to the Board on the key issues
discussed during our meetings. | have also

met separately with the external audit
partner and key management on a number
of occasions during the year, and the
Committee met with the external auditors
after each Committee meeting without
management present.

Looking forward, the Committee will
continue to review the financial reporting of
the Group and its accounting policies, with
any major accounting issues of a subjective
nature discussed by the Committee. We
will continue to develop our work on the
effectiveness of the risk management
process, and are also mindful of the
changing regulatory landscape. This
includes the proposals around government
audit and governance reforms, and we will
ensure compliance with any new
requirements.

mw
——

Julie Southern
Chair of the Audit Committee .
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Role of the Committee
The principal roles and responsibilities of the Committee are set out in its terms of reference, and include, but are not limited to:

Financial and narrative
reporting

« monitoring the integrity of the financial statements of the Company and the Group, preliminary
results and announcements

« reviewing the appropriateness and consistency of significant accounting policies

«» reviewing and reporting to the Board on significant financial issues and judgements

« reviewing the processes underpinning the production of the Annual Report and Accounts and

|  whether it is fair, balanced and understandable

internal control and
risk management

reviewing the effectiveness of the Group's internal financial controls systems and risk management
framework, and reviewing the assurance reports from management on the internal control and risk
management systems
« carrying out a robust assessment of the Group’s emerging and principal risks on an annual basis on
behalf of the Board

.

Compliance,
whistleblowing
and fraud

reviewing the adequacy and security of the Group's arrangements for employees to raise concerns
about possible wrongdoing in financial reporting or other matters on behalf of the Board

reviewing the procedures for detecting fraud

Internal and
external audit

Audit function

.

reviewing and approving the role and mandate of Internal Audit, monitoring and reviewing the
effectiveness of its work and carrying out a periodic assessment of the effectiveness of the Internal

considering and making recommendations to the Board, to be put to shareholders for approval at

the Annual General Meeting (AGM), in relation to the appointment, reappointment and removal of
the Company’'s external auditor
» overseeing the relationship with the external auditor

Key activities during the year
The main areas of Committee activity
during the 2022 financial year included
the following areas:

Financial and narrative reporting

The integrity of the 2021 full-year and
2022 half-year financial statements and
formal announcements relating to the
financial performance and governance
of the Group.

The material areas in which significant
judgements were applied, based on
reports from both the Group's
management and the external auditor.
Further information is provided in the
significant judgements section on

page 100.

The information, underlying assumptions
and stress-test analysis presented in
support of the viability statement and
going concern status.

Reviewed and approved management’s
updated criteria for the assessment of
when to classify an item as a non-
headline item, with a more detailed
framework for the decision making in
place.

The consistency and appropriateness of
the financial control and reporting
environment.

The fair, batanced and understandable
assessment of the Annual Report and
Accounts for the 2021 financial year and
the 2022 half-year statement.
Reviewing the plans and process for the
preparation of the Annual Report and
Accounts for the 2022 financial year,
including timelines and reviewing the
approach to ESEF tagging.

Internal control and
risk management

.

.

.

The adequacy and effectiveness of the
Group's risk management systems and
internal control processes, through
evaluating: risk and assurance plans;
Internal Audit reports; risk assessments;
and control themes.

The financial control improvements as
part of the financial control framework.
The Group's risk framework, including the
corporate risk framework and a robust
review of the Company’s principal and
emerging risks and uncertainties,
including climate change risk.

Reviewing the Group's Delegated
Authority Policy.

Reviewing principal and emerging digitat
safety risks and receiving regular updates
on the progress of the Group's Digital
Safety Programmme.

Reviewing the activities of the
Procurement function and efforts
relating to supplier relationship
management.

Reviewing the Group's insurance
programme.

Compliance, whistleblowing
and fraud

Business integrity measures including the
‘Speak Up, Speak Out’ process, overseeing
and investigations into whistleblowing
concerns. ’

Reviewing reports on anti-bribery and
anti-corruption procedures, fraud and
loss prevention procedures and reports
on credit card fraud, together with
monitoring and investigations.

Reviewing the FY22-FY23 action plan on
fraud reporting requirements.

Internal Audit effectiveness and

review of activities

« An assessment of the effectiveness and
independence of the Internal Audit
function, including consideration of:

« key Internal Audit reports

« stakeholder feedback on the quality of
Internal Audit activity

» Internal Audit's compliance with
prevailing professional standards

« the implementation of Internat Audit
recommendations

« Approval of the Internal Audit Charter,
Annual Plan, Budget and Annual Report
of Internal Audit and Business Integrity
activities.

Relationship with the external

auditor ’

« Reviewed the scope of, and findings
from, the external audit undertaken by
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (‘PwC’) as
the external auditor.

+ The effectiveness of the external audit
process.

= Assessment of the performance,
continued objectivity and independence
of PwC.

« The level of fees paid to PwC for
permitted non-audit services.

« The reappointment of PwC as external
auditor.

« Reviewed the non-audit services policy
and processes.
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. undertaken‘on the audit. -
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‘Financial and narrative reporting

Significant judgements
Through its activities, the Committee

‘focuses on maintaining the integrity and

quality of our financial reporting,

- _considering the significant accounting * .

judgements made by management and the
findings of the external auditors. The
Committee assesses whether suitable

‘accounting policies have been adopted and

whether management has made
appropriate estimates and judgements. The

_.Committee reviewed accouinting papers
" prepared by management which provided

details of significant financial reporting
judgements. The Committee also reviewed

" the reports by the external auditors on the’

half-year and full-year results; which -
highlighted any issues arising from the work

The Committee’é process included the ~

- comprehensive review of financial issues

through the challenge of management,
consideration of the findings of the external

" auditors and comparison with other

.ensure a fair, balanced and understandable

. organisations. The significant issues

considered in relation to the financial
statements are detailed on this page.

Reporting controls -

Management is responsible for maintaining
adequate internal control over the financial
reporting of the Group. A summary of the

~Group's-financial results and commentary - -~ 3
" on performance measures is provided to

the Board each month. Controls are in
place over the preparation of financial data

including: balance sheet reconciliations,

review meetings on key balances and
commentary on variances to forecast and

~prior periods. On a monthly basis, senior
‘management, including the Director of

Reporting and Financial Control and the
Chief Financial Officer, review the
management reporting packs. .

" The Annual Report and Accounts are

produced by the Group Financial Control
team based on submissions from individual -

*.teams across the business including
- InVestor Relations, Finance, HR, Company

Secretariat and Risk and Assurance. The

“report contributors are required to maintain

supporting evidence for their submissions -

* and ensure they are reviewed. The figures e

are then independently validated by the

* Group Financial Control teafn.

The Annual Report and Accounts are k

reviewed by the AMB, Board of Directors - -

and the Committee for.accuracy and to.

view is presented. Senior members of the
Finance team including the Chief Financial
Officer, Director of Reporting and Financial
Control and the Chief Accountant meet
with the Committee to present key events
and discuss areas of judgement or T

“estimates as outlined above. In-depth.
presentations on significant areas are

. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED).

appropriate. - . . LT

The Finance té‘am have regular proactive - ,‘

conversations with the external auditors on

' - topics which are of audit relevance. The'
" ‘external auditor performs audit procedures

and challenge of the-Annual Report and
Atcounts and presents their findings to the
Committee. i

At its meeting in November 2022, the *
Committee reviewed the Group’'s Going -

' Concern and Viability Statements (as set - -
- . out on pages 70 to 71) and considered the
'u, T ! o

prévide'd tHroUgHout theyearas - =~~~

thorough assessment reports prepared by’
management in support of these L
Statements. Details'of the going concern
assessment are included under significant
judgements. The Viability Statement
~section of this Annual Report provides
details of the base case.and downside. -,
.scenarios applied in assessing the -
appropriateness of this statement and the
. Committee provided robust challenge of
the assumptions applied by management
as part of this assessment. R
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The Committee also gave careful
consideration to the period of assessment
used for the Viability Statement and
concluded that the time period of three
years remained appropriate. Based on
these assessments, the Committee
confirmed that the application of the going
concern basis for the preparation of the
financial statements continued to be
appropriate and recommended the
approval of the Viability Statement.

The Committee reviewed the approach to
meeting the ESEF requirements that will
apply to the Annual Report and Accounts
for 2022. This includes making the report
available in XHTML format and for key
elements to be ‘tagged using Extensible
Business Reporting Language (iXBRL). The
Committee agreed the approach and the
related controls and verification processes
proposed.

Fair, balanced and understandable
At its meeting in November 2022, the
Committee conducted an assessment and
recommended to the Board that, taken as
a whole, the 2022 Annual Report and
Accounts (which the Board subsequently
approved) is fair, balanced and
understandable and provides the necessary
information for shareholders to assess the
Group and Company's position and
performance, business model and strategy.
In reaching this conclusion, the Committee
considered the overall review and
confirmation process around the Annual
Report and Accounts, including:

« the input of subject matter experts, the
AMB and other senior management and,
where applicable, the Board and its
Committees.

» the processes and controls which
underpin the overall review and
confirmation process, including the
preparation, control process, verification
of content and consistency of
information being carried out by internal
financial controls specialists.

« review of the Annual Report and
Accounts held by senior management
and other subject matter experts to
focus solely on the reporting being fair,
balanced and understandable.

The Committee was provided with the
opportunity to review and comment on
iterations of the draft copy of the Annual
Report and Accounts.

In carrying out the above assessment, key
considerations included ensuring that there
was consistency between the financial
statements and the narrative provided in
the front half of the Annual Report, and
that there was an appropriate balance
between the reporting of weaknesses,
difficulties and challenges, as well as
successes, in an open and balanced

manner, including linkage between key
messages throughout the document.

Financial Reporting Council

engagement

In common with other companies, the
FRC's Corporate Reporting Review Team
carried out a review of the Company's 2021
Annual Report and Accounts during the
year and the Committee was pleased that
they raised no questions or queries based
on that review. The FRC noted some areas
that could be reviewed in future reporting
and these have been addressed in the
2022 Annual Report and Accounts where
appropriate. . .

The FRC requests that in disclosing this
engagement we note the limitations of
their review, namely that it was based
solely on their reading of the Annual Report
and Accounts and did not benefit from a
detailed knowledge of our business or an
understanding of the underlying
transactions entered into. They also noted
that their review provided no assurance
that the report and accounts are correct in
all material respects and that the FRC's role
is not to verify the information provided but
to consider compliance with reporting
requirements.

Risk management and

internal control

The Board as a whole, including the
Committee members, considers the nature
and extent of easyJet's risk management
framework and the risk profile that is
acceptable in order to achieve the Group’s
strategic objectives. The Committee has
reviewed the work undertaken by
management, the Committee itself and the
Board on the assessment of the Group's
emerging and principal risks, including their
impact on the prospects of the Group.

During the year the Committee reviewed
the corporate risk management framework,
including the process for identifying,
evaluating and managing the Company's
principal risks. The programme, led by the
Risk and Assurance function, was focused
on understanding current and emerging
risks and how these are managed in line
with the risk appetite, developing a risk and
assurance map, and implementing a

- consistent risk scoring mechanism and risk

taxonomy to cover all risks. The principal
risks were reviewed and amended with
previous climate change risks changed to
climate change transition risks and the
brand licence risk amended to a wider
shareholder activism risk. Further work is
planned for FY23 to review risk appetite
and to determine the nature and extent of
the principal risks the Board is willing to
take to achieve its strategic objectives.

easyJet’s system of internal controls, along
with its design and operating effectiveness,
which includes the Group's financial
reporting process, is subject to review by
the Committee, through reports received
from management, along with those from
both internal and external auditors. Any
control deficiencies identified are followed
up, with action plans tracked by the AMB
and the Committee. There were no
significant financial control deficiencies
identified by the Committee during the
year.

To ensure that the Group is ready to meet
the potential future requirements as part of
the UK government's audit and governance
reform package, the Group has initiated a
Financial Control Improvement programme.
Working with their selected advisers BDO
LLP on this initiative, management has
begun the process of documenting key
financial processes and identifying control
improvements or gaps. It is expected that
the documentation and control remediation
phase will be substantially completed
during the forthcoming financial year
ending 30 September 2023. An explicit
financial control monitoring regime will also
start to be put in place during the
forthcoming financial year, based on a
mixture of self-certification by control
operators and independent control testing
led by the Group Financial Control team.

The Committee received several updates
during the year on progress and was
pleased to see that no significant control
gaps had been identified to date. The
Committee will continue to receive updates
over the next year as the overall control
framework is enhanced and the monitoring
regime begins to be established.

As a result of this annual review of the
effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems, which the
Committee undertakes on behalf of the
Board, it is considered that the Board has
fulfilled its obtligations under the Code.
Further details on the Group's principal risks
and uncertainties and their impact on the
prospects of the Group are set outon .
pages 59 to 69.
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Compliance, whistleblowing

and fraud

To strengthen the compliance and
assurance function in FY23, the Committee
has supported the decision to create a
central role which will coordinate the
existing compliance activity performed
within functions. This will give increased
visibility going forwards of compliance with
policies and procedures across the
business and will better enable us to
identify any assurance gaps.

The Group is committed to the highest
standards of quality, honesty, openness
and accountability. The Code includes a
provision that there should be a means for
the workforce to raise concerns and that
the Board should routinely review this
mechanism and the reports arising from its
operation. The Group and all operating
companies have whistleblowing policies in
place. The Board and Committee receive
regular reports on this subject, which is
communicated internally as the ‘Speak Up,
Speak Out” mechanism, and the Committee
assists the Board in ensuring that adequate
arrangements are in place for the
proportionate and independent
investigation of such matters and for
appropriate follow-up action, with the
findings being regularly reported to the
Board.

Employees are encouraged to raise
concerns under the policy and any
concerns raised are investigated carefully
and thoroughly to assess what action, if
any, should be taken. All employees are
able to report concerns in their local
language. The Business Integrity
Committee is a management forum on
whistleblowing. It receives summaries of all
reported concerns; it monitors any ongoing
concerns and ensures that the proposed
outcomes of investigations are fair,
transparent and robust, with root causes
identified and remedial actions agreed. Any
matters of significance are reported to the
Committee and the Board, along with a
comprehensive full-year report.

In FY22, we undertook a significant internal
communications campaign across the
network, with the support of several works
councils and trade unions, on the ‘Speak
Up, Speak Out’ mechanism. That,
combined with the ramp-up in operations
to pre-pandemic levels, resulted in a
significant increase in reports under the
mechanism, as intended. A total of 105
reports were received, compared with 15 in
FY21. All reports were followed up and
investigated where appropriate. The
Committee was pleased to see both the

increased use of the whistleblowing
channels and that nothing material had
been reported.

The Board supports the objectives of the
Bribery Act 2010 and the Company has
procedures in place to minimise the risk of
any breaches occurring. Any breach of the
Bribery Act will be regarded as serious
misconduct, potentially justifying immediate
dismissal.

The Committee reviewed the fraud risks
during the year, including activity to
prevent and detect all types of fraud. The
Internal Audit plan covers fraud risks with
audits on Fraud Controls over Bonus
Arrangements & Incentive Schemes and
Fraud Controls over Financial Reporting
having been conducted.

Internal Audit

The Committee is responsible for
overseeing the work of the Internal Audit
function. It reviews and approves the scope
of the Internal Audit annual plan, the
resourcing levels and assesses the quality
of Internal Audit reports, along with
management'’s actions relating to findings
and the closure of recommended actions.

During 2022, a carefully targe